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Our results of operations and financial condition can be adversely affected by numerous risks. You should carefully
consider the risk factors detailed below in conjunction with the other information contained in this report. If any of the
following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, operating results, cash flows and future prospects could
be materially adversely affected. Risks Related to Our Business The success of our business is significantly related to general
economic conditions and the real estate industry, and, accordingly, our business could be harmed by an economic slowdown,

recession and dovx nturn in real estate asset values, plopeny sales and ledsmg activ 1tles ~Adverse-developments-in-the-eredit

Bur-Bustress-Our business is Closelv tied to general economic conditions in the real estate industry. As a 1esult our economic
performance, the value of our real estate and our ability to implement our business strategies may be significantly and adversely
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and interest rates, foreign currency fluctuations, inflation, declining demand for real estate, declining real estate values,
potentially-deelining-employmentdevels;periods of general economic slowdown and recession fears, reeentadverse
developments affecting regional-banks-and-other-financial institutions and government responses to the same , or the
perception that any of these events may occur, continue or worsen, have negatively impacted the real estate market and our
operating performance. The economic condition of each local market where we operate , and primarily in the United States,
United Kingdom and Ireland may depend on one or more key industries within that market, which, in turn, makes our
business sensitive to the performance of those industries. Certain significant expenditures, such as debt service costs, which
increased with the rapid rise of interest rates recently in response to high inflation, Real-real estate taxes and operating
and maintenance costs, are not necessarily reduced when market conditions are poor (even if reduced, timing of such
reductions are delayed). Additionally, real estate investments are generally illiquid, which may affect our ability to promptly
change our portfolio in response to changes in economic and other conditions. Moreover, we may not be able to unilaterally
decide the timing of the dlsposmon 01‘ an inv estment undel celtdmjomt venture arrangements, and as a result, we may not

others, impede us hom responding qu1ckly to Chanaes in the performance of our investments and could adv elsely 1mpact our



business, financial condition and results of operations. Although current general macroeconomic conditions, globally and locally
in the United States and in other countries in which we conduct business, remain volatile and uncertain, we continue to evaluate
the extent to which each factor may impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. We are typically active in
many real estate transactions. The current high interest rates and inflationary pressures in our markets, however, have led to a
general decrease in transactional activity as compared to previous periods . leading to lower levels of gains recognized and
cash generated to reinvest in our business. Previous recessions and downturns in the real estate market have resulted in and may
result in: ¢ a general decline in rents due to defaulting tenants or less favorable terms for renewed or new leaie% °a general
decline in demand for new office space and commercial real estate parthy-as-a adeptin ;
stmtlar-pelietes-, which in turn led to a general increase in the levels of vacancy across our office and connner(:lal portfoho
decline in actual and projected sale prices of our properties, resulting in lower returns on the properties in which we have
invested; ¢ higher interest rates, higher loan costs, less desirable loan terms and a reduction in the availability of mortgage loans,
all of which could increase costs and limit our ability to acquire additional real estate assets; and ¢ a decrease in the availability
of lines of credit and the capital marketq and other sources of capltal used to grow, operate and maintain our business =

performance and profltablhty deteriorate, we Could fall to comply with certain ﬁnanelal covenants in our unqecured bond and
revolving credit facility, which would force us to seek an amendment with our lenders. We may be unable to obtain any
necessary waivers or amendments on satisfactory terms, if at all, which could result in the principal and interest of the debt to
become immediately due. Please also see “ Our debt obligations impose significant operating and financial restrictions, which
may prevent us from pursuing certain business opportunities and taking certain actions. ” In addition, due to, among other things,
a decrease in transactional activity and the macroeconomic conditions discussed above, we may become more highly leveraged,
resulting in an increase in debt service costs that could adversely affect our results of operations or our credit ratings. From time
to time, Moody’ s Investors Service, Inc. and Standard & Poor’ s Ratings Services (“S & P ), a division of The McGraw- Hill
Companies, Inc., rate our outstanding debt. These ratings are based on a variety of factors, including our current leverage and
transactional activity. In December 2024, S & P Dewngrades-downgraded in-ourereditus to ¢ B ° from ¢ BB-’. Additionally,
S & P downgraded, the KWE Notes to ¢ BB-’ from ¢ BB’ and the KWI Notes to ¢ B’ from ¢ B °. S & P also lowered their
issue- level rating on Kennedy Wilson' s preferred stock to" CCC ". On June 5, 2023 Moody' s downgraded the
Company' s rating from" B1" to'" B2" with a stable outlook. These ratings and downgrades thereof (and any future
potential downgrades) may impact farther-timit-our ability to access eapital-the debt markets— market in the future at
desired terms or at all . Any of these factors could lead to a significant deterioration of our business, and we could have
insufficient liquidity to meet our debt service obligations when they come due in future years or maintain our common stock or
preferred stock dividends. Please also see “ Adverse developments in the credit markets and rising interest rates may harm our
business, financial condition and results of operations ” below. Fhe-Adverse developments in the credit markets are-and
increased interested rates may harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. During the last several
years, the credit markets have experienced and continue to experieneing-experience significant price volatility, dislocations
and-, liquidity disruptions and uncertainty . These circumstances have, and may continue to, materially impact liquidity in the
financial markets, making terms for certain financings less attractive, and, in some cases, unavailable, even for companies that
are otherwise qualified to obtain financing. Volatility and uncertainty in the credit markets, including past and prospective
interest rate increases and / or the actual or perception that interest rates will not be decreasing in the near future, have increased
the cost of borrowing, on both a corporate and property level, and may negatively impact our ability to access future additional
financing for our capital needs or refinance or extend our existing debt on favorable terms, if at all. A prolonged downturn in the
financial markets or recession, either globally or locally in the United States or in other countries in which we conduct business,
may cause us to seek alternative sources of potentially less attractive financing and may require us to adjust our business plan.
Disruptions in the credit markets may also adversely affect our business of providing investment management services to our
limited partners in our commingled funds and joint venture partners, which would lead to a decrease in carried interests the
perfermanee-alloeattons-we generate. Additionally, our primary market risk exposure relates to fluctuations in market interest
rates on investment mortgages and debt obligations, specifically short- term borrowings. To attempt to minimize our overall cost
of debt, we have established an interest rate management policy which attempts to minimize our overall cost of debt while
taking into consideration the earnings implications associated with the volatility of the short- term interest rates. As part of this
pohcy, we have elected to maintain a combination of Varrable and ﬁxed rate debt aﬂd—as further descrlbed e-ﬁBeeember—?v-l—
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Risk' mortenvesis 253 Land-app v —b-vedrsresp cebyasof Decembe 2023 If the market interest rates
continue to #rerease-remain high , our cash flow and results of operations will be adversely affected and we may need to adjust
our interest rate management policy, either or both of which may adversely affect our business, financial condition, liquidity and
results of operations. Our real estate debt investment business primarily originates...... results of operations and prospects. Our
significant operations in the United Kingdom and Ireland and to a lesser extent, Italy and Spain andJtal-expose our business to
risks inherent in conducting business in foreign markets , including fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates . As of
December 31, 2823-2024 , approximately 4431 % of our revenues were sourced from our foreign operations in the United
Kingdom, Ireland, Italy and Spain andJtaty-, 92 % of which was sourced from our operations in the United Kingdom and
Ireland. Accordingly, our firm- wide results of operations depend significantly on our foreign operations. Conducting a global
business carries significant risks, including: ¢ restrictions and problems relating to the repatriation of capital; * difficulties and
costs of staffing and managing international operations; ¢ the burden of complying with multiple and potentially conflicting
laws, including local laws related to public health; * laws restricting foreign companies from conducting business; ¢ political
instability, civil unrest, acts of war and terrorism, pandemics, epidemics, acts of God, including earthquakes, hurricanes,
volcanic eruptions and other natural disasters (which may result in uninsured or under insured losses); ¢ greater difficulty in
perfecting our security interests, collecting accounts receivable, foreclosing on secured assets and protecting our interests as a
creditor in bankruptcies in certain geographic regions; ¢ potentially adverse tax consequences; ¢ share ownership restrictions on
foreign operations; and e tariff regimes of the countries in which we do business Our revenues from foreign operations have
been primarily denominated in the local currency where the associated revenues were earned. Fluctuations in currency exchange
rates create volatility in our reported results as we translate the balance sheets, operational results and cash flows of our
subsidiaries into U. S. Dollars for consolidated reporting. To date, our foreign currency exposure has been limited to the GBP
and the eure-Euro . Recent volatility in currency exchange rates have led to fluctuations in our earnings because of
corresponding fluctuations in the GBP and ewre-Eure currency exchange rates. Due to the constantly changing currency
exposures to which we will be subject and the volatility of currency exchange rates, we may experience currency losses in the
future, and we cannot predict the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on future operating results. Our management uses currency
hedging instruments from time to time, including foreign currency forward contracts, purchased currency options (where
applicable) and foreign currency borrowings. The economic risks associated with these hedging instruments include unexpected
fluctuations in foreign currency rates, which could lead to hedging losses or the requirement to post collateral, along with
unexpected changes in our underlying net asset position. Our hedging activities may not be effective. We may expose ourselves
to risks if we engage in hedging transactions. We have and may in the future enter into hedging transactions, which may expose
us to risks associated with such transactions. We may utilize instruments such as forward contracts, currency options and interest
rate swaps, caps, collars and floors to seek to hedge against fluctuations in the relative values of our portfolio positions from
changes in currency exchange rates and market interest rates. Use of these hedging instruments may include counter- party
credit risk. Hedging against a decline in the values of our portfolio positions does not eliminate the possibility of fluctuations in
the values of such positions or prevent losses if the values of such positions decline. However, such hedging can establish other
positions designed to gain from those same developments, thereby offsetting the decline in the value of such portfolio positions.
Such hedging transactions may also limit the opportunity for gain if the values of the underlying portfolio positions should
increase. Moreover, it may not be possible to hedge against an exchange rate or interest rate fluctuation that is so generally
anticipated that we are not able to enter into a hedging transaction at an acceptable price. The success of our hedging
transactions will depend on our ability to correctly predict movements in currencies and interest rates. Therefore, while we may
enter into such transactions to seek to reduce currency exchange rate and interest rate risks, unanticipated changes in currency
exchange rates or interest rates may result in poorer overall investment performance than if we had not engaged in any such
hedging transactions. In addition, the degree of correlation between price movements of the instruments used in a hedging
strategy and price movements in the portfolio positions being hedged may vary. Moreover, for a variety of reasons, we may not
seek to (or be able to) establish a perfect correlation between such hedging instruments and the portfolio holdings being hedged.
Any such imperfect correlation may prevent us from achieving the intended hedge and expose us to risk of loss. In addition, it
may not be possible to hedge fully or perfectly against currency fluctuations affecting the value of securities denominated in
non- U. S. currencies because the value of those securities is likely to fluctuate as a result of factors not related to currency
fluctuations. Some of our portfolio investments may be recorded at fair value, and, as a result, there will be uncertainty as to the
value of these investments. As of December 31,2023-2024 , § 1. 9 billion, or approximately 93-92 % of our unconsolidated
investments and approximately 25-27 % of our total assets were recorded on our financial statements at estimated fair value.
These include our investments in the commingled funds that we manage and unconsolidated investments in which we have
elected the fair value option under U. S. generally accepted principles (U. S. GAAP). At the end of each reporting period, the
fair value of these investments is recalculated, and any change from the fair value as of the end of the prior reporting period is
reflected in our consolidated statement of income as a gain or loss included in income (loss) from unconsolidated investments.
Accordingly, fair value accounting could result in significant non- cash volatility in our financial position and our results of
operation, which, in turn, could adversely affect the trading price of our common stock and other securities. In determining
estimated fair market values, the Company utilizes two approaches to value real estate, a discounted cash flow analysis and
direct capitalization approach. Discounted cash flow models estimate future cash flows from a buyer' s perspective (including
terminal values) and compute a present value using a market discount rate. The holding period in the analysis is typically ten
years. This is consistent with how market participants often estimate values in connection with buying real estate but these
holding periods can be shorter depending on the life of the structure an investment is held within. The cash flows include a
projection of the net sales proceeds at the end of the holding period, computed using an estimated market reversionary
capitalization rate. Under the direct capitalization approach, the Company applies an estimated market derived capitalization rate




to current and future income streams with appropriate adjustments for tenant vacancies or rent- free periods. These estimated
capitalization rates and future income streams are derived from comparable property and leasing transactions and are considered
to be key inputs in the valuation. Other factors that are taken into consideration include tenancy details, planning, building and
environmental factors that might affect the property. The Company also utilizes valuations from independent real estate
appraisal firms on some of its investments (" appraised valuations"), with certain investment structures requiring appraised
valuations periodically (typically annually). All appraised valuations are reviewed and approved by the Company. The value of
the Company’ s investment in VHH is determined through several approaches including a discounted cash flow analysis on a
partnership- by- partnership basis that factors in the distinct economic splits between VHH and its tax credit LPs (where
apphcable) :Phis-The Company s falr Value accountmg methodology : Ao RS-4 i

of real estate 1nv01ve subJ ective Judgments The accuracy of estlmatmg fair value for investments cannot be determlned with
precision and cannot be substantiated by comparison to quoted prices in active markets and may not be realized in a current sale
or immediate settlement of the asset or liability. Recently, there has also been a lack of liquidity in the capital markets as well as
limited transactions which has had an impact on the inputs associated with fair values. Additionally, there are inherent
uncertainties in any fair value measurement technique, and changes in the underlying assumptions used, including market-
derived estimated capitalization rates, discount rates, liquidity risks, and estimates of future cash flows could significantly affect
the fair value measurement amounts. For example, small changes in the inputs and assumptions that we use from period to
period to estimate these fair values may result in large changes in the carrying value of these investments and could materially
and adversely impact our reporting earnings. Moreover, the estimated fair values used in preparing our financial statements may
not represent amounts that could be realized in a current sale or an immediate settlement of the related asset or liability, nor
would those estimated fair values necessarily reflect the returns we may actually realize. Please also see Part I — Item 1.
Business — Investment Product Types — Fair Value Accounting ” above for additional details. Our real estate
development and redevelopment strategies may not be successful. We acquire development assets to the extent attractive
projects become available. As part of our investment strategy, we seek to locate and acquire real estate assets that we believe are
undervalued and improve them to increase their resale value. When we engage in development activities, we are subject to risks
associated with those activities that could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and the
market price of, our common stock, including, but not limited to: « we may not be able to obtain, or may experience delays in
obtaining, all necessary zoning, land- use, building, occupancy and other governmental permits and authorizations; * we may not
be able to obtain financing for development projects, or obtain financing on favorable terms; * inflation and domestic tariff
policies, among other things, may increase construction costs of a project may-exeeed-in excess of the original estimates or
construction may not be concluded on schedule, making the project less profitable than originally estimated or not profitable at
all (including the possibility of errors or omissions in the project' s design, contract default, contractor or subcontractor default,
performance bond surety default, the effects of local weather conditions, natural disasters and pandemics, the possibility of local
or national strikes and the possibility of shortages in materials, building supplies or energy and fuel for equipment); * tenants
who pre- lease space or contract with us for a build- to- suit project may default prior to occupying the project; ® upon
completion of construction, we may not be able to obtain, or obtain on advantageous terms, permanent financing for activities
that we financed through construction loans; * we may not achieve sufficient occupancy levels, sales levels and / or obtain
sufficient rents to ensure the profitability of a completed project; * we may overestimate the value of the property;  such
development activities typically require a significant amount of management' s time and attention, diverting their attention from
our other operations; and ¢ development projects in which we have invested may be abandoned and the related investment will
be impaired. Any failure to complete a redevelopment project in a timely manner and within budget or to sell or lease the project
after completion could have a material adverse effect upon our business, results of operation and financial condition. Poor
performance of our commingled funds would cause a decline in our revenue and results of operations and could adversely affect
our ability to raise capital for future funds. When any of the commingled closed- end funds we manage performs poorly, our
investment record suffers. In the face of poor fund performance, our management fees and performanee-attoeations-carried
interests and our ability to raise additional capital from our partners may be adversely affected. Current and future investors
could demand lower fees or significant fee concessions for existing or future funds, which would decrease our revenue or
hamper our ability to raise capital. If a fund performs poorly, our perfermanee-altoeations-carried interests and income from
such fund will decrease and we may not receive any performanee-aHoeations-carried interests and may experience possible
losses from our own principal investment in such fund. As the fair value of underlying investments varies between reporting
periods, if we were to have negative perfermanee-altoeations-carried interests in a period that causes the amount due to us to be
less than the amount previously recognized, this could result in a negative adjustment to perfermanee-altoeations-carried
interests. Our joint venture activities subject us to third- party risks, including risks that other participants may become
bankrupt or take action contrary to our best interests . We have used joint ventures for large real estate investments and
developments. We plan to continue to acquire interests in additional joint ventures formed to own or develop real property or
interests in real property, however, we cannot be certain that we will continue to identify suitable joint venture partners and form
new joint ventures in the future. Although, we generally serve as the general partner or managing member of such joint venture,
we have acquired and may acquire non- controlling interests in joint ventures, and we may, from time- to- time, also acquire



interests as a passive investor without rights to actively participate in the management of the joint ventures. Investments in joint
ventures involve additional risks, including the possibility that the other participants may become bankrupt or have economic or
other business interests or goals that are inconsistent with ours, we may not have the right or power to direct the management
and policies of certain joint ventures and other participants may take action contrary to our instructions or requests and against
our policies and objectives. Should a participant in a material joint venture investment act contrary to our interests, our business,
results of operations and financial condition could significantly suffer. If we are unable to identify, acquire and integrate
suitable investment opportunities and acquisition targets, our future growth will be impeded. Acquisitions and expansion
have been, and will continue to be, a significant component of our growth strategy. While maintaining our existing business
lines, we intend to continue to pursue a sustained growth strategy by increasing revenues from seeking selective investment and
co- investment opportunities and pursuing strategic acquisitions. Our ability to manage our growth will require us to effectively
integrate new acquisitions into our existing operations while managing development of principal properties. We expect that
significant growth in several business lines occurring simultaneously will place substantial demands on our managerial,
administrative, operational and financial resources. We may be unable to successfully manage all factors necessary for a
successful expansion of our business. Moreover, our strategy of growth depends on the existence of and our ability to identify
attractive investment opportunities and synergistic acquisition targets. The unavailability of suitable investment opportunities
and acquisition targets, or our inability to find or be successful in competing for them, may result in a decline in business,
financial condition and results of operations. We-ewrreat-estate-Climate change- related risks including natural disasters,
severe weather, or other catastrophic events may materially adversely affect our business. As a result of climate change,
we may experience extreme weather, an increase in frequency and severity of natural disasters, changes in precipitation,
temperature, wildfire and drought exposure, and 1mpacts of sea- level rlse, all of whlch may result in physmal damage,

depends—en—and—rs—aftected by geﬂefal—trends—rn—Haw&n—s-eeeﬁem-y—these condltlons, damage to our propertles, dlsruptlon of

services at our properties or increased costs associated with water or energy use and real-estate-maintaining or insuring
our communities. Transition risks associated with climate change may result in interruptions in energy access, increased
energy costs, or increased regulatory requirements and stakeholder expectations regarding reporting and energy
efficiency. Should the impact of climate change be material in nature or occur for lengthy periods of time, even if not
directly impacting our current marketmarkets —Hawai’s-ceonomytargely-depends-on-tourisnr, the types and pricing
whteh—ts—subyeet—te—ﬂ-ueﬁt&ﬁerrbased—en—a—ntnﬂber—of insurance -faetefs—t-hat—we are able de—ﬂe-t—eeﬂtfe-l—rﬂel-ud-rﬁg—eeﬁa—rﬂ-ﬁ&ft\f&f

mateﬂal-advefse—effeet—en—etnkbusrness—hnancml condmon a-nd—or results of ope1 ations may be materlally adversely affected
Our-We could experlence 1ncreased costs related ‘two- to lafgest—further developmg our properties and investments to

mitigate 1 ofr-the Biglsland-effects of climate change or
repairing damage related to the effects of chmate change that may or may not be fully covered by insurance . In addition,
changes in federal, state and local legislation and regulation on climate change or natural disaster response could result
in temporary rent control, changes in building regulations, temporary eviction moratoria, increased operating costs and /
or increased capital expenditures to improve the general-risks-energy efficiency of our existing communities (for example,
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ed-eo —and festl-lt—m—s-rg-mﬁeaﬂt—delays—whteh—could ha-ve—also requlre us to spend
more on new developments w1thout a correspondmg increase in revenue material-adverse-impaet-onour-business;finanetal

eondition-and-results-ofoperations-. Our real estate debt investment business operates in a highly competitive market for lending
and investment opportunities through our debt platforms, including originating and investing in senior loans, mezzanine loans,

B- and C- Notes and preferred equity, which may limit our ability to originate or acquire desirable loans and investments in our
target assets and are subject to increased risks. Our real estate debt investment business (" Debt Platform") operates in a highly
competitive market for lending and investment opportunities. A number of entities compete with us to make the types of loans
and investments that we seek to make, including originating and investing in senior loans, mezzanine loans, B- and C- Notes and
preferred equity. The profitability of our debt-Debt platferm-Platform depends, in large part, on our ability to originate or
acquire target assets at attractive prices for ourselves and our partners. In addition, some of our competitors may have a lower
cost of funds and access to funding sources that may not be available to us. Furthermore, competition for originations of, and
investments in, our target assets may lead to decreasing yields for such assets, which may further limit our ability to generate
desired returns for ourselves and our partners —Adse-, which may limit as-a-result-ofthis-eompetition;-desirable loans and
investments in specific types of target assets are-timited-. In addition to originating and acquiring senior loans , to a lesser extent
, we also originate and invest in mezzanine loans, B- and C- Notes and preferred equity. These types of investments generally
involve a higher degree of risk than long- term senior mortgage lending secured by income- producing real property. For
example, if a borrower defaults, there may not be sufficient funds remaining for a B- Note holder after payment to the A- Note
holder. Similarly, if a borrower defaults on our junior loan or debt senior to our loan, or in the event of a borrower bankruptcy,
our junior loan will be satisfied only after the senior debt and may become unsecured as a result of foreclosure by the senior
lender. Further, preferred equity investments involve a higher degree of risk than conventional debt financing due to a variety of




factors, including their non- collateralized nature and subordinated ranking to other loans and liabilities of the entity in which
such preferred equity is held. As a result, we may not recover some or all of our investment. Significant losses related to our
junior loans or preferred equity interests would result in operating losses for us and our partners. In addition, in the event a
borrower defaults on a loan, there is no guarantee or assurance that we will be able to successfully foreclose and take control of
the underlying collateral (to the extent available) and, to the extent we do successfully foreclose on the property, there is no
guarantee or assurance that we will be able to reposition the asset and / or we may lose part or all of our investment. Any
distressed loans and loan portfolios that we may purchase, or investments that may become'' sub- performing" or' non-
performing" following our origination or acquisition thereof, may have a higher risk of default and delinquencies than
newly originated loans, and, as a result, we may lose part or all of our investment in such loans and loan portfolios. While
our loans and investments focus primarily on" performing" real estate- related interests, our loans and investments may also
include making distressed investments from time to time (e. g., investments in defaulted, out- of- favor or distressed loans and
debt securities) or may involve loans and loan portfolios in some cases that may be non- performing or sub- performing and
may be in default at the time of purchase or may become" sub- performing" or" non- performing" following our origination or
acquisition thereof. In general, the distressed loans and loan portfolios we may acquire are speculative investments and have a
greater than normal risk of future defaults and delinquencies as compared to newly originated loans. Returns on loan
investments depend on the borrower’ s ability to make required payments or, in the event of default, our security interests and
our ability to foreclose and liquidate whatever property that secures the loans and loan portfolios. We may be unable to collect
on a defaulted loan or foreclose on security successfully or in a timely fashion in the future . There may also be instances when
we are able to acquire title to an underlying property, but we may not be able to successfully reposition the property or sell it to
make a profit on our investment. In addition, in the event of a decline in real estate values, we are more likely to incur losses on
our loans in the event of default because the value of our collateral may be insufficient to cover our cost on the loan
significantly increases. a-B-Nete-holder-after-paymentto-the- A~—Note-holder-Additionally,our real estate debt investment
business primarily originates and invests in floating interest rate instruments .\While our income from such variable rate
loans and investments has increased as the market interest rates increased,borrowers may be unable to continue to service their
debt at the applicable rates.Returns on loan investments depend on the borrower” s ability to make required payments or,in the
event of default,our security interest. We may be unable to collect on a defaulted loan or foreclose on security successfully or in
a timely fashion,either of which may adversely affect our business and results of operations. Additionally,potential borrowers
may be unable or unwilling to accept variable rate loans,which would result in less transaction activity for our real estate debt
investment business and could adversely affect our business,financial condition,liquidity and results of operations. Please-aise-
see~-Our reliance on third- parties to operate certain of our properties may harm our business. We rely on third party property
managers and hotel operators to manage the daily operations of our properties. We are also parties to hotel management
agreements under which unaffiliated third- party property managers manage our ketels— hotel . These third parties are directly
responsible for the day- to- day operation of our properties with limited supervision by us, and they often have potentially
significant decision- making authority with respect to those properties. Thus, the success of our business may depend in large
part on the ability of our third- party property managers to manage the day- to- day operations, and any adversity experienced by
our property managers could adversely impact the operation and profitability of our properties. These third parties may fail to
manage our properties effectively or in accordance with their agreements with us, may be negligent in their performance and
may engage in criminal or fraudulent activity. If any of these events occur, we could incur losses or face liabilities from the loss
or injury to our property or to persons at our properties. In addition, disputes may arise between us and these third- party
managers and operators, and we may incur significant expenses to resolve those disputes or terminate the relevant agreement
with these third parties and locate and engage competent and cost- effective service providers to operate and manage the relevant
properties, which in turn could adversely affect us, including damage to our relationships with such franchisers or we may be in
breach of our franchise agreement . QOur leasing activities depend on various factors, including tenant occupancy and
rental rates, which, if adversely affected, could cause our operating results to suffer . Our ability to lease properties
depends on several factors, including, but not limited to, the attractiveness of our properties to tenants, competition from other
available space, our ability to provide adequate maintenance and obtain insurance and to pay increased operating expenses,
which may not be passed through to tenants, and the availability of capital to periodically renovate, repair and maintain the
properties, as well as for other operating expenses. Our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely
affected if we fail to promptly find suitable tenants for substantial amounts of vacant space at our properties, if rental rates on
new or renewal leases are significantly lower than expected or 1f reserves for costs of re- leaqlng prove inadequate. Changmg

environmental, social and governance practlces may impose addltlonal costs on us or expose us to new or addltlonal rlsks
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be—m&terta-l—ly—aﬁd—advefse&y—a—ffeefed— We have adopted certaln practlce% and pohcle% to ahgn our ESG approach Wlth our

business strategy by maximizing the inherent value of our assets and delivering long- term social, environmental and economic
values across our portfolio. However, investors et or other stakcholders maytook-are increasingly looking to us to
implement mere-or-different-differing and sometimes conflicting ESG procedures, standards or goals in order to continue
engaging with us, to remain invested in us, or before they make further investments in us. We are experiencing, and continue
to expect to experience, these conflicting expectations or requirements, from regulators, politicians, customers,
employees and other stakeholders. There can be no assurance that our approach will be well regarded by such investors
or other stakeholders, particularly since the criteria by which companies are rated, assessed or judged for their
sustainability efforts may change. Additionally, focus and activism related to sustainability or social matters may
constrain our business operations or increase expenses, and we may face reputational damage if ehaHenges-inthe-eventour
corporate responsibility initiatives ESGproeedures-orstandards-do not meet the standards or expectations sct by eertain
various constituencies . As we continue to integrate environmental sustainability, social responsibility and strong
governance practices throughout our organization, we could also be criticized for the scope or nature of our initiatives or
goals. We could also encounter reactions from governmental actors ( such eenstituenetes-mightnotbe-satisfred-with-our
efforts-as anti- environmental, soclal and governance leglslatlon, 1nvest1gat10n, or retaliatory treatment), tenants and
re51dents, and t-he—other dop 6 0 —IH-we-do orr-stakeholders that ~expeetations
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to increase rents and pass through new or increased operating costs to our tenants. We presently expect to continue operating and
acquiring properties in areas that have adopted or may adopt laws and regulations imposing restrictions on the timing or
amount of rent increases and a landlord' s ability to evict a tenant. In the United States, Adthough-although , we are able to
increase rents to market rates once a tenant vacates a rent- controlled or stabilized unit, increases in rental rates for renewing
tenants are limited by such regulations. The state of California has implemented a statewide rent control initiative that limits
rental increases to 5 % CPI. The state of Oregon has and-Washingterhave-also implemented a statewide rent control program
that caps annual increases to 7 % CPI with the city of Portland, Oregon limiting increases to 9. 2 % and the state of
Washington is currently in the process of adopting a similar program that if passed would include a 7 % cap on yearly
rent increases, among other things . In addition to the statewide rent control programs, various municipalities, including
certain cities where we hold investments, have enacted or are considering rent control or rent stabilization legislation. Under
current Irish law, for rent controlled properties we are restricted from increasing rents to market rates for renewing tenants and
replacement tenants, and any rent increases in these circumstances are generally capped to the lower of 2 % and Harmonised
Index of Consumer Prices (" HICP") per annum, save in certain limited circumstances. These laws and regulations can (i) limit
our ability to charge market rents, increase rents, evict tenants or recover increases in our operating expenses, (ii) negatively
impact our ability to attract higher- paying tenants and (iii) make it more difficult for us to dispose of properties and achieve
targeted returns for our investors in certain circumstances. Any failure to comply with these regulations could result in fines
and / or other penalties. We may be subject to potential environmental liability. Under various foreign, federal, state and local
laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous owner or operator of real estate may be liable for the cleanup of
hazardous or toxic substances and may be liable to a governmental entity or to third parties for property damage and for
investigation and clean- up costs incurred by governmental entities or third parties in connection with the contamination. Such
laws typically impose liability without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of
the hazardous or toxic substances, even when the contaminants were associated with previous owners or operators. The costs of
investigation, remediation or removal of hazardous or toxic substances may be substantial, and the presence of those substances,
or the failure to properly remediate those substances, may adversely affect the owner’ s or operator’ s ability to sell or rent the
affected property or to borrow using the property as collateral. The presence of contamination at a property can impair the value
of the property even if the contamination is migrating onto the property from an adjoining property. Additionally, the owner of a
site may be subject to claims by parties who have no relation to the property based on damages and costs resulting from
environmental contamination emanating from the site. In connection with the direct or indirect ownership, operation,
management and development of real properties, we may be considered an owner or operator of those properties or as having
arranged for the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxic substances. Therefore, we may be potentially liable for removal or
remediation costs. Before consummating the acquisition of a particular piece of real property, it is our policy to retain
independent environmental consultants to conduct an environmental review of the real property, including performing a Phase |
environmental review. These assessments have included, among other things, a visual inspection of the real properties and the
surrounding area and a review of relevant federal, state and historical documents. It is possible that the assessments we
commission do not reveal all environmental liabilities or that there are material environmental liabilities of which we are
currently unaware. Future laws, ordinances or regulations may impose material environmental liability and the current
environmental condition of our properties may be affected by tenants, by the condition of land or operations in the vicinity of



those properties, or by unrelated third parties. Federal, state, local and foreign agencies or private plaintiffs may bring actions
against us in the future, and those actions, if adversely resolved, may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. We may incur significant costs complying with laws, regulations and covenants that are
applicable to our properties and operations. The properties in our portfolio and our operations are subject to various covenants
and federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulatory requirements, including permitting and licensing requirements. Such
laws and regulations, including municipal or local ordinances, zoning restrictions and restrictive covenants imposed by
community developers, may restrict our use of our properties and may require us to obtain approval from local officials or
community standards organizations at any time with respect to our properties, including prior to acquiring a property or when
undertaking renovations of any of our existing properties. Among other things, these restrictions may relate to fire and safety,
seismic, asbestos- cleanup, hazardous material abatement requirements or accessibility of our properties, such as those required
by the Americans with Disabilities Act. Existing laws and regulations may adversely affect us, the timing or cost of our future
acquisitions or renovations may be uncertain, and additional regulations may be adopted that increase such delays or result in
additional costs. Our failure to obtain required permits, licenses and zoning relief or to comply with applicable laws could,
among other things, result in monetary fines, private litigation and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Our property insurance coverage is limited, and any uninsured losses could cause us to lose
part or all of our investment in our insured properties. We carry commercial general liability coverage and umbrella coverage on
all of our properties with limits of liability that we deem adequate and appropriate under the circumstances (certain policies
subject to deductibles) to insure against liability claims and provide for the cost of legal defense. There are, however, certain
types of extraordinary losses that either may be uninsurable or are not generally insured because it is not economically feasible
to insure against those losses. Should any uninsured loss occur, we could lose our investment in, and anticipated revenues from,
a property, and these losses could have a material adverse effect on our operations. Currently, we also insure some of our
properties for loss caused by earthquakes in levels we deem appropriate and, where we believe necessary, for loss caused by
flood. The occurrence of an earthquake, flood or other natural disaster may materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Our business could be adversely affected by cybersecurity incidents or threats,
including, security breaches, cyber- attacks, cyber intrusions or otherwise. We rely on our own and our third- party service
provider’ s computer systems, hardware, software, technology infrastructure and online sites and networks for both internal and
external operations that are critical to our business (collectively," IT Systems"). We face risks to the confidentiality, integrity and
availability of our IT Systems and data associated with cybersecurity incidents or threats, including through cyber- attacks or
cyber intrusions over the internet, malware (including ransomware), computer viruses, social engineer / phishing, insider
malfeasance, human or technological error, as a result of bugs, misconfigurations or exploited vulnerabilities in software or
hardware and resulting from other significant disruptions of our information technology networks and related systems. These
risks include operational interruption, private data exposure and damage to our relationship with our customers, among others. A
security breach involving our IT Systems could disrupt our operations in numerous ways that could ultimately have an adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations. It is possible that our IT Systems could be compromised. As threat
actors are becoming increasingly sophisticated in using techniques and tools — including artificial intelligence — that circumvent
security controls, evade detection and remove forensic evidence, we may be unable to detect, investigate, remediate or recover
from future attacks or incidents, or to avoid a material adverse impact to our IT Systems, data or business. Although we utilize
various procedures and controls to mitigate our exposure to such risk, cybersecurity attacks are evolving and unpredictable.
There can also be no assurance that our cybersecurity risk management program and processes, including our policies, controls
or procedures, will be fully implemented, complied with or effective in protecting our IT Systems and data. Any adverse impact
to the availability, integrity or confidentiality of our IT Systems or data can result in legal claims or proceedings (such as class
actions), regulatory investigations and enforcement actions, fines and penalties, negative reputational impacts that cause us to
lose existing or future customers, and / or significant incident response, system restoration or remediation and future compliance
costs. Any or all of the foregoing could materially adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition. We
cannot guarantee that any costs and liabilities incurred in relation to an attack or incident will be covered by our existing
insurance policies or that applicable insurance will be available to us in the future on economically reasonable terms or at all.
Failure to comply with federal and state data privacy laws may result in significant liability, negative publicity, and / or an
erosion of trust, which could materially adversely affect our business. We receive, store, handle, transmit, use and otherwise
process business information and information related to individuals, including from and about actual and prospective tenants and
investors, as well as our employees and service providers. We also depend on a number of third- party vendors in relation to the
operation of our business, a number of which process data on our behalf. We and our vendors are subject to a variety of federal
and state data privacy laws, rules, regulations, industry standards and other requirements, including those that apply generally to
the handling of information about individuals, and those that are specific to certain industries, sectors, contexts, or locations.
These requirements, and their application, interpretation and amendment are constantly evolving and developing. Even though
we believe we and our vendors are generally in compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations relating to privacy and
data security, these laws are in some cases relatively new and the interpretation and application of these laws are uncertain. Any
failure or perceived failure by us to comply with data privacy laws, rules, regulations, industry standards and other requirements
could result in proceedings or actions against us by individuals, consumer rights groups, government agencies, or others. We
could incur significant costs in investigating and defending such claims and, if found liable, pay significant damages or fines or
be required to make changes to our business. Further, these proceedings and any subsequent adverse outcomes may subject us to
significant negative publicity and an erosion of trust. If any of these events were to occur, our business, results of operations, and
financial condition could be materially adversely affected. Risks Related Eeonomte-and-soetal-volatiity-and-geopotiteat
nstability-outstde-of the- Untted-States-dte-to Our Company We have in the past incurred and large—seale-eonfliets;
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historically financed new acquisitions with cash derived from secured and unsecured loans and lines of credit and, to a lesser
extent, preferred stock. We typically purchase real property with loans secured by a mortgage on the property acquired and we
anticipate continuing this trend. We may incur additional debt from time to time to finance strategic acquisitions, investments,
joint ventures or for other purposes, subject to the restrictions contained in the documents governing our indebtedness. We do
not have a policy limiting the amount of debt that we may incur. Also, our organizational documents do not limit the amount of
debt that we may incur. Accordingly, our management and board of directors have discretion to increase the amount of our
outstanding debt at any time. We could become more highly leveraged, resulting in an increase in debt service costs that could
adversely affect our results of operations and increase the risk of default on debt. Our earnings may not be sufficient to allow us
to pay principal and interest on our debt and meet our other obligations. If we do not have sufficient earnings, we may be
required to seek to refinance all or part of our existing debt, sell assets at terms that are not attractive, borrow more money or sell
more securities, which we may be unable to do, and our stock price may be adversely affected. If our business performance and
profitability deteriorate, we could fail to comply with certain financial covenants in our unsecured bond and revolving credit
facility, which would force us to seek an amendment with our lenders. We may be unable to obtain any necessary waivers or
amendments on satisfactory terms, if at all, which could result in the principal and interest of the debt to become immediately
due. Some of our debt bears interest at variable rates. As a result, we are subject to fluctuating interest rates that may impact,
adversely or otherwise, results of operations and cash flows. We may be subject to risks normally associated with debt
financing, including the risks that: * a decrease in the availability of lines of credit and the public equity and debt markets and
other sources of capital used to operate and maintain our business; ¢ any downgrade of our credit ratings; ¢ cash flow may be
insufficient to make required payments of principal and interest; ¢ existing indebtedness on our properties may not be refinanced
and our leverage could increase our vulnerability to general economic downturns and adverse competitive and industry
conditions, placing us at a disadvantage compared to those of our competitors that are less leveraged;  our debt service
obligations could limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and in the commercial real estate
services industry; ¢ our failure to comply with the financial and other restrictive covenants in the documents governing our
indebtedness could result in an event of default that, if not cured or waived, results in foreclosure on substantially all of our
assets; and e the terms of available new financing may not be as favorable as the terms of existing indebtedness. If we are
unable to satisfy the obligations owed to any lender with a lien on one of our properties, including the compliance with any
operational or financial covenants, the lender could foreclose on the real property or other assets securing the loan and we
would lose that property or asset. The loss of any property or asset to foreclosure could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, agreements governing certain of our financings contain cross-
default and / or cross- acceleration provisions, including, without limitation, the indentures governing our KWI Notes and the
documents governing the Seeend-Third A & R Facility and the KWE Notes. For example, the indentures governing the KWI
Notes provide that recourse debt that is not paid within any applicable grace period after final maturity or is accelerated by the
applicable lender because of a default and the total amount of such recourse debt unpaid or accelerated exceeds seventy- five
million dollars, may constitute a default which could lead to the entire principal amount of the KWI Notes to become
immediately due and payable. The documents governing the Seeenrd-Third A & R Facility and KWE Notes contain similar
provisions. Our existing debt obligations impose, and future debt obligations may impose, significant operating and financial
restrictions on us, including our ability to pursue available business opportunities or finance our future operations. These
restrictions limit or prohibit, among other things, our ability to incur additional indebtedness, repay indebtedness (including our
KWI Notes) prior to stated maturities, pay dividends on, redeem or repurchase our stock or make other distributions, make
acquisitions or investments, create or incur liens, transfer or sell certain assets or merge or consolidate with or into other
companies, enter into certain transactions with affiliates, and restrict dividends, distributions or other payments from our
subsidiaries. A breach of any of these covenants could result in a default in respect of the related indebtedness. If a default
occurs, the relevant lenders could elect to declare the indebtedness, together with accrued interest and other fees, to be
immediately due and payable and proceed against any collateral securing that indebtedness. In addition, a default under one
series of our indebtedness may also constitute a default under another series of our indebtedness. Our unsecured revolving credit
facility and the indentures governing our KWI Notes, and the KWE Notes require us to maintain compliance with specified
financial covenants, including maximum balance sheet leverage and fixed charge coverage ratios. In addition, loan agreements
governing the mortgages that are secured by our properties may contain operational and financial covenants, including but not
limited to, debt service coverage ratio covenants and, with respect to mortgages secured by certain properties in Europe, loan-
to- value ratio covenants. Mortgages with such loan- to- value covenants require that the underlying properties be valued on a
periodic basis (at least annually) and as such, adverse market conditions (which are influenced by factors that are outside of the
Company’ s control) could result in a reduction in the fair value of the subject properties and a breach of the applicable
covenant. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company was in compliance with all property- level mortgages and was current



on all payments (principal and interest) with respect to the same . If we are unable to raise additional debt and equity capital,
our growth prospects may suffer . We depend on the capital markets to grow our balance sheet along with third- party equity
and debt financings to acquire properties through our investment business, which is a key driver of future growth. We currently
intend to raise a significant amount of third- party equity and debt to acquire assets in the ordinary course of our business. We
depend on debt financing from a combination of financial institutions, the assumption of existing loans, government agencies
and seller financing. We depend on equity financing from equity partners, which include public companies, insurance
companies, pension funds, family offices, financial institutions, endowments, sovereign wealth and money managers. Our
access to capital funding is uncertain. Our inability to raise additional capital on terms reasonably acceptable to us could
jeopardize the future growth of our business . The loss of one or more key personnel, particularly our CEQO, could have a
material adverse effect on our operations . Our continued success depends to a significant degree on the efforts of our senior
executives, particularly our chief executive officer, or CEO, who have each been essential to our business. The departure of all
or any of our executives for whatever reason or the inability of all or any of them to continue to serve in their present capacities
or our inability to attract and retain other qualified personnel could have a material adverse effect upon our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Our executives attract business opportunities and assist both in negotiations with lenders and
potential joint venture partners and in the representation of large and institutional clients. If we lost their services, our
relationships with lenders, joint venture partners and clients would diminish significantly. Additionally, as we continue to grow,
our success will largely depend on our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel in all areas of business. We may be unable
to continue to hire and retain a sufficient number of qualified personnel to support or keep pace with our planned growth. Our
results are subject to significant volatility from quarter to quarter due to the varied timing and magnitude of our strategic
acquisitions and dispositions, the incurrence of any impairment losses, fair value gains and losses and other transactions and
market conditions. We have experienced a fluctuation in our financial performance from quarter to quarter and year over year
due in part to the significance of revenues from the sales of real estate on overall performance. The timing of purchases and sales
of our real estate investments has varied, and will continue to vary, widely from quarter to quarter due to variability in market
opportunities, changes in interest rates, changes in fair value due to fluctuating property values, and the overall demand for
multifamily and commercial real estate, among other things. While these factors have contributed to our increased operating
income and earnings in past years, we may be unable to continue to perform in line with historical levels due to the significant
variability in these factors. Additionally, if our future undiscounted net cash flow evaluation indicates that we are unable to
recover the carrying value of a real estate investment, an impairment loss is recorded to the extent that the carrying value
exceeds the estimated fair value of the property. These losses have a direct impact on our net income. The evaluation of
anticipated cash flows is highly subjective and is based in part on assumptions regarding future occupancy, rental rates and
capital requirements that could differ materially from actual results in future periods. Please also see" Some of our portfolio
investments may be recorded at fair value, and, as a result, there will be uncertainty as to the value of these investments" above.
We are subject to certain" non- recourse carve out guarantees" that may be triggered in the future and have guaranteed a number
of loans in connection with various real estate investments, which may result in us being obligated to make certain payments.
Most of our real estate properties are encumbered by traditional non- recourse debt obligations. In connection with most of these
loans, however, we entered into certain *“ non- recourse carve out ” guarantees, which provide for the loans to become partially
or fully recourse against us if certain triggering events occur. Although these events are different for each guarantee, some of the
common events include: ¢ the special purpose property- owning subsidiary’ s filing a voluntary petition for bankruptcy; * the
special purpose property- owning subsidiary’ s failure to maintain its status as a special purpose entity; and ¢ subject to certain
conditions, the special purpose property- owning subsidiary’ s failure to obtain lender’ s written consent prior to obtaining any
subordinate financing or encumbering the associated property. In the event that any triggering event occurs and the loans
become partially or fully recourse against us, our business, financial condition, results of operations and common stock price
could be materially adversely affected. We have also provided recourse guarantees associated with loans secured by real estate.
The maximum potential undiscounted amount of future payments that we could be required to make under these guarantees was
approximately $ #5+119 . +-4 million at December 31, 2623-2024 . The guarantees expire through 2031, and our performance
under the guarantees would be required to the extent there is a shortfall upon liquidation between the principal amount of the
loan and the net sales proceeds of the property. If we were to become obligated to perform on these guarantees, our financial
condition could suffer. If a transaction intended to qualify as a Section 1031 Exchange is later determined to be taxable or if we
are unable to identify and complete the acquisition of a suitable replacement property to effect a Section 1031 Exchange, we
may face adverse consequences, and if the laws applicable to such transactions are amended or repealed, we may not be able to
dispose of properties on a tax deferred basis. When possible, we dispose of properties in transactions that are intended to qualify
for tax deferral under Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the" Code") (each such transaction, a"
Section 1031 Exchange"). It is possible that the qualification of a transaction as a Section 1031 Exchange could be successfully
challenged by the U. S. Internal Revenue Service (the" IRS") and determined to be currently taxable or that we may be unable to
identify and complete the acquisition of a suitable replacement property to effect a Section 1031 Exchange. In such case, if there
are no alternatives available to us (including the use of our net operating loss carryforwards and foreign tax credits), we may
have to pay corporate income tax with respect to the disposition of such properties, possibly including interest and penalties. In
addition, if a Section 1031 Exchange was later determined to be taxable, we may be required to amend our tax returns for the
applicable year in question, including any information reports we sent the Company’ s stockholders. Moreover, Section 1031 of
the Code permits exchanges of real property only. Legislation that could modify or repeal the laws with respect to Section 1031
Exchanges could be enacted, which could make it more difficult or not possible for us to dispose of properties on a tax- deferred
basis. If we are unable to complete transactions as Section 1031 Exchanges, our taxable income and earnings and profits could
increase, which would increase the portion of any distribution with respect to our common stock that is treated as dividend



income instead of return of capital. Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be
limited. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , we had appreximately-$ 47-99 . 5-6 million and-$1+00—8-millien-of federal-and
California net operating loss carryforwards srespeetively-as well as approximately $ +86-87 . 5-6 million of foreign tax credits,
which generally can be used to offset future taxable income or taxes, as applicable. However, under Sections 382 and 383 of the
Code, if a corporation undergoes an “ ownership change," the corporation’ s ability to use its pre- change net operating loss
carryforwards and foreign tax credits to offset its post- change federal taxable income or taxes, as applicable, may be limited.
Generally, a corporation experiences such an ownership change if the percentage of its stock owned by its *“ 5- percent
shareholders, ” as defined in Section 382 of the Code, increases by more than 50 percentage points (by value) over a rolling
three- year period. Based on our analysis, no ownership changes as defined under Section 382 have occurred which would result
in limitations on the utilization of our domestic net operating loss and foreign tax credit carryovers. We may experience
ownership changes in the future as a result of subsequent shifts in our stock ownershlp (some of which shifts are outside of our
control). Similar pr0V1510ns of state tax law may also apply As of g y : nerated-a
December 31 y : : y

As—e%Beeeﬁ&ber—3—1—292—3—2024 we also had $ -1-9-7—156 4—5 mllhon of forelgn net operatlng loss Carryforwards Wthh could be
subject to similar limitations in forelgn jurisdictions based upon changes in equity ownership . Additionally, state and federal
tax laws are subject to change and could result in increased future tax liability to the Company. For example, for the tax
years 2024, 2025 and 2026, the state of California suspended California net operating losses and limited credits. A change
in tax law or interpretations thereof could have a significant effect our tax liability, which could have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations . e may fail to comply with section 404 of the Sarbanes- Oxley
Act 0f 2002. We are subject to section 404 of The Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 and the related rules of the SEC, which
generally require our management and independent registered public accounting firm to report on the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting. Although our management has concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2623-2024 and our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an
unqualified report as to the same, our management or our independent registered public accounting firm may not be able to
come to the same conclusion in future periods. During the course of the review and testing of our internal controls, we may
identify deficiencies and weaknesses and be unable to remediate them before we must provide the required reports. If our
management or our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have
effective internal control over financial reporting, our operating results may suffer, investors may lose confidence in our
reported financial information and the trading price of our stock may fall. Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
Our directors and officers and their affiliates are significant stockholders, which makes it possible for them to have
significant influence over the outcome of all matters submitted to stockholders for approval and which influence may be
in conflict with our interests and the interests of our other stockholders. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , our directors and
executive officers and their respective affiliates owned an aggregate of approximately 13 % of the outstanding shares of our
common stock. These stockholders will have significant influence over the outcome of all matters submitted for stockholder
approval, including the election of our directors and other corporate actions. In addition, such influence by one or more of these
stockholders could discourage others from attempting to purchase or take us over in a transaction that would be favorable to our
other stockholders or reduce the market price offered for our common stock in such an event. Our stockholders may experience
dilution upon the conversion of our Cumulative Perpetual Convertible Preferred Stock or warrants, and we may issue additional
equity securities, which may also dilute our stockholders’ interest in us. Our outstanding warrants are convertible into
approximately 25 million shares of common stock and our Series A Cumulative Perpetual Convertible Preferred Stock are
convertible into approximately 12 million shares of common stock. We also have an at- the- market equity offering program in
place pursuant to which we may issue up to $ 200 million of shares of common stock. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the
exercise price of the warrants was $ 23. 00 per share for the Series B and $ 16. 21 per share for the Series C and the conversion
price of the Series A stock was $ 25. 00 per share, in each case subject to further adjustments in certain circumstances. If we
elect to deliver shares of common stock upon a conversion at the time our tangible book value per share exceeds the conversion
price in effect at such time, our stockholders may incur dilution. In addition, our stockholders will experience dilution in their
ownership percentage of common stock upon our issuance of common stock in connection with the conversion of the Series A
shares and / or warrants and any dividends paid on our common stock will also be paid on shares issued in connection with such
conversion after such issuance. Additionally, in order to expand our business, we may consider offering and issuing additional
equity or equity- based securities. If we issue and sell additional shares of our common stock, or convertible securities, the
ownership interests of our existing stockholders will be diluted to the extent they do not participate in the offering. The number
of shares that we may issue for cash in non- public offerings without stockholder approval will be limited by the rules of the
NYSE or other exchange on which our securities are listed. However, we may issue and sell shares of our common stock in
public offerings, and there generally are exceptions that allow companies to issue a limited number of equity securities in private
offerings without stockholder approval, which could dilute your ownership. The price of our common stock may be volatile.
The trading price of our common stock has historically been and may in the future continue to be volatile due to factors such as:
« changes in real estate values and prices; * actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly and annual results and those of our
publicly held competitors; * mergers and strategic alliances among any real estate companies; ¢ market conditions in the
industry; ¢ changes in government regulation and taxes; ¢ shortfalls in our operating results from levels forecasted by securities
analysts; ¢ investor sentiment toward the stock of real estate companies in general; * announcements concerning us or our
competitors; and ¢ the general state of the securities markets. Our common stock may be delisted, which could limit your ability
to trade our common stock and subject us to additional trading restrictions. Our common stock is listed on the NYSE, a national



securities exchange. However, our common stock may not continue to be listed on the NYSE in the future. If the NYSE delists
our common stock from trading on its exchange, we could face significant material adverse consequences, including: ¢ a limited
availability of market quotations for our common stock; ¢ a limited amount of news and analyst coverage for our company; ¢ a
decreased ability for us to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future; and ¢ limited liquidity for our
stockholders due to thin trading. Our staggered board may entrench management and discourage unsolicited stockholder
proposals that may be in the best interests of stockholders, and certain anti- takeover provisions in our organizational documents
may discourage a change in control. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides for our board of directors to
be divided into three classes, each of which generally serves for a term of three years with only one class of directors being
elected in each year. As a result, at any annual meeting only a minority of the board of directors will be considered for election.
Since this “ staggered board ” would prevent our stockholders from replacing a majority of our board of directors at any annual
meeting, it may entrench management and discourage unsolicited stockholder proposals that may be in the best interests of
stockholders. Additionally, certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and
restated bylaws may have an anti- takeover effect and may delay, defer or prevent a tender offer or takeover attempt that a
stockholder might consider in its best interest, including those attempts that might result in the payment of a premium over the
market price for the shares held by stockholders. In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may, under
certain circumstances, make it more difficult for a person who would be an “ interested stockholder ™ to effect a “ business
combination ” with us for a three- year period. An ““ interested stockholder ” generally is defined as any entity or person that
beneficially owns 15 % or more of our outstanding voting stock or any entity or person that is an affiliate or associate of such
entity or person. A ““ business combination ” generally is defined to include, among other transactions, mergers, consolidations
and certain other transactions, including sales, leases or other dispositions of assets with an aggregate market value equal to 10 %
or more of the aggregate market value of the corporation. These anti- takeover provisions could make it more difficult for a
third party to acquire us, even if the third party’ s offer may be considered beneficial by many stockholders. As a result,
stockholders may be limited in their ability to obtain a premium for their shares. We may change our dividend. Future
distributions will be declared and paid at the discretion of our board of directors and the amount and timing of distributions will
depend upon cash generated by operating activities, our financial condition, capital requirements, restrictions in the agreements
governing our indebtedness, the certificate of designations governing our outstanding preferred stock and such other factors as
our board of directors deems relevant. Our board of directors may change our dividend at any time, and there can be no
assurance as to the manner in which future dividends will be paid or that the current dividend level will be maintained in future
periods. Our amended and restated bylaws designate the Court of Chancery within the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum
for certain litigation that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a different
judicial forum for disputes with us. Our amended and restated bylaws provide that unless we consent in writing to the selection
of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will, to the fullest extent permitted by the law, be the
sole and exclusive forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (2) any action asserting a claim of
breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our current or former directors, officers, other employees or our stockholders to us or
our stockholders, (3) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law,
our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws or to which the Delaware General
Corporation Law confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or (4) any action asserting a claim
governed by the internal affairs doctrine. This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’ s ability to bring a claim in a
judicial forum that the stockholder finds favorable for disputes with us or any of our directors, officers, other employees or other
stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, officers, other employees and other stockholders.
Additionally, this exclusive forum provision will not apply to claims that are vested in the exclusive or concurrent jurisdiction of
a court or forum other than the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or for which the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware does not have subject matter jurisdiction. For instance, the provision would not preclude the filing of claims brought to
enforce any liability or duty created by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the rules and regulations thereunder, in federal court. Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments None. Item 1C.
Cybersecurity Risk management and strategy We have implemented and maintain a cybersecurity risk management
program that includes information security processes designed to prevent, detect, remediate, and manage material risks
from cybersecurity incidents and threats to our critical computer networks, third- party hosted services,
communications systems, hardware and software, and our critical data, including intellectual property, confidential
information that is proprietary, strategic or competitive in nature, and tenant data (“ Information Systems and Data »).
We design and assess our program based on the National Institute of Standards and Technology Cybersecurity
Framework (NIST CSF). This does not imply that we meet any particular technical standards, specifications, or
requirements at all times, only that we use the NIST CSF as a guide to help us identify, assess, and manage cybersecurity
risks relevant to our business. Our cybersecurity risk management program includes: ° risk assessment processes to
monitor, evaluate and identify risks to our Information Systems and Data; * a multidisciplinary team, including
members from our executive management team, our information security and technology function, and legal team
(internal and engaged external experts) to identify, assess, and manage cybersecurity threats and risks; ¢ security tools
throughout our IT environment to monitor for and identify cybersecurity risks and incidents; ¢ the use of external
service providers, where appropriate, to assess, test or otherwise assist with aspects of our security processes; * technical,
physical, and organizational measures, processes, standards, and / or policies to address cybersecurity threats to our
Information Systems and Data; ¢ cybersecurity awareness training of our employees, incident response personnel, and
senior management; and * a cybersecurity incident response plan that includes procedures for responding to
cybersecurity incidents. We are not aware of any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any



cybersecurity incidents, which have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our Company,
including our business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. Please refer to “ Item 1A. Risk factors ” in
this annual report on Form 10- K, including “ Our business could be adversely affected by security breaches through
cyber- attacks, cyber intrusions or otherwise. ”, for additional discussion about cybersecurity- related risks. Governance
Our Board of Directors holds oversight responsibility over the Company’ s strategy and risk management, including
material risks related to cybersecurity threats. This oversight is executed directly by the Board of Directors and through
its committees. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors (the “ Audit Committee ) oversees the management of
systemic risks, including cybersecurity. The Audit Committee engages in regular discussions with management and
engaged consultants and legal advisers regarding the Company’ s significant financial risk exposures and the measures
implemented to monitor and control these risks, including those that may result from material cybersecurity threats.
These discussions include the Company’ s risk assessment and risk management policies. Our management, represented
by our Chief Financial Officer and Vice President, Information Systems, lead our cybersecurity risk management
processes and oversees their implementation and maintenance. Management is responsible for hiring appropriate
personnel, helping to integrate cybersecurity risk considerations into the Company’ s overall risk management strategy,
communicating key priorities to relevant personnel, approving budgets, approving cybersecurity processes, and
reviewing cybersecurity assessments and other cybersecurity- related matters. As described above, we also have engaged
a third- party IT and cybersecurity firm that works closely with our management to implement and manage our
processes and controls to assess, identify, and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats. Our management and
information systems teams, oversee the work of our third- party IT and cybersecurity firm and regularly communicates
with members of the team. Members of this third- party IT and cybersecurity team have collectively over 55 years of
prior work experience and are responsible for the implementation of our cybersecurity strategy and responses as well as
individuals having the position of cybersecurity analyst, cybersecurity engineer. In addition, our Vice President,
Information Systems, has 40 years of prior work experience in information systems and technology, including with
respect to cybersecurity issues and threats. Through the policies and controls described above, including our incident
response policy, members of our management team, including our Chief Financial Officer, our Executive Vice President,
Global Risk Management and our Executive Vice President, General Counsel, as well as representatives of the third-
party IT and cybersecurity team are informed about cybersecurity threats and incidents affecting our information
systems and direct our efforts to prevent, detect, mitigate, and remediate cybersecurity threats and incidents.
Management, including the Vice President, Information Systems and Executive Vice President, Global Risk
Management, serves on the Company’ s incident response team to help the Company address cybersecurity incidents. In
addition, the Company’ s incident response processes include reporting to the Audit Committee for certain cybersecurity
incidents. The Audit Committee holds quarterly meetings and receives periodic reports from management, including our
Chief Financial Officer, concerning the Company’ s significant cybersecurity threats and risk and the processes the
Company has implemented to address them. The Audit Committee also receives periodic reports from the Company' s
internal audit team with respect to regular network penetration and related tests to ensure that the Company' s defense
tools, processes and procedures are operating as designed. Item 2. Properties The following table sets forth certain
information regarding our stabilized consolidated properties at December 31, 2024: Consolidated Properties by
RegionMultifamily (4) UnitsEnding % LeasedAnnualizedBase Rent (1) Average Effective Rent (3) KW Ownership % #
of AssetsWestern U. S. 9,258 95 % $ 198.7 $ 198. 7 97 % 32 Total Multifamily9, 258 95 % $ 198.7 $ 198. 7 97 % 32
Commercial (2) Square FeetEnding % OccupancyAnnualizedBase Rent (1) AnnualizedEffective Rent (3) KW
Ownership % # of AssetsWestern U. S. 0. 8 87 % $34.6 $ 32.9 100 % S Europe3. 4 91 101. 1 95. 2 91 24 Total
Commercial4. 2 90 % $ 135.7 $ 128. 1 93 % 29 Note: Dollars and square footage in millions. (1) Represents annualized
cash base rent (excludes tenant reimbursements and other revenue). (2) Excludes properties that are under development
or undergoing lease up, which includes 9 properties totaling 1. 0 million square feet. (3) Annualized effective rent
represents annualized base rent net of rental concessions and abatements. (4) Excludes properties that are under
development or undergoing lease up, which includes 2 European properties where the scope is still being explored.
Consolidated Properties by RegionResidential and LandUnits / LotsAcresKW Ownership % # of InvestmentsWestern U.
S.3—100 % 2 Total Residential and Land3 — 100 % 2 The following table sets forth a summary schedule of
commercial lease expirations for leases in place as of December 31, 2024, plus available space, in our consolidated
commercial portfolio assuming non- exercise of renewal options and early termination rights (dollars in millions): Year
of Lease ExpirationNumber of Leases ExpiringRentable Square Feet (1) Annualized Base Rent (1) Expiring Annualized
Base Rent as a Percent of Total202592 0. 9 $ 24. 6 18 % 202650 0. 6 20. 2 15 % 202746 0.4 10.9 8 % 202838 0.4 15.0 11
% 202953 0.5 26.7 20 % 203017 0.2 4.4 3 % 2031150.29.0 7 % 203213 0.2 4.8 4 % 203311 0.2 6.3 5 % 203421 0. 1
11. 8 8 % Thereafter11 0.1 2. 0 1 % Total367 3. 8 $ 135.7 100 % (1) Dollars and square footage in millions. Our
corporate headquarters are located in Beverly Hills, California. We also have ten other offices throughout the United
States, one office in London, UK, one office in Dublin, Ireland and one office in Tokyo, Japan. The Beverly Hills office
operates as the main investment and asset management center for us in the United States, while the UK and Ireland
offices are the main investment and asset management centers for our European operations. We own our corporate
headquarters and our office in Dublin, Ireland and lease all of our remaining offices. In addition, we have on- site
property management offices located within properties that we manage. The most significant terms of the leasing
arrangements for our offices are the length of the lease and the rent. Our leases have terms varying in duration. The rent
payable under our office leases vary significantly from location to location as a result of differences in prevailing
commercial real estate rates in different geographic locations. Our management believes that except as provided below,



no single office lease is material to our business, results of operations or financial condition. In addition, our
management believes there is adequate alternative office space available at acceptable rental rates to meet our needs,
although adverse movements in rental rates in some markets may negatively affect our profits in those markets when we
enter into new leases. The following table sets forth certain information regarding our corporate headquarters and
foreign regional offices. LocationUseApproximateSquare FootageLease ExpirationBeverly Hills, CACorporate
Headquarters60, 000 N / A * London, EnglandRegional Office8, 147 3 /3 / 2033Dublin, IrelandRegional Office17, 000 N /
A * * Building is owned by a wholly- owned subsidiary of the Company. Item 3. Legal Proceedings We may be involved
in various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business, none of which we currently believe is material to
our business. Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures Not Applicable. PART II Item 5. Market for Registrant’ s Common
Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities Stock Price Information Our common
stock trades on the NYSE under the symbol “ KW. ” Holders As of February 20, 2025, we had approximately 65 holders
of record of our common stock. Dividends We declared and paid quarterly dividends of $ 0. 12 for the last three quarters
0f 2024 and $ 0. 24 per share for the first quarter of 2024 and each quarter of 2023. Recent Sales of Unregistered
Securities Equity Compensation Plan Information See Item 12 — “ Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners
and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. ” Performance Graph The graph below compares the cumulative
total return of our common stock from December 31, 2019 through December 31, 2024, with the comparable cumulative
return of companies comprising the S & P 500 Index and the MSCI World Real Estate GICS Level 1 Index. The graph
plots the growth in value of an initial investment of $ 100 in each of our common stock, the S & P 500 Index, and the
MSCI World Real Estate GICS Level 1 Index for the five- year period ended December 31, 2024, and assumes
reinvestment of all dividends, if any, paid on the securities. The stock price performance shown on the graph is not
necessarily indicative of future price performance. Kennedy Wilson uses the MSCI World Real Estate GICS Level 1
Index, which includes international real estate companies as a comparable benchmark. The information under this
caption, “ Performance Graph, ” is deemed not to be incorporated by reference into any filings under the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that such filing specifically
states otherwise. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Company MonthsTotal Number of Shares PurchasedAverage
Price Paid per ShareTotal Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plan (1) Maximum Amount that
May Yet be Purchased Under the Plan (1) October 1- October 31, 2024 — $ — 26, 528, 959 $ 109, 739, 985 November 1-
November 30, 2024 — — 26, 528, 959 109, 739, 985 December 1- December 31, 20242, 105 10. 66 26, 531, 064 109, 717,
542 Total2, 105 $ — 26, 531, 064 $ 109, 717, 542 (1) On March 20, 2018, we announced that our board of directors
authorized us to repurchase up to $ 250 million of our common shares, from time to time, subject to market conditions.
On November 4, 2020, we announced that our board of directors authorized us to repurchase an additional $ 250 million
of our common shares, from time to time, subject to market conditions. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Company repurchased and retired a total of 1. 6 million shares of its common stock at a weighted average price of $ 8.
50. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased and retired a total of 0. 7 million shares of its
common stock at a weighted average price of $ 11. 15. In addition to the repurchases of the Company’ s common stock
made above, the Company also withheld shares with respect to the vesting of restricted stock that the Company made to
its employees. Shares that vested during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were net- share settled such that
the Company withheld shares with value equivalent to the employees’ minimum statutory obligation for the applicable
income and other employment taxes and remitted the cash to the appropriate taxing authorities. During the year ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, total payments for the employees’ tax obligations to the taxing authorities were $ 1. 6
million (131, 116 shares withheld) and $ 13. 4 million (781, 303 shares withheld), respectively. Real Estate Assets Under
Management (AUM) AUM generally refers to the properties and other assets with respect to which we provide (or
participate in) oversight, investment management services and other advice, and which generally consist of real estate
properties or loans, and investments in joint ventures. Our AUM is principally intended to reflect the extent of our
presence in the real estate market, not the basis for determining our management fees. Our AUM consists of the total
estimated fair value of the real estate properties and other real estate related assets either owned by third parties,
wholly- owned by us or held by joint ventures and other entities in which our sponsored funds or investment vehicles and
client accounts have invested. Committed (but unfunded) capital from investors in our sponsored funds is not included in
our AUM. The estimated value of development properties is included at estimated completion cost. The table below
details the changes in the Company' s AUM for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024: (in millions) December 31,
2023IncreasesDecreasesDecember 31, 2024AUM § 24,542.9 $ 6, 400. 7 $ 2, 990. 7 $ 27, 952. 9 AUM increased 14 % to
approximately $ 28. 0 billion as of December 31, 2024. The increase is due to the inclusion of future loan commitments,
asset acquisitions in our comingled funds and loan fundings in our debt platform. These increases were offset by
consolidated asset sales and fair value losses in our Co- Investment portfolio. Please also see' Fair Value Investments' in
Item 1. Business for a discussion of our fair value investments and accounting methodology and any limitations with
respect to the same. Foreign currency and currency derivative instruments Please refer to Item 7. Management’ s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation for a discussion regarding foreign currency
and currency derivative instruments. Item 6. Reserved Item 7. Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the
financial statements and related notes and the other financial information appearing elsewhere in this report. This
discussion and analysis contains forward- looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. See the
section titled" Forward- Looking Statements' for more information. Actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in the forward- looking statements as a result of many factors, including those discussed in the section titled «



Risk Factors ” and elsewhere in this report. Unless specifically noted otherwise, as used throughout this Management’ s
Discussion and Analysis section, “ we, ” “ our, " us,"" the Company" or “ Kennedy Wilson ” refers to Kennedy-
Wilson Holdings, Inc. and its wholly- owned subsidiaries. “ Equity partners ” refers to the subsidiaries that we
consolidate in our financial statements under U. S. GAAP (other than wholly- owned subsidiaries) and third- party
equity providers. Please refer to “ Non- GAAP Measures and Certain Definitions ” for definitions of certain terms used
throughout this report. Overview We are a real estate investment company as well as investment manager with over $
28. 0 billion of AUM in high growth markets across the United States, the United Kingdom and Ireland. With an
objective of generating strong long- term risk- adjusted returns for our shareholders and partners and drawing on over
three decades of experience in identifying opportunities and building value through various market cycles, we primarily
focus on (i) investing in the rental housing sector (both market rate and affordable units) and industrial properties; and
(i) originating, managing and servicing real estate loans (primarily senior construction loans secured by high quality
multifamily and student housing properties that are being developed by institutional sponsors throughout the United
States). We also have investments in office assets and other investments which include hotel and retail properties. 2024
Highlights During the year ended December 31, 2024, we achieved the following: « Originated $ 3. S billion of new senior
construction loans through our debt investment platform * Generated total investment management fees of $ 98. 9
million, an increase of 59. 8 % from the year ended December 31, 2023 * Continued to see strength in our stabilized
multifamily portfolio which saw same- store occupancy grow by 0. 8 % to 94. 6 %, same- property revenue growth of 3.
5 %, and same- property NOI growth of 3. 6 % ¢ Generated $ 1. 7 billion of cash from asset sales and loan repayments
(our share of which was $ 520 million) and redeployed capital to pay down indebtedness and to consummate new
investment opportunities * Grew Fee- Bearing Capital by 5 % to a record $ 8. 8 billion * Repaid € 175 million of KWE
Notes and $ 45 million net pay down on the Company' s credit facility For the year ended December 31, 2024, we had net
loss attributable to Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. common shareholders of $ 76. S million as compared to a net loss of $
341. 8 million for the same period in 2023. For the year ended December 31, 2024 we had Adjusted EBITDA of $ 539. 7
million as compared to $ 189. 8 million for the same period in 2023. These results include $ 213 million and $ 473 million
of non- cash expenses for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, which primarily consist of
depreciation and amortization and changes in fair values. For the year ended December 31, 2024, as described above, we
recognized higher investment management fees and interest income primarily driven from our debt investment
platform. These increases were offset by lower levels of NOI from hotel operations as we sold the Shelbourne hotel
during the first quarter of 2024. In our Co- Investment portfolio, we had $ 29. 9 million of realized operating results, $
32. 6 million realized gain on sale of an unconsolidated investment that was not accounted for at fair value and recorded
non- cash unrealized fair value and carried interests declines of $ 56. 0 million during the year ended December 31, 2024
as compared to $ 40. 8 million of realized operating results and $ 293. 6 million of non- cash unrealized fair value and
carried interest declines during the same period in 2023. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we had non- cash
unrealized fair value losses and carried interests write downs primarily relating to (i) lower fair values with respect to
office properties in the Western United States, Ireland and United Kingdom due to lower market assumptions of vacancy
and rental growth with respect to the same; and (ii) the reversal of previously accrued interests with respect to the assets
described in (i) above that are located in the Western United States. Such fair value losses were offset by a $ 30. 4 million
fair value increase on our minority investment in Zonda which closed a merger transaction during the first quarter of
2024. This transaction led to cost synergy opportunities and increase in earnings in that business. Operating results in
our Co- Investments Portfolio declined due to losses at recently completed development projects as we work towards
stabilizing operations and occupancy. The properties were not in service in the year ended December 31, 2023 and any
costs associated with the properties were capitalized as they were still under development during such period. Results of
Operations The following tables summarize our results of operations by segment for the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023 and is intended to be helpful in understanding the year over year explanations following the tables. Our results
of operations for 2023 and 2022 can be found under Item 7. Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, which is incorporated by reference herein to our Annual Report on Form 10- K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on February 22, 2024, and is available on the SEC’ s website
at www. sec. gov and our Investor Relations website at www. ir. kennedywilson. com (this website address is not
intended to function as a hyperlink, and the information contained in, or accessible from, our website is not intended to
be part of this filing). Year Ended December 31, 2024 (Dollars in millions) ConsolidatedCo- InvestmentsTotalSegment
RevenueRental $ 390. 6 $ — $ 390. 6 Hotel9. 3 — 9. 3 Investment management fees — 98. 9 98. 9 Loans — 31. 2 31. 2
Total segment revenue399. 9 130. 1 530. 0 Income from unconsolidated investmentsPrincipal co- investments — 56. 2 56.
2 Carried interests — (49. 7) (49. 7) Company' s share of Interest, Depreciation, and Taxes included in income from
unconsolidated investments — 135. 4 135. 4 Income from unconsolidated investments — 141. 9 141. 9 Gain on sale of
real estate, net160. 1 — 160. 1 Segment ExpensesRental150. 0 — 150. 0 Hotel7. 6 — 7. 6 Compensation and related39. 4
49. 1 88. 5 Carried interests compensation — (16. 6) (16. 6) General and administrativel4. 9 16. 7 31. 6 Other (income)
loss (1. 0) 11. 0 10. 0 Other segment items (1) 7. 8 (0. 9) 6. 9 Total segment expenses218. 7 59. 3 278. 0 Segment Adjusted
EBITDA $ 341.3 $ 212. 7 $ 554. 0 Reconciliation of Segment Adjusted EBITDA to Net Income attributable to Kennedy-
Wilson Holdings, Inc. Common ShareholdersOther revenuel. 4 Compensation and related, corporate (46. 3) General
and administrative, corporate (7. 2) Depreciation and amortization (148. 3) Interest expense (261. 1) Loss on early
extinguishment of debt (1. 7) Other income1l4. 2 Provision for income taxes (10. 2) Company' s share of Interest,
Depreciation, and Taxes included in income from unconsolidated investments (135. 4) EBITDA adjustments to NCI6. 9
Net loss (33. 7) Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests0. 7 Preferred dividends (43. 5) Net loss attributable to



Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. common shareholders $ (76. S) Year Ended December 31, 2023 (Dollars in millions)
ConsolidatedCo- InvestmentsTotalSegment RevenueRental $ 415.3 $ — $ 415. 3 Hotel57. 1 — 57. 1 Investment
management fees — 61. 9 61. 9 Loans — 26. 1 26. 1 Total segment revenue472. 4 88. 0 560. 4 Loss from unconsolidated
investmentsPrincipal co- investments — (188. 5) (188. 5) Carried interests — (64. 3) (64. 3) Company' s share of Interest,
Depreciation, and Taxes included in income from unconsolidated investments — 102. 4 102. 4 Loss from unconsolidated
investments — (150. 4) (150. 4) Gain on sale of real estate, net127. 6 — 127. 6 ExpensesRental152. 6 — 152. 6 Hotel37. 9
— 37.9 Compensation and related42. 7 39. 0 81. 7 Carried interests compensation — (15. 1) (15. 1) General and
administrativel5s. 5 12. 7 28. 2 Other (income) loss (2. 3) 7. 0 4. 7 Other segment items (1) 29. 3 (0. 3) 29. 0 Total
expenses275. 7 43. 3 319. 0 Segment Adjusted EBITDA $ 324. 3 § (105. 7) $ 218. 6 Reconciliation of Segment Adjusted
EBITDA to Net Income attributable to Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. Common ShareholdersOther revenue2. 2
Compensation and related, corporate (57. 7) General and administrative, corporate (7. 5) Depreciation and amortization
(157. 8) Interest expense (259. 2) Loss on early extinguishment of debt (1. 6) Other loss (0. 3) Benefit from income
taxesS5. 3 Company' s share of Interest, Depreciation, and Taxes included in income from unconsolidated investments
(102. 4) EBITDA adjustments to NCI29. 0 Net loss (281. 4) Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (22. 4)
Preferred dividends (38. 0) Net loss attributable to Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. common shareholders $ (341. 8)
Kennedy Wilson Consolidated Financial Results: Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to the Year Ended
December 31, 2023 Financial Highlights GAAP net loss to common shareholders was $ 76. 5 million and $ 341. 8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Adjusted EBITDA was $ 539. 7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024, a 189 % increase from $ 189. 8 million for 2023. Adjusted segment EBITDA was $ 554. 0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2024 and $ 218. 6 million for 2023. The increase in GAAP net income to common
shareholders and Adjusted EBITDA is primarily due to (i) higher levels of investment management fees (60 % increase)
from our real estate debt business as compared to the prior year; and (ii) higher levels of non- cash unrealized fair value
gains and lower levels of write downs on carried interests on our investments in our Co- Investment Portfolio as
compared to the prior year. Please see" Co- Investment Portfolio Segment' below for a discussion of the fair value
movements during the current and prior periods. Operational Highlights Same property highlights for the year ended
December 31, 2024 include: * For our 17, 279 same property market rate multifamily units for the year ended December
31, 2024 as compared to the prior period: ° occupancy increased 95 % from 94 % ° net operating income (net effective)
increased 3 % ° total revenues increased 3 % * For our 9, 157 same property affordable rate multifamily units for the
year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the prior period: ° occupancy increased 0. 4 % to 95 % ° net operating
income (net effective) increased 6 % © total revenues increased 6 % * For our 3. 5 million square feet of same property
office real estate for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the prior period: ° occupancy remained flat at 94
% © net operating income (net effective) increased 2 % ° total revenues increased 2 % ° Investment Transactions for the
year ended December 31, 2024 include: - Consolidated Portfolio: = Recognized $ 160. 1 million of gain on sale of real
estate, net which generated $ 367 million in cash to us. The major sales included: (i) the Company' s sale of the
Shelbourne hotel which resulted in a gain of $ 99. 1 million; (ii) the sale of a wholly- owned multifamily asset in Western
United States which resulted in a gain of $ 56. 1 million; (iii) the sale of a building in an office campus which had a gain of
$ 21. 6 million; (iv) the deconsolidation of a previously wholly- owned multifamily property as a result of our sale of 90 %
of the ownership interest to a new partner which resulted in a gain of $ 8. 1 million; and (v) the remainder of gain on sale
of real estate, net was a realized loss relating to the sale of non- core retail in the United Kingdom and Spain. The gain on
sale of real estate, net includes an impairment loss of $ 22. 1 million relating to non- core office and retail buildings in the
United Kingdom, Spain and Italy that were marketed for sale during such period. > Co- Investment Portfolio =
Completed $ 797. 6 million in gross real estate acquisitions in which the Company had a 13. 3 % ownership interest and
dispositions of $ 613. 3 million in which the Company had a 23. 8 % ownership interest. = Originated $ 3. 5 billion in new
construction loans, completed $ 1. 1 billion in additional fundings on existing loans, and realized $ 1. 0 billion in
repayments, the Company’ s share of which were $ 86. 6 million, $ 43. 4 million and $ 50. 1 million respectively. Foreign
Exchange- Results of Operations A significant portion of our investments are in foreign currencies. We typically do not
hedge future operations or cash flows so changes in foreign currency rates will have an impact on our results of
operations. We have included the table below to illustrate the impact these fluctuations have had on our revenues, net
income and Adjusted EBITDA by applying the relevant exchange rates for the prior period. Please refer to the section
titled" Currency Risk- Foreign Currencies' in Item 7 for a discussion of risks relating to foreign currency and our
hedging strategy and the' Other Comprehensive Income'" section below for a discussion of the balance sheet impact of
foreign currency movements on our results of operations. Year Ended December 31, 2024ConsolidatedCo-
InvestmentTotalRevenues $ 0.3 — % $ (0. 2) — % $ 0. 1 — % Net Incomel.42 % 1. 01 % 2. 4 3 % Adjusted
EBITDA1.7— % 0.4 — % 2.1 — % Year Ended December 31, 2023ConsolidatedCo- InvestmentTotalRevenues $ S. 9
1%8%$0.1—%$6.01 % Net Income (5. 2) (2) %o — — % (5. 2) (2) % Adjusted EBITDA (1.3) (1) % 0.6 1 % (0. 7) —
% Consolidated Portfolio Segment Rental income was $ 390. 6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as
compared to $ 415. 3 million for the same period in 2023. The $ 24. 7 million decrease is primarily due to (i) the sale of a
building in a wholly- owned office campus in Western United States in the first quarter of 2024 as well as a major tenant
vacating from other buildings in the same office campus in the fourth quarter of 2023; (ii) the sale of a retail property in
Ireland in the third quarter of 2023 and a retail property in Spain in third quarter of 2024. Hotel income was $ 9. 3
million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $ 57. 1 million for 2023. The $ 47. 8 million decrease is due
to the sale of the Shelbourne hotel in the first quarter of 2024. Gain on sale of real estate, net was $ 160. 1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $ 127. 6 million in the prior period. The gains recognized during the year



ended December 31, 2024 are primarily due to (i) the Company' s sale of the Shelbourne hotel which resulted in a gain of
$ 99. 1 million; (ii) the sale of a wholly- owned multifamily asset in Western United States for a gain of $ 56. 1 million;
(iii) the sale of a building in a wholly- owned office campus which resulted in a gain of $ 21. 6 million; (iv) the
deconsolidation of a previously wholly- owned multifamily property as a result of our sale of 90 % of the ownership
interest to a new partner which resulted in a gain of $ 8. 1 million; and (v) the remainder of gain on sale of real estate, net
relates to the sale of non- core retail in the United Kingdom and Spain which had a realized loss in addition to
impairment discussed below. These sales generate total cash proceeds of $ 367. 0 million during the year ended
December 31, 2024. The gain on sale of real estate, net includes an impairment loss of $ 22. 1 million relating to non- core
office and retail buildings in the United Kingdom, Spain and Italy that were marketed for sale during such period. The
gains recognized during the year ended December 31, 2023 are primarily due to (i) the Company' s sale of 49 % of its
equity interest in two previously wholly- owned market- rate multifamily properties into an existing joint venture
platform managed by the Company and retained a noncontrolling 51 % interest in such properties, which resulted in a
gain on sale of real estate of $ 79. S million; (ii) the sale of a property in the Western United States to our VHH platform,
pursuant to which the Company retained an interest in the asset through its ownership interest in VHH, which resulted
in a gain of $ 15. 1 million; (iii) the sale of a consolidated multifamily property owned with a noncontrolling interest
partner which resulted in a gain of $ 37. 6 million ($ 20. 1 million of which was at the Company' s share) and (iv) the
remainder of gain on sale of real estate relates to the sale of non- core retail and residential properties in the Western
United States, United Kingdom, Ireland, and Spain. These sales generated total cash proceeds of $ 267. 8 million during
the year ended December 31, 2023. These gains are net of $ 28. 6 million of impairments relating to retail assets in the
United Kingdom, Ireland and the Western United States that have been identified for sale. Rental expenses decreased to
$ 150. 0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $ 152. 6 million for the year ended December 31,
2023. The decrease is due to sales of properties as discussed above which were offset by inflationary increases on items
like payroll, utilities and insurance. Hotel expenses decreased to $ 7. 6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as
compared to $ 37. 9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 due to the sale of the Shelbourne hotel in the first
quarter of 2024. Compensation and related expenses decreased to $ 39. 4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024
as compared to $ 42. 7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 due to a lower allocation of corporate expenses to
the Consolidated segment in the current period due to the growth of the Co- Investments segment. General and
administrative expenses decreased to $ 14. 9 million for year the ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $ 15. 5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023. While general and administrative expenses were slightly higher overall for the
Company during the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the prior periods, there was a lower allocation of
corporate expenses to the Consolidated segment in the current period due to the growth of the Co- Investments segment.
Other income was $ 1. 0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $ 2. 3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023. The difference period- over- period was primarily attributed to: (i) mark to market fair value losses
of $ 14. 0 million on the Company' s undesignated interest rate caps and swap contracts for the year ended December 31,
2024 as compared to $ 18. 3 million in the prior period; (ii) $ 18. 5 million of cash proceeds received during the year
ended December 31, 2024 on interest rate caps and swaps and $ 16. 7 million in the prior period which offset the mark to
market fair value losses discussed above; and (iii) $ 4. 8 million of foreign exchange losses during the year ended
December 31, 2024 as compared to a loss of $ 0. 3 million in the prior period. In addition, during the year ended
December 31, 2024 we had $ 4. 4 million in interest income as compared to $ 1. 3 million in the prior period, as a result of
our higher cash balance in Europe from the sale of the Shelbourne hotel. In the current period we had $ 3. 1 million in
expenses due to severance and acquisition related costs primarily in Europe with minimal activity in the prior year. Net
income attributable to noncontrolling interests was $ 0. 7 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $
22. 4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease is due to allocation of gains from the sale of real estate,
net on a consolidated multifamily property and a non- core retail asset both in the Western United States during the
prior period. The following items are not in Adjusted Segment EBITDA above for Consolidated portfolio but are in net
loss attributable to Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. common shareholders: Depreciation and amortization decreased to $
148. 3 million for year ended December 31, 2024 the as compared to $ 157. 8 million for the year ended December 31,
2023 as a result of the Company being a net seller of assets over the last year. Interest expense was $ 160. S million for the
year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $ 162. 0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease is
primarily due to decreases in consolidated mortgage balance over 2024 due to asset sales over the current and prior
periods which was offset by higher interest rates on mortgages in the current period. Investment Management We
receive fees, including asset management fees, construction management fees, and / or acquisition and disposition fees,
for managing assets in our Co- Investment Portfolio on behalf of our partners. During the year ended December 31,
2024, fees recorded through revenues were $ 98. 9 million as compared to $ 61. 9 million for the same period in 2023. The
increase in recorded fees for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023 was due to
origination fees on loan originations in the construction loan portfolio and higher base management fees for the year
ended December 31, 2024 as a result of having more AUM in our Co- Investment Portfolio mainly due to the growth of
our global debt platform and Western United Sates multifamily separate accounts. Co- Investment Operations- Loans
Loan income from loan investments increased to $ 31. 2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $
26. 1 million for the same period in 2023. These amounts represent interest income on our share of loan investments
within our global debt platform. The increase is primarily due to the growth of the global debt platform and rising
interest rates as the majority of our loans in our global debt platform are floating rate loans. We recognized $ 11. 0
million of reserves against our loan portfolio in other loss during the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $ 7. 0



million in the prior period. The reserves on our loan portfolio relate to our bridge loan portfolio as market conditions
indicate that there could be potential credit losses due to the current interest rate environment and general market
conditions. Co- Investment Operations- Real Estate In addition to our management of investments in the Co- Investment
Portfolio, we generally have ownership interests in the properties. The table below represents a breakout of the amounts
within income from unconsolidated investments which represents our share of underlying property investments in the
Co- Investment Portfolio assets and any associated carried interests for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:
Year Ended December 31, 20242023RevenueRental § 289. 9 § 256. 3 Hotel31. 7 11. 1 Sale of real estate46. 7 19. 5 Total
revenue368. 3 286. 9 Fair value / other adjustments (9. 8) (233. 7) Gain on sale of real estate, net32. 6 — Carried interests
(49. 7) (64. 3) ExpensesRental94. 8 82. 8 Hotel36. 3 16. 3 Cost of real estate sold43. 1 13. 6 Depreciation and
amortization3. 9 3. 2 Total expenses178. 1 115. 9 Interest expense (131. 0) (99. 0) Other loss (25. 4) (26. 6) Provision for
income taxes (0. 4) (0. 2) Income (loss) from unconsolidated investments $ 6. 5 $ (252. 8) The increase in income from
unconsolidated investments is primarily due to the following: Operating performance During the year ended December
31, 2024, the Company recognized an increase in rental and hotel revenue of $ 54. 2 million as compared to the same
period in 2023, primarily as a result of the recapitalization of certain previously consolidated multifamily properties that
are now a part of our co- investment portfolio and the opening of the Kona Village Resort in July 2023. This increase in
rental and hotel revenue was offset by: (i) costs associated with the ongoing stabilization of the Kona Village Resort and
development properties in Europe that are in the process of leasing up, as these projects were under development in
prior period and all costs were capitalized during construction (ii) higher interest expense due to changes in the
contractual interest rates of our indebtedness and higher debt balances due to the increase in assets in Co- Investment
portfolio; and (iii) lower income from sales of residential units at our Kohanaiki development in Hawaii as compared to
the prior period. We had a gain on sale of real estate, net of $ 32. 6 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 due
to the sale of the majority of our interest in a multifamily property in Western United States that was not accounted for
under fair value and we did not have comparable activity in the prior period. During the year ended December 31, 2024,
the Company recorded fair value decreases with respect to: (i) lower fair values with respect to office properties in the
Western United States, Ireland and United Kingdom due to lower market assumptions of vacancy and rental growth
with respect to the same; and (ii) non- cash fair value losses on mortgage debt and hedges associated with interest rates
as previous non- cash fair value gains unwind as loans and hedges move closer to maturity dates. These fair value
decreases were offset by (i) fair value increases with respect to our minority ownership interest in Zonda, a technology
based real estate residential housing advisory business, as a result of its recent completion of a merger transaction; (ii)
fair value increases associated with our investment in VHH due to increases in NOI at the underlying properties and
lower cost of capital associated with the business as interest rates have moved down; and (iii) fair value increase on a
recently completed multifamily development in the Western United States as operations ramp up. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, we recorded a $ 49. 7 million decrease in the accrual for carried interests in our commingled funds
primarily related to the fair value decreases that the Company recorded with respect to office assets in a United States
commingled fund and on certain separate account platforms that hold multifamily assets in the Western United States.
During the year ended December 31, 2023, valuations continued to pull back primarily as a result of continued
expansion of estimated capitalization rates and significant reductions in transaction volumes and liquidity due to,
increased borrowing rates as the Federal Reserve continued its interest rate hikes and increased the federal funds rate
by 100 basis points during 2023. As such, during the year ended December 31, 2023 the Company recorded fair value
decreases with respect to: (i) certain office properties in the Western United States, Ireland and United Kingdom
primarily due to expansion in estimated capitalization rates, primarily as a result of increased interest rates, which also
led to us recording a decrease of the accrued carried interests with respect to funds that held these investments as
discussed below; (ii) certain market rate multifamily properties in the Western United States and Ireland primarily due
to expansion in estimated capitalization rates; (iii) the write off of a § S million investment in a social impact real estate
fund manager; and (iv) a decrease in the fair value of a building that we hold a 10 % ownership interest in due to a
national co- working office tenant no longer paying rent at such property. These fair value decreases were offset by (i) a
fair value increase of $ 51. 5 million with respect to our investment in VHH (our affordable rate multifamily platform)
due to gains on the conversion of the status of one of VHH’ s largest properties from development to operating, gains
associated with the conversion of the loan secured by such property from a floating rate construction loan to a long- term
fixed rate mortgage (the rate of which was set in 2019), the resyndication of properties and (ii) fair value increases
recognized by the Company on fixed rate mortgages due to increases in market interest rates. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, we recorded a $ 64. 3 million decrease in the accrual (non- cash) for carried interests primarily
related to the fair value decreases noted above. VHH does not have a carried interests arrangement associated with the
investment, and therefore, such increases in non- cash fair value noted above did not contribute to the caried interests
results. Please also see'" Part I. Item 1." Fair Value Investments"" for additional details. Expenses increased to $ 59. 3
million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $ 43. 3 million for the same period in 2023. The increase
compared to the prior period was primarily due to higher allocation of corporate expenses due to the growth of our real
estate debt business. Non- Segment Items Compensation and related, corporate for the year ended December 31, 2024
were $ 46. 3 million as compared to $ S7. 7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The decrease in expenses is
primarily due to lower share- based compensation due to lower share price on recent grants and additional expense in
the prior period in connection with the retirement of the Company' s former President (the" former executive') from the
Company. Pursuant to the terms of the former executive' s separation and consulting agreement with the Company (the"
Agreement"), the former executive' s outstanding restricted share units, held as of her separation date, will continue to



vest in future periods in accordance with the terms of the applicable restricted stock unit grants agreements. However,
the arrangement per the Agreement is considered a modification of her awards and the Company has revalued her share
awards over the remaining periods, which resulted in a one- time $ S. 5 million of additional expense year ended
December 31, 2023. Non- Segment interest expense on our corporate unsecured debt was $ 100. 6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $ 97. 2 million for the same period in 2023. For the year ended December 31,
2024 we had lower capitalized interest in the current period as our development pipeline has neared completion. Other
income (loss) increased to income of $ 14. 2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to other loss of $
0. 3 million for the same period in 2023. The Company recorded realized foreign exchange gains of $ 6. 5 million for the
year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to realized losses of $ 3. 3 million in the prior period primarily due to
decreases in the euro exchange rate on portion of its line of credit that was drawn in euros. We recorded $ S. 9 million in
expenses associated with future compensation and consulting fees in connection with the former executive' s Agreement,
as discussed above during the prior period with no comparable activity in the current period. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, we recorded $ S. S million of mark to market fair value gains on interest rate caps and swaps that
the Company bought to hedge its variable rate interest rate exposure as compared to $ 4. 3 million in year ended
December 31, 2023. We received $ 7. 6 million and $ 7. 4 million in cash on interest rate caps and swaps during the year
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2024 we received $ 2. 5 million of
interest income on bank deposits due to rising interest rates as compared to $ 4. 3 million in the prior period. Provision
for income taxes was $ 10. 2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to a benefit from taxes of $ 55. 3
million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase in income tax expense was primarily attributable to a $ 313.
2 million increase in worldwide pre- tax book income in 2024 as compared to 2023, primarily as a result of the prior
period having significant non- cash fair value decreases during the year. Our effective tax rate for the year ended
December 31, 2024 was (43. 6) % as compared to an effective tax rate of 16. 4 % in 2023. Significant items impacting the
tax provision include: tax charges associated with non- deductible executive compensation under Code Section 162 (m),
changes in our estimated state effective tax rate and KWE recognizing higher tax gain on sales of real estate, which is
offset by a partial release of the valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset associated with our excess tax basis in
the KWE investment. During the year ended December 31, 2024, our net deferred tax asset (and associated valuation
allowance) related to our excess tax basis in the legacy UK real estate assets increased due to book depreciation taken on
UK real estate buildings, which is not subjected to depreciation for UK tax purposes. In addition, the deferred tax asset
(and associated valuation allowance) related to our investment in KWE increased due to higher taxable income
compared to book income. Preferred dividends were $ 43. S million for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared
to $ 38. 0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase was due to the issuance of $ 200 million of our
Series C cumulative perpetual preferred stock to affiliates of Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited (collectively,"
Fairfax') during June 2023. Comprehensive Income The two major components that drive the change in other
comprehensive income are the changes in foreign currency rates and the gains or loss of any associated foreign currency
hedges. Please refer to the section titled" Currency Risk- Foreign Currencies' in Item 7 for a discussion of our risks
relating to foreign currency and our hedging strategy. Below is a table that details the activity for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023. Year Ended December 31, (Dollars in millions) 20242023Net loss attributable to Kennedy-
Wilson Holdings, Inc. common shareholders $ (76. 5) § (341. 8) Unrealized foreign currency translation (loss) gain, net of
noncontrolling interests and tax (36. 1) 31. 3 Amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive loss during
the periodS. 1 — Unrealized foreign currency derivative contract gain (loss), net of noncontrolling interests and tax29. §
(5. 5) Comprehensive loss attributable to Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. common shareholders $ (78. 0) $ (316. 0) The
main currencies that the Company has exposure to are the euro and pound sterling. The table below represents the
change in rates over the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 as compared to the U. S. Dollar: Year Ended
December 31, 20242023Euro (6. 2) % 3.1 % GBP (1. 7) % 5. 2 % Comprehensive loss, net of taxes and noncontrolling
interests, for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was a loss of $ 78. 0 million and $ 316. 0 million, respectively.
The Company experienced net unrealized loss on foreign currency through other comprehensive income for the period
due to the EUR and GBP weakening against the U. S. Dollar. Unrealized hedge gains were driven by hedges that the
Company has on its GBP- denominated investments. Liquidity and Capital Resources Our liquidity and capital
resources requirements include acquisitions of real estate and real estate related assets, funding development projects,
loan draws (particularly on our construction loan business), capital expenditures for consolidated real estate and
unconsolidated investments, working capital needs, interest and principal payments on our debt and dividends to our
common and preferred shareholders. We finance these activities with internally generated funds through general
operations including rental income, interest income, asset management fees, asset sales, borrowings under our revolving
line of credit, sales of equity (common and preferred) and debt securities and cash out refinancings to the extent they are
available and fit within our overall portfolio leverage strategy. Our investments in real estate are typically financed with
equity from our balance sheet, third party equity and mortgage loans secured by such real estate. These mortgage loans
are generally non- recourse in that, in the event of default, recourse will be limited to the mortgaged property serving as
collateral, subject to limited customary exceptions. In some cases, we guarantee a portion of the loan related to a
consolidated property or an unconsolidated investment, usually until some condition, such as completion of construction
or leasing or certain net operating income criteria, has been met. We do not expect these guarantees to materially affect
liquidity or capital resources. Please refer to the section titled" Off Balance Sheet Arrangements" for further
information. Our short- term liquidity requirements primarily consist of operating expenses and other expenditures
associated with our properties and loan investments, dividend payments to our common and preferred shareholders,



interest on our unsecured corporate debt, development, redevelopment and capital expenditures and, potentially, share
repurchases and acquisitions. We currently expect to meet our short- term liquidity requirements through our existing
cash and cash equivalents plus capital generated from our investments, and sales of real estate as well as availability on
our current revolving lines of credit. Our need to raise funds from time to time to meet our capital requirements will
depend on many factors, including the success and pace of the implementation of our strategy for strategic and accretive
growth where appropriate. Additionally, we may opportunistically seek to raise capital (equity or debt) when we believe
market conditions are favorable and when consistent with our growth and financing strategies. We may also seek third
party financing to the extent that we engage in additional strategic investments, including in order to raise capital
necessary to execute potential development or redevelopment strategies or acquire real estate, note portfolios, or other
real estate related companies or real estate related securities. Similarly, we may from time to time seek to refinance our
existing indebtedness opportunistically in order to reduce our overall cost of debt capital or optimize the maturity
schedule of our outstanding indebtedness, or for other strategic reasons. We have an at- the- market (" ATM Program'')
pursuant to which we may issue and sell shares of the Company’ s common stock having an aggregate gross sales price
of up to $ 200. 0 million in amounts and at times as the Company determines from time to time. As of December 31, 2024,
the Company has $ 169. 9 million available under the ATM Program. The Company did not issue any shares under the
ATM program in 2024. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company issued 1. 7 million shares at a weighted
average price of $ 18. 07 per share for net proceeds of $ 29. 8 million under our ATM Program. The Company has no
obligation to sell any of such shares under its ATM Program. Actual sales will depend on a variety of factors to be
determined by the Company from time to time, including, among others, market conditions, the trading price of its
common stock, the Company' s determination of the appropriate sources of funding for the Company, and potential uses
of funding available. As of December 31, 2024, we and our consolidated subsidiaries had approximately $ 217. 5 million
($ 62. 6 million of which is in foreign currencies of GBP or EUR) of consolidated cash (as shown on our consolidated
balance sheet), our share of cash held at unconsolidated Co- Investment Portfolio assets was $ 137. S million and we had
$ 451. 7 million of availability under lines of credit. As of December 31, 2024, we have $ 94. 5 million of restricted cash,
which is included in cash and cash equivalents, that primarily relates to lender reserves associated with consolidated
mortgages that we hold on properties and reserves held on loans in the Construction Loan Portfolio (as defined herein)
on behalf of the borrowers under such loans. These reserves typically relate to interest, taxes, insurance and future
capital expenditures at the properties as well as reserves held on our loan investments. Additionally, we are subject to
withholding taxes to the extent we repatriate cash from certain of our foreign subsidiaries. Under the KWE Notes
covenants, we have to maintain certain interest coverage and leverage ratios to remain in compliance (see" Indebtedness
and Related Covenants'" for more detail on KWE Notes). Due to these covenants, we evaluate the tax and covenant
implications before we distribute cash, which could impact the availability of funds at the corporate level. As discussed
throughout this report, ongoing macroeconomic conditions, such as, but not limited to, elevated levels of inflation and
interest rates, banks' ability and willingness to lend, adverse developments affecting financial institutions and other
geopolitical issues, including large- scale conflicts and warfare, and government responses to the same, continue to
adversely impact the global economy and create volatility in our business results and operations, including our ability to
access the capital markets at desired terms or at all. In addition to such market conditions, Moody’ s Investors Service,
Inc. (" Moody' s'"') and Standard & Poor’ s Ratings Services (“ S & P ), a division of The McGraw- Hill Companies,
Inc., rate our outstanding debt. These ratings are based on a variety of factors, including our current leverage and
transactional activity. In December 2024, S & P downgraded us to ‘ B’ from ¢ BB-’, the KWE Notes to ¢ BB-’ from ‘ BB’
and the KWI Notes to ‘ B’ from ¢ B ’. These ratings and downgrades thereof may impact our ability to access the debt
market in the future at desired terms or at all. S & P also lowered their issue- level rating on Kennedy Wilson' s
preferred stock to'" CCC ". On June 5, 2023 Moody' s downgraded the Company' s rating from" B1" to" B2" with a
stable outlook. Please also see' Part I. Item 1A. Risk Factors''. Development and Redevelopment Kennedy Wilson has
market rate development, redevelopment and entitlement projects that are underway or are in the planning stages.
These initiatives, if completed, will result in market- rate income producing assets. As of December 31, 2024, we have 288
multifamily units we are actively developing. If these projects were brought to completion, the estimated share of the
Company' s total cost would be approximately $ 46. 0 million, which we expect would be funded through our existing
equity, third- party equity, project sales and secured debt financing. As of December 31, 2024, we have incurred $ 44. 0
million of costs to date and expect to spend an additional $ 23. 0 million to develop to completion or complete the
entitlement process on these projects. Of the $ 23. 0 million of remaining costs to complete, we currently expect it to be
funded through secured mortgage financing. This represents total capital over the life of the projects and is not a
representation of peak equity and does not take into account any distributions over the course of the investment. When
development projects are completed, they typically move into our unstabilized category as they undergo lease up post-
completion. In addition to the market rate development and redevelopment projects described above, we have 1, 870
affordable and / or age- restricted multifamily units within our VHH platform that we are currently developing or in the
process of stabilizing. We expect to have no cash equity basis in these projects at completion due to the use of property
level debt and proceeds from the sale of tax credits. If these projects are brought to completion, we expect to receive $ 23.
2 million in cash from paid developer fees and proceeds from the sale of tax credits. The figures described in the two
preceding paragraphs and in the table below are budgeted costs and are subject to change. There is no certainty that the
Company will develop or redevelop any or all of these potential projects and the Company and its equity partners are
under no obligation to complete these projects and may dispose of any such assets after adding value through the
entitlement process. These are budgeted figures and are subject to change (increase or decrease) due to a number of



factors (some of which are beyond our control), including, that these projects are being developed under construction
management contracts with the general contractors and therefore we and our equity partners could be called upon to
contribute additional capital in the event that actual costs exceed budgeted costs. The scope of these projects may also
change. The estimated costs and amounts of cash to complete projects reflected in the table below represent
management' s current expectations and the total costs incurred to date include the land costs of these projects. The table
below describes the market rate development or redevelopment projects that the Company is undergoing or considering,
and excludes the affordable and / or age- restricted multifamily units that it is developing in its VHH platform and its
residential investments ($ in millions). If CompletedCurrentLocationTypelnvestmentStatusEst. Completion Date (1) MF
UnitsKW Est. Total Cost (3) KW Costs Incurred (3) KW Est. Costs to Complete (2) Mountain
WestMultifamilyCloudveilUnder Construction2025288 46 22 23 Pacific NorthwestMultifamilyBendIn
PlanningTBDTBDTBD22 TBD Total288 $ 46 $ 44 $ 23 (1) The actual completion date for projects is subject to several
factors, many of which are not within our control. Accordingly, the projects identified may not be completed when
expected, or at all. (2) Figures shown in this column are an estimate of our remaining costs to develop to completion or to
complete the entitlement process, as applicable, as of December 31, 2024. Total remaining costs may be financed with
third- party cash contributions, proceeds from projected sales, and / or debt financing. These figures are budgeted costs
and are subject to change. There is no guarantee that we will be able to secure the project- level debt financing that is
assumed in the figures above. If we are unable to secure such financing, the amount of capital we will have to invest to
complete the projects above may significantly increase. Our cost to complete differs from our share total capitalization as
the latter includes costs that have already been incurred to date while the former relates to future estimated costs (3)
Includes land costs. Unstabilized and Value Add Capital Expenditure Programs We currently have seven assets that
comprise 1. 4 million commercial square feet, 150 hotel rooms and 232 multifamily units that are currently unstabilized
and are undergoing various stages of lease- up, value- add or development. In order to stabilize these assets we project
our share of costs to complete to be $ 20. 7 million. The cost to complete this work and the time frame described is
subject to many uncertainties that are beyond our control, and the actual costs may be significantly higher than the
estimates shown below. The table below describes assets that are currently unstabilized ($ in millions):
PropertyLocationTypeKW Ownership % # of AssetsCommercial Sq. Ft. Hotel Rooms / MF UnitsLeased % KW Est.
Costs (1) Kona VillageHawaiiHotelS0 % 1 — 150 N / A $ — Coopers Crosslreland (2) OfficeS0 % 1 395, 000 —— 3.0
The Cornerstonelreland (2) Multifamily50 % 1 27, 000 232 50 0. 8 The HeightsUnited Kingdom (2) Office51 % 1 356,
000 — 65 — Stockley ParkUnited Kingdom (2) Office100 % 1 54,000 — — — H4 and H7 at Hamilton Landing (3)
Northern CaliforniaOffice100 % 1 118, 000 — 34 S. 8 90 EastPacific NorthwestOffice100 % 1 410, 000 — — 11. 1 Total
Lease- Up7 1, 360, 000 382 24 % $ 20. 7 (1) Figures shown in this column are an estimate of KW' s remaining costs to
develop to completion or to complete the entitlement process, as applicable, as of December 31, 2024. Total remaining
costs may be financed with third- party cash contributions, proceeds from projected sales, and / or debt financing. These
figures are budgeted costs and are subject to change. There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to secure the
project- level debt financing that is assumed in the figures above. If the Company is unable to secure such financing, the
amount of capital that the Company will have to invest to complete the projects above may significantly increase. (2)
Estimated foreign exchange rates are € 1. 00 =35 1. 03 and £ 1. 00 = § 1. 25, related to NOI. In addition to our
development, redevelopment and stabilization initiatives, we regularly implement a value- add approach to our
consolidated and unconsolidated investments, which includes rehabbing properties and adding or updating property
amenities. The capital required to implement these value- add initiatives is typically funded with capital calls,
refinancing or supplemental financings at the property level. We are not required to make these investments, but they
are a key driver in our ability to increase net operating income at our properties post- acquisition. Other Items On
November 3, 2020, the Company' s board of directors authorized an expansion of its existing $ 250 million share
repurchase plan to $ S00 million. Repurchases under the program may be made in the open market, in privately
negotiated transactions, through the net settlement of the Company’ s restricted stock grants or otherwise, with the
amount and timing of repurchases dependent on market conditions and subject to the Company’ s discretion. The
program does not obligate the Company to repurchase any specific number of shares and, subject to compliance with
applicable laws, may be suspended or terminated at any time without prior notice. As of December 31, 2024, we had $
109. 7 million remaining under the plan for stock repurchases. Please see the section titled" Purchases of Equity
Securities by the Company" in Part II of this annual report on Form 10- K for additional information. The Company
maintains a deferred compensation program for certain employees of the Company (the “ Deferred Compensation
Program ). The named executive officers of the Company are not participants of the Deferred Compensation Program.
The compensation committee of the Company’ s board of directors approves an amount annually to be allocated to
certain employees of the Company in the United States and in Europe. The amount allocated to each employee vests
ratably over a three- year vesting period, subject to continued employment with the Company. Prior to 2022, half of the
allocated amount was tied specifically to the performance and value of the Company’ s common stock at the time of each
vesting (“ Bonus Units ”). Beginning in 2022, the entire amount allocated to each employee consisted of Bonus Units.
Under the Deferred Compensation Program, at the time of each vesting, the employees receive an amount equal to either
the dividend yield of the Company’ s common stock or the actual amount of dividends paid on the Company common
stock (in the case of Bonus Units) during the immediately preceding year on the amount that is subject to such vesting.
During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 the Company recognized $ 6. 4 million, $ 8. 2 million and $ 9.
2 million, respectively, under the Deferred Cash Bonus Program. As discussed throughout this report, the Company also
maintains a carried interests sharing program for certain employees of the Company (the “ Carried Interests Sharing



Program ). The compensation committee of the Company’ s board of directors recently approved, reserved and
authorized increasing the pool available for the Company employees from thirty- five percent to fifty percent issue of any
carried interests earned by certain commingled funds and separate account investments to be allocated to certain
employees of the Company. Sixty percent of the award to each employee vests ratably over four years and the remaining
forty percent vest upon the consummation of a liquidity event of the investment whereby the Company actually receives
cash carried interests from its partner. The full carried interests earned by the Company will be recorded to income
from unconsolidated investments and the amount allocated to employees is recorded as carried interests compensation.
Not all of the Company’ s co- investment structures are included in the Carried Interests Sharing Program either
because a structure does not incorporate carried interests that the Company is eligible to receive and / or a structure was
an existing structure prior to the Board’ s approval of the Carried Interests Sharing Program. As of December 31, 2024,
(i) of the 75 investments in the Company’ s co- investment portfolio, 11 of such investments are a part of the Carried
Interests Sharing Program; (ii) the Company’ s total accrued carried interests in its financial statements is $ 27. 6
million, of which § 7. 1 million was accrued as carried interests compensation expense as part of the Carried Interests
Program. During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized a reversal of $ 16. 6
million, $ 15. 1 million and $ 4. 3 million respectively of previously recognized expenses, related to this program. The
Company also maintains a global employee co- investment program (the “ Co- Investment Program ). The named
executive officers are not participants of the Co- Investment Program. Under the Co- Investment Program, certain
employees are provided the opportunity to invest alongside the Company in its investments (in all future investments
and certain recently acquired transactions). The amount of funds that the employees, as a group, can invest in the
Company’ s investments is capped at 1. 5 % of the Company’ s equity. Generally (with certain exceptions), participants
in the Co- Investment Program will make commitments to the program on an annual basis and invest in every
investment made by the Company (investments that such employee has an active role in acquiring and managing) in the
applicable year. Cash Flows The following table summarizes the cash provided by or used in our operating, investing
and financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: Year ended December 31, (Dollars in millions)
20242023Net cash provided by operating activities $ 55. 1 § 48. 9 Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities414. 2
(11. 7) Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (565. 5) (164. 8) Our cash flows from operating activities are
primarily dependent upon operations from consolidated properties, the operating distributions and fees from our Co-
Investment Platform, general and administrative costs, compensation and interest expense payments. For the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, cash flows provided by operations were $ 55. 1 million and $ 48. 9 million,
respectively. The increase in cash provided by operations was primarily due to fees and interest income earned on our
real estate credit business earned during the year ended December 31, 2024. Investing Our cash flows from investing
activities are generally comprised of cash used to fund property acquisitions, investments in unconsolidated investments,
capital expenditures, purchases of loans secured by real estate, as well as cash received from property sales and return of
capital from our co- investments. Net cash used in investing activities totaled $ 414. 2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we received $ 589. 5 million primarily from the sale of
Shelbourne Hotel, a building at the 90 East office complex in Issaquah, Washington, and two multifamily properties in
Western United States and non- core commercial assets in the United Kingdom and Spain. We received $ 86. 6 million in
investing distributions from our co- investments primarily from the sale of a multifamily property in the Western United
States, excess proceeds from refinancing mortgage loans on unconsolidated investments, conversion of VHH assets and
redemption of a hedge fund investment. Loan draws and our share of new loans issued as part of our global debt
platform were $ 40. 1 million. We received $ 49. 8 million of proceeds from repayments on loans previously issued. We
spent $ 131. 6 million on capital expenditures on consolidated assets primarily relating to development properties as well
as value add additions to our operating properties. We also contributed $ 125. 0 million to unconsolidated investments
that were primarily used to fund our share of new acquisitions made within our new commingled fund in the United
States, capital calls on European developments, capital calls on the Kona Village hotel while we are working towards
stabilization and a merger relating to our investment in Zonda. Net cash used in investing activities totaled $ 11. 7 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we received $ 383. 9 million primarily
from sale of equity interests in three Western United States multifamily properties into existing co- investment platforms
which triggered deconsolidation and the recognition of capital gains, the sale of a multifamily property in Western
United States to a third party, the sale of non- core retail assets in the United Kingdom, Ireland, Spain and Western
United States and a residential investment in the Western United States. We received $ 92. 4 million in investing
distributions from our co- investments primarily from the sale of assets within our comingled funds and financing
distributions from multifamily properties in Ireland. Our share of new loans issued acquired as part of our global debt
platform were $ 150. 2 million (including $ 106. 4 million relating to the Construction Loan Portfolio acquisition), and we
received $ 48. 9 million of proceeds from repayments on loans previously issued. We spent $ 217. 2 million on capital
expenditures on consolidated assets, as well as continued investments in our development properties and value add on
our operating properties. We also contributed $ 167. 4 million to unconsolidated investments that were primarily used to
fund our share of construction for the completion of Kona Village as well as European development projects and new
acquisitions made within our European Industrial JV platform and commingled funds. We spent $ 2. 1 million in
premiums on new derivative contracts entered into during the year ended December 31, 2023. Financing Our net cash
related to financing activities is generally impacted by capital- raising activities net of dividends and distributions paid to
common and preferred shareholders and noncontrolling interests as well as financing activities for consolidated real
estate investments. Net cash used in financing activities totaled $ 565. 5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.



We drew $ 170. 0 million on our revolving line of credit and repaid $ 215. 2 million on our revolving line of credit during
the year ended December 31, 2024. Kennedy Wilson received proceeds of $ 360. 7 million from mortgage loans to finance
and refinance consolidated property acquisitions. These proceeds were offset by the repayment of $ 521. 1 million of
mortgage debt, the $ 181. 1 million repayment of KWE Notes, and $ 13. 9 million of loan issuance costs primarily
relating to the extension of our revolving line of credit. Additionally, we paid common dividends of $ 100. 2 million and
preferred dividends of $ 43. 5 million, and we repurchased $ 15. 0 million of our common stock under our share
repurchase plan. Net cash used in financing activities totaled $ 164. 8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.
During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company received proceeds of $ 197. 4 million from the issuance of its
Series C perpetual preferred stock and warrants to Fairfax. We drew $ 50. 0 million on our revolving line of credit and
repaid $ 18S. 0 million on our revolving line of credit during the year ended December 31, 2023. Kennedy Wilson
received proceeds of $ 408. 9 million from mortgage loans to finance and refinance consolidated property acquisitions.
These proceeds were offset by the repayment of $ 446. 4 million of mortgage debt. Additionally, we paid common
dividends of $ 136. 0 million and preferred dividends of $ 35. 5 million, and we repurchased $ 20. 9 million of our
common stock under our share repurchase plan. Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments At December
31, 2024, Kennedy Wilson' s consolidated contractual cash obligations, including debt, lines of credit, operating leases
and ground leases included the following: Payments due by period (9) (Dollars in millions) TotalLess thanl yearl- 3
years4- 5 yearsAfter S yearsContractual obligationsBorrowings: (1) (4) Mortgage debt (2) $2,613.15$100.4$1,230.1$
507.7 $ 774. 9 Senior notes (3) 1, 800. 0 — — 1, 200. 0 600. 0 Credit facility98. 3 — 98. 3 — — KWE unsecured bonds (5)
310. 5 310. 5— — Total borrowings (4) 4, 821.9 410.9 1, 328.4 1, 707. 7 1, 374. 9 Operating leases9.90.72.02.34.9
Ground leases (8) 28.7 0.1 0. 4 0. 4 27. 8 Total contractual cash obligations (6) (7) $ 4, 860.5$411.7$1,330.8 $ 1, 710.
49 1,407.6 (1) See Notes 8- 10 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Figures do not include scheduled
interest payments. Assuming each debt obligation is held until maturity, we estimate that we will make the following
interest payments: Less than 1 year- $ 136. 7 million; 1- 3 years- $ 277. 5 million; 4- S years- § 91. 1 million; After 5
years- $ 36. 3 million. The interest payments on variable rate debt have been calculated at the interest rate in effect as of
December 31, 2024. (2) Excludes $ 1. 4 million net unamortized debt discount on mortgage debt. (3) Excludes $ 2. 7
million unamortized debt premium on senior notes. (4) Excludes $ 37. 8 million of unamortized loan fees. (5) Excludes $
0. S million net unamortized discount on KWE unsecured bonds. (6) Kennedy Wilson' s share of contractual obligations,
(excluding amounts that are attributable to noncontrolling interests), including debt, lines of credit, operating leases and
ground leases, consisted of the following: Less than 1 year- § 411. 7 million; 1- 3 years- $ 1, 329. 8 million; 4- 5 years- $ 1,
678. 1 million; After 5 years- $ 1, 368. 9 million. (7) Table above excludes $ 284. 7 million unfulfilled capital commitments
to our unconsolidated investments and $ 123. 4 million on loan investments. (8) Ground leases on consolidated assets.
Amounts are undiscounted and have leases that expire as far out as 2258. (9) Principal debt payments include the effect
of extension options. The following describes certain indebtedness and related covenants. On February 11, 2021,
Kennedy- Wilson, Inc., issued $ 500. 0 million aggregate principal amount of 2029 Notes and $ 500. 0 million aggregate
principal amount of 2031 Notes (together with the 2029 Notes, the “ initial notes ). On March 15, 2021, Kennedy-
Wilson, Inc. issued an additional $ 100 million aggregate principal of the 2029 Notes and an additional $ 100 million of
the 2031 Notes. These additional notes were issued as' additional notes' under the indentures pursuant to which
Kennedy Wilson previously issued 2029 Notes and the 2031 Notes. On August 23, 2021, Kennedy- Wilson, Inc. issued $
600. 0 million aggregate principal amount of 2030 Notes (together with the 2029 Notes, the 2031 Notes and the additional
notes, the'" notes'). The notes are senior, unsecured obligations of Kennedy Wilson and are guaranteed by Kennedy-
Wilson Holdings, Inc. and certain subsidiaries of Kennedy Wilson. The notes accrue interest at a rate of 4. 750 % (in the
case of the 2029 Notes), 4. 750 % (in the case of the 2030 Notes) and 5. 000 % (in the case of the 2031 Notes) per annum,
payable semi- annually in arrears on March 1 and September 1 of each year, beginning on September 1, 2021 for the
2029 Notes and 2031 Notes and March 1, 2022 for the 2030 Notes. The notes will mature on March 1, 2029 (in the case of
the 2029 Notes), February 1, 2030 (in case of 2030 Notes) and March 1, 2031 (in the case of the 2031 Notes), in each case
unless earlier repurchased or redeemed. At any time prior to March 1, 2024 (in the case of the 2029 Notes), September 1,
2024 (in the case of the 2030 Notes) or March 1, 2026 (in the case of the 2031 notes), Kennedy Wilson had the right to
(with the respect to the 2029 Notes and 20230 Notes) and may redeem the 2031 Notes, in whole or in part, at a
redemption price equal to 100 % of their principal amount, plus an applicable “ make- whole ” premium and accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date. At any time and from time to time on or after March 1, 2024 (in the
case of the 2029 Notes), September 1, 2024 (in the case of the 2030 Notes) or March 1, 2026 (in the case of the 2031
Notes), Kennedy Wilson may redeem the notes of the applicable series, in whole or in part, at specified redemption prices
set forth in the indenture governing the notes of the applicable series, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the
redemption date. In addition, prior to March 1, 2024 (for 2029 Notes and 2031 Notes) and September 1, 2024 (for 2030
Notes), Kennedy Wilson may redeem up to 40 % of the notes of either series from the proceeds of certain equity
offerings. No sinking fund will be provided for the notes. Upon the occurrence of certain change of control or
termination of trading events, holders of the notes may require Kennedy Wilson to repurchase their notes for cash equal
to 101 % of the principal amount of the notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but
excluding, the applicable repurchase date. The total amount of the 2029 Notes, 2030 Notes and 2031 Notes included in the
Company' s consolidated balance sheets was $ 1. 8 billion at December 31, 2024. KWE Notes As of December 31, 2024,
KWE has notes outstanding ("' KWE Notes") of $ 310. 0 million (based on December 31, 2024 rates), have an annual
fixed coupon of 3. 25 % and mature in 2025. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company redeemed a total
of $ 181. 1 million in aggregate nominal amount of the outstanding KWE Notes. The KWE Notes are subject to the



restrictive covenants discussed below. Borrowings Under Line of Credit On September 12, 2024, the Company, through
a wholly- owned subsidiary, extended its existing revolving line of credit and increased the capacity to $ 550 million ("
Third A & R Facility'"). The Third A & R Facility has a maturity date of September 12, 2027. Subject to certain
conditions precedent and at Kennedy- Wilson, Inc.’ s (the" Borrower'") option, the maturity date of the Third A & R
Facility may be extended by a year. The Company has $ 98. 3 million outstanding on the A & R Facility as of December
31, 2024 with $ 451. 7 million available to be drawn under the revolving credit facility. Debt Covenants The Third A & R
Facility and the indentures governing the notes contain numerous restrictive covenants that, among other things, limit
the Company and certain of its subsidiaries' ability to incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends or make distributions
to stockholders, repurchase capital stock or debt, make investments, sell assets or subsidiary stock, create or permit
liens, engage in transactions with affiliates, enter into sale / leaseback transactions, issue subsidiary equity and enter into
consolidations or mergers. The Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of September 12, 2024 (the"
Credit Agreement') also contains financial covenants, which require the Company to maintain (i) a maximum
consolidated leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of not greater than 65 %, measured as of the last day of
each fiscal quarter; (ii) a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of not less than 1.
60 to 1. 00, measured as of the last day of each fiscal quarter for the period of four full fiscal quarters then ended; (iii) a
minimum consolidated tangible net worth equal to or greater than the sum of $ 1, 844, 222, 000 plus an amount equal to
fifty percent (50 %) of net equity proceeds received by the Company after the date of the most recent financial
statements that are available as of September 12, 2024, measured as of the last day of each fiscal quarter; (iv) a
maximum recourse leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of not greater than an amount equal to
consolidated tangible net worth as of the measurement date multiplied by 1. 5, measured as of the last day of each fiscal
quarter; (v) a maximum secured recourse leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of not greater than an
amount equal to 3. 5 % of consolidated total asset value (as defined in the Credit Agreement) and $ 313, 054, 000,
measured as of the last day of each fiscal quarter; (vi) a maximum adjusted secured leverage ratio (as defined in the
Credit Agreement) of not greater than 55 %, measured as of the last day of each fiscal quarter; and (vii) liquidity (as
defined in the Credit Agreement) of at least $ 75. 0 million. As of December 31, 2024, the Company was in compliance
with the foregoing financial covenants. The obligations of the Borrower pursuant to the Credit Agreement are
guaranteed by the Company and certain wholly- owned subsidiaries of the Company. The indentures governing the
notes limit Kennedy- Wilson, Inc.' s ability to incur additional indebtedness if, on the date of such incurrence and after
giving effect to the new indebtedness, Kennedy- Wilson, Inc.' s maximum balance sheet leverage ratio (as defined in the
indenture) is greater than 1. 50 to 1. 00. This ratio is measured at the time of incurrence of additional indebtedness. The
KWE Notes require KWE to maintain (i) consolidated net indebtedness (as defined in the trust deed for the notes) of no
more than 60 % of the total asset value; (ii) consolidated secured indebtedness (less cash and cash equivalents) of no
more than 50 % of total asset value; (iii) an interest coverage ratio of at least 1. 5 to 1. 0, and (iv) unencumbered assets of
no less than 125 % of the unsecured indebtedness (less cash & cash equivalents). The covenants associated with KWE
Notes are not an obligation of KWH and these amounts are presented as a component of our investment debt as it is an
unsecured obligation relating to an underlying investment of ours. As of December 31, 2024, the Company was in
compliance with these covenants. In addition, loan agreements that govern the Company' s property- level non- recourse
financings that are secured by its properties may contain operational and financial covenants, including but not limited
to, debt yield related covenants and debt service coverage ratio covenants and, with respect to mortgages secured by
certain properties in Europe, loan- to- value ratio covenants. Property- level non- recourse financings with such loan- to-
value covenants require that the underlying properties are valued on a periodic basis (at least annually). As of December
31, 2024, the Company was in compliance with all property- level mortgages and was current on all payments (principal
and interest) with respect to the same. The failure by the Company to comply with such covenants and / or secure
waivers from lenders could result in defaults under these instruments. In addition, if the Company defaults under a
mortgage loan and / or such loan is accelerated by the lender, it may automatically be in default under any of its
property and corporate unsecured loans that contain cross- default and / or cross- acceleration provisions. Please also
see Part 1. Item 1A Risk Factors. Off- Balance Sheet Arrangements Guarantees We have provided guarantees associated
with loans secured by consolidated assets. At December 31, 2024, the maximum potential amount of future payments
(undiscounted) we could be required to make under the guarantees was approximately $ 119. 4 million at December 31,
2024. The guarantees expire through 2031 and our performance under the guarantees would be required to the extent
there is a shortfall in liquidation between the principal amount of the loan and the net sale proceeds of the applicable
properties. If we were to become obligated to perform on these guarantees, it could have an adverse effect on our
financial condition. Most of our real estate properties within our equity partnerships are encumbered by traditional
non- recourse debt obligations. In connection with most of these loans, however, we entered into certain “ non- recourse
carve out ” guarantees, which provide for the loans to become partially or fully recourse against us if certain triggering
events occur. Although these events are different for each guarantee, some of the common events include: * subject to
certain conditions, the special purpose property- owning subsidiary’ s failure to obtain lender’ s written consent prior to
any subordinate financing or other voluntary lien encumbering the associated property. In the event that any of these
triggering events occur and the loans become partially or fully recourse against us, our business, financial condition,
results of operations and common stock price could be materially adversely affected. In addition, other items that are
customarily recourse to a non- recourse carve out guarantor include, but are not limited to, the payment of real property
taxes, liens which are senior to the mortgage loan and outstanding security deposits. Capital Commitments As of
December 31, 2024, we have unfulfilled capital commitments totaling $ 284. 7 million to our unconsolidated investments



and $ 123. 4 million to our loan portfolio. In addition to the unfunded capital commitments on its joint venture
investments, has $ 1. 2 million of equity commitments relating to unconsolidated development projects and $ 43. 4
million at its share related to future ground lease payments that run through 2085 on Kona Village. As we identify
investment opportunities in the future, we may be called upon to contribute additional capital to unconsolidated
investments in satisfaction of our capital commitment obligations. Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices As discussed
throughout this report, high inflation impacted the global economy during the year ended December 31, 2024 and
continues to impact the global economy. Our exposure to market risk from changing prices consists primarily of
fluctuations in rental rates of commercial and multifamily properties, market interest rates on investment mortgages
and debt obligations and real estate property values. Rental rate increases are dependent upon market conditions and
the competitive environments in the respective locations of the properties. To the extent that we engage in development
activities, we may have exposure to changing prices in materials or cost of labor. The revenues of the investment
management operations with respect to rental properties are highly dependent upon the aggregate rents of the
properties managed, which are affected by rental rates and building occupancy rates. Employee compensation is the
principal cost element of investment management. We may be able to recoup all or a significant portion of any impact
that we may suffer from rising costs through rental increases. To the extent that the rate of increase in expenses is
greater than the rate of increase in rental rates, changing price will have an adverse impact on the Company. See also
Inflation may adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations in Item 1A. Risk Factors for more
detailed discussion on the impact of inflation on the Company. Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market
Risk Our primary market risk exposure relates to changes in interest rates in connection with our short- term
borrowings and fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates in connection with our foreign operations. We have
established an interest rate management policy, which attempts to minimize our overall cost of debt while taking into
consideration the earnings implications associated with the volatility of short- term interest rates. As part of this policy,
we have elected to maintain a combination of variable and fixed rate debt. As of December 31, 2024, 82 % of our
consolidated debt is fixed rate, 17 % is floating rate with interest caps. As such, fluctuations in interest rates may impact
our floating rate debt (and floating rate debt with interest caps to a lesser extent) and cause our consolidated interest
expense and income from unconsolidated investments to fluctuate. Typically, these fluctuations do not give rise to a
significant long- term interest rate risk because they generally have short maturities. We hold variable rate debt on some
of our consolidated and unconsolidated properties that is subject to interest rate fluctuations. These variable rates
generally are based on the lender’ s base rate, prime rate, EURIBOR, GBP LIBOR, SOFR, SONIA plus an applicable
borrowing margin. Additionally, in order to mitigate some of the risk associated with increasing interest rates, we have
purchased interest rate caps that limit the amount that interest expense can increase with rate increases. However, some
of our debt is uncapped and the mortgages that do have interest caps are subject to increased interest expense until rates
hit the level of caps that have been purchased. If there was a 100- basis point increase or decrease, we would have a $ 3.
3 million increase in interest expense or $ 8. 0 million decrease in interest expense savings during 2025 on our current
share of indebtedness. The weighted average strike price on caps and maturity of Kennedy Wilson’ s variable rate
mortgages are 3. 17 % and approximately 1. 2 years, respectively, as of December 31, 2024. The table below represents
contractual balances of our financial instruments at the expected maturity dates as well as the fair value as of December
31, 2024. The weighted average interest rate for the various assets and liabilities presented are actual as of December 31,
2024. We closely monitor the fluctuation in interest rates, and if rates were to increase significantly, we believe that we
would be able to either hedge the change in the interest rate or refinance the loans with fixed interest rate debt. All
instruments included in this analysis are non- trading. Principal Maturing in: Fair Value
20252026202720282029ThereafterTotalDecember 31, 2024 (Dollars in millions) Interest rate sensitive assetsCash
equivalents $219.98 —$—8$—8$—$—$219.9 $ 219. 9 Average interest ratel. 87 % — % — % — % — % — % 1.
87 % — Fixed rate receivables17. 8 12.2 19.510. 0 — 6. 1 65. 6 62. 7 Average interest rate (1) 3. 64 % 5. 76 % 4. 00 % 6.
80 % — % 6. 49 % 4. 89 % — Variable rate receivables38.2 90.151.3 7.2 0. 7— 187. 5 185. 1 Average interest rate9.
32%8.49 % 7.93 % 7.92 % 8.05 % — % 8.49 % — Total $275.9$102.3570.8517.250.78$6.15473.08 467.7
Weighted average interest rate (1) 3. 02 % 8. 17 % 6. 85 % 17. 20 % 8. 05 % 6. 49 % 4. 91 % Interest rate sensitive
liabilitiesVariable rate borrowings $ 28. 2 $ 335.2 $ 237.4 $106. 9$ — $ 167. 4 $ 875.1 $ 866. 2 Average interest rate6.
16 % 6.51 % 6. 72 % 6. 45 % — % 6. 04 % 4. 46 % — Fixed rate borrowings370. 5 226. 6 102. 0 324.2 1, 507. 9 1, 415. 6
3, 946. 8 3, 608. 1 Average interest rate3. 43 % 4. 02 % 3. 86 % 4. 63 % 4. 67 % 4. 44 % 4. 41 % — Total $ 398. 7 § 561. 8
$339.45$431.1$1,507.9%$1,583.09$4,821.9 $ 4, 474. 3 Weighted average interest rate3. 62 % 5. 51 % 5. 86 % 5. 08
% 4. 67 % 4. 61 % 4. 78 % (1) Interest rate sensitive assets' weighted average interest rates are exclusive of non-
performing receivables. A significant portion of our business is located outside the United States. As such, we have
foreign currency fluctuation risk with respect to those investments and business units. In certain instances, we utilize
foreign currency hedging derivatives to mitigate the impact of this risk on our equity. The financial statements of
Kennedy Wilson' s subsidiaries located outside the United States are measured using the local currency, as this is their
functional currency. The assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated at the rates of exchange at the balance
sheet date and income and expenses are translated at the average monthly rate. The foreign currencies include the euro
and the British pound sterling. Cumulative translation adjustments, to the extent not included in cumulative net income,
are included in the consolidated statement of equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income.
Currency translation gains and losses and currency derivative gains and losses will remain in other comprehensive
income unless and until the Company substantially liquidates underlying investments. Approximately 34 % of our
investment account is invested through our foreign platforms in their local currencies. Investment level debt is generally



incurred in local currencies and therefore we consider our equity investment as the appropriate exposure to evaluate for
hedging purposes. Additionally, the costs to operate these businesses, such as compensation, overhead and interest
expense are incurred in local currencies. We typically do not hedge future operations or cash flows of operations
denominated in foreign currencies, which may have a significant impact on the results of our operations for both the
Consolidated and Co- Invest segments. In order to manage the effect of these fluctuations, we generally hedge our book
equity exposure to foreign currencies through currency forward contracts and options. As of December 31, 2024, we
have hedged 95 % of the gross asset carrying value of our euro- denominated investments and 83 % of the gross asset
carrying value of our GBP- denominated investments. Our investment management businesses typically do not require
much capital, so foreign currency translation and derivative activity primarily relates to the investments segment as that
has greater balance sheet exposure to foreign currency fluctuations. If there was a S % increase or decrease in foreign
exchange rates on the currencies we invest to the U. S. Dollar our net asset value would increase by $ 20. 5 million or
decrease by $ 22. 4 million. If rates moved 10 %, we would have an increase of $ 39. 5 million and a decrease of $ 44. 7
million. Financial Measures and Descriptions. Rental- Rental income is comprised of rental revenue earned by our
consolidated real estate investments. Hotel- Hotel income is comprised of hotel revenue earned by our consolidated
hotels. Investment Management Fees- Investment management fees are primarily comprised of base asset management
fees and acquisition fees generated by our investment management division. Fees earned from consolidated investments
are eliminated in consolidation with the amount relating to our equity partners being recognized through income
attributable to noncontrolling interests. Loans- Interest income earned on consolidated loans. Income from
unconsolidated investments- principal co- investments- Income from unconsolidated investments- principal co-
investments consists of the Company’ s share of income or loss earned on investments in which the Company can
exercise significant influence but does not have control. Income from unconsolidated investments includes income or loss
from ordinary course operations of the underlying investment, gains or losses on sale and fair value gains and losses.
Income from unconsolidated investments- carried interests- Carried interests relate to allocations to the general partner,
special limited partner or asset manager of Kennedy Wilson' s co- investments it manages based on the cumulative
performance of the fund and are subject to preferred return thresholds of the limited partners. Gain on sale of real
estate, net- Gain on sale of real estate, net relates to the amount received over the carrying value of assets sold.
Impairments on consolidated real estate assets are also recorded to this line to the extent that do not require separate
presentation. Rental- Rental expenses consist of the expenses of our consolidated real estate investments, including items
such as property taxes, insurance, maintenance and repairs, utilities, supplies, salaries and management fees. Hotel-
Hotel expenses consist of expenses of our consolidated hotel investments, including items such as property taxes,
insurance, maintenance and repairs, utilities, supplies, salaries and management fees. Compensation and related-
Employee compensation, comprising of salary, bonus, employer payroll taxes and benefits paid on behalf of employees.
Carried interests compensation- Compensation associated with up to thirty- five percent (35 %) of any carried interests
earned by certain commingled funds and separate account investments to be allocated to certain non- NEO employees of
the Company. General and administrative- General and administrative expenses represent administrative costs
necessary to run Kennedy Wilson' s businesses and include items such as occupancy and equipment expenses,
professional fees, public company costs, travel and related expenses, and communications and information services.
Depreciation and amortization- Depreciation and amortization is comprised of depreciation expense which is recognized
ratably over the useful life of an asset and amortization expense which primarily consist of the amortization of assets
allocated to the value of in- place leases upon acquisition of a consolidated real estate asset. Interest expense- Interest
expense represents interest costs associated with our senior notes payable, revolving credit facility, mortgages on our
consolidated real estate, and unsecured debt held by KWE. Other income (loss)- Other income (loss) includes the
realized foreign currency exchange income or loss relating to the settlement of foreign transactions during the year
which arise due to changes in currency exchange rates, realized gains or losses related to undesignated derivative
instruments, interest income on bank deposits, commission expenses on property services and transaction related
expenses related to unsuccessful deals. Income taxes- The Company’ s services business operates globally as corporate
entities subject to federal, state, and local income taxes and the investment business operates through various
partnership structures to acquire wholly- owned or jointly- owned investments in multifamily, commercial, residential
and development properties. The Company’ s distributive share of income from its partnership investments will be
subject to federal, state, and local taxes and the related tax provision attributable to the Company’ s share of the income
tax is reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)- Accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) represents the Company' s share of foreign currency movement on translating
Kennedy Wilson' s foreign subsidiaries from their functional currency into the Company' s reporting currency. These
amounts are offset by Kennedy Wilson' s effective portion of currency related hedge instruments that have been
designated. “ KWH, ”" KW," “ Kennedy Wilson, ” the" Company,"" we,"" our," or" us'" refers to Kennedy- Wilson
Holdings, Inc. and its wholly- owned subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the
results of the Company' s consolidated subsidiaries. “ KWE > refers to Kennedy Wilson Europe Real Estate Limited. «
Adjusted EBITDA ” represents net (loss) income before interest expense, loss (gain) on early extinguishment of debt, our
share of interest expense included in unconsolidated investments, depreciation and amortization, our share of
depreciation and amortization included in unconsolidated investments, preferred dividends, provision for (benefit from)
income taxes, our share of taxes included in unconsolidated investments, share- based compensation expense for the
Company, and EBITDA attributable to noncontrolling interests. Please also see the reconciliation to GAAP in the
Company’ s supplemental financial information included in this release and also available at www. kennedywilson. com.



Our management uses Adjusted EBITDA to analyze our business because it adjusts net income for items we believe do
not accurately reflect the nature of our business going forward or that relate to non- cash compensation expense or
noncontrolling interests. Such items may vary for different companies for reasons unrelated to overall operating
performance. Additionally, we believe Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investors to assist them in getting a more accurate
picture of our results from operations. However, Adjusted EBITDA is not a recognized measurement under GAAP and
when analyzing our operating performance, readers should use Adjusted EBITDA in addition to, and not as an
alternative for, net income as determined in accordance with GAAP. Because not all companies use identical
calculations, our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other
companies. Furthermore, Adjusted EBITDA is not intended to be a measure of free cash flow for management’ s
discretionary use, as it does not remove all non- cash items or consider certain cash requirements such as tax and debt
service payments. The amount shown for Adjusted EBITDA also differs from the amount calculated under similarly
titled definitions in our debt instruments, which are further adjusted to reflect certain other cash and non- cash charges
and are used to determine compliance with financial covenants and our ability to engage in certain activities, such as
incurring additional debt and making certain restricted payments. “ Adjusted Net Income (Loss) ” represents net
income (loss) before depreciation and amortization, Kennedy Wilson' s share of depreciation and amortization included
in unconsolidated investments, share- based compensation, and excluding net income attributable to noncontrolling
interests, before depreciation and amortization. “ Carried interests > relates to allocations to the Company of Kennedy
Wilson' s co- investments it invests in and manages based on the cumulative performance of the fund or investment
vehicle, as applicable, and are subject to preferred return thresholds of the limited partners. “ Carried interests
compensation ”- the compensation committee of the Company’ s board of directors approved and reserved between
twenty percent (20 %) and thirty- five percent (35 %) of any carried interests earned by certain commingled funds and
separate account investments to be allocated to certain non- NEO employees of the Company. “ Cap rate ” represents the
net operating income of an investment for the year preceding its acquisition or disposition, as applicable, divided by the
purchase or sale price, as applicable. Capitalization (" Cap") rates discussed in this report only include data from
income- producing properties. The Company calculates cap rates based on information that is supplied to it during the
acquisition diligence process. This information is not audited or reviewed by independent accountants and may be
presented in a manner that is different from similar information included in the Company' s financial statements
prepared in accordance with GAAP. In addition, cap rates represent historical performance and are not a guarantee of
future net operating income ("' NOI"). Properties for which a cap rate is discussed may not continue to perform at that
cap rate. “ Co- Investment Portfolio NOI ” refers to the Company' s share of NOI that is generated from the properties
in which the Company has an ownership interest and that are held in the Company' s Co- Investment Portfolio business
segment. Please also see “ Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-
Certain Non- GAAP Measures and Reconciliations ” for a reconciliation of Co- Investment Portfolio NOI to net income
as reported under GAAP. “ Consolidated Portfolio NOI ” refers to the NOI that is generated from the properties that the
Company has an ownership interest in and are held in the Company' s Consolidated Portfolio business segment. Please
also see “ Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations- Certain Non-
GAAP Measures and Reconciliations ” for a reconciliation of Consolidated Portfolio NOI to net income as reported
under GAAP." Equity partners" refers to non- wholly- owned subsidiaries that we consolidate in our financial
statements under U. S. GAAP and third- party equity providers." Fee Bearing Capital" represents total third- party
committed or invested capital that we manage in our joint ventures, commingled funds, and debt platform that entitle us
to earn fees, including without limitation, asset management fees, construction management fees, acquisition and
disposition fees and / or carried interest, if applicable." Gross Asset Value ” refers to the gross carrying value of assets,
before debt, depreciation and amortization, and net of noncontrolling interests." Net operating income" or" NOI ” is a
non- GAAP measure representing the income produced by a property calculated by deducting certain property expenses
from property revenues. The Company' s management uses net operating income to assess and compare the
performance of its properties and to estimate their fair value. Net operating income does not include the effects of
depreciation or amortization or gains or losses from the sale of properties because the effects of those items do not
necessarily represent the actual change in the value of the Company' s properties resulting from its value- add initiatives
or changing market conditions. Management believes that net operating income reflects the core revenues and costs of
operating its properties and is better suited to evaluate trends in occupancy and lease rates. Please also see *
Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Certain Non- GAAP
Measures and Reconciliations ” for a reconciliation of Net Operating Income to net income as reported under GAAP and
a reconciliation of Net Operating Income (Net Effective) (with respect to same property) to net income as reported under
GAAP." Noncontrolling interests' represents the portion of equity ownership in a consolidated subsidiary not
attributable to Kennedy Wilson. “ Principal co- investments > consists of the Company’ s share of income or loss earned
on investments in which the Company can exercise significant influence but does not have control. Income from
unconsolidated investments includes income from ordinary course operations of the underlying investment, gains on
sale, fair value gains and losses." Real Estate Assets under Management' (" AUM") generally refers to the properties
and other assets with respect to which the Company provides (or participates in) oversight, investment management
services and other advice, and which generally consist of real estate properties or loans, and investments in joint
ventures. AUM is principally intended to reflect the extent of the Company' s presence in the real estate market, not the
basis for determining management fees. AUM consists of the total estimated fair value of the real estate properties, total
loan commitments made through out debt investment platform, inclusive of both currently outstanding loan amounts



and contractual future fundings, and other real estate- related assets either owned by third parties, wholly- owned by the
Company or held by joint ventures and other entities in which its sponsored funds or investment vehicles and client
accounts have invested. The estimated value of development properties is included at estimated completion cost. The
accuracy of estimating fair value for investments cannot be determined with precision and cannot be substantiated by
comparison to quoted prices in active markets and may not be realized in a current sale or immediate settlement of the
asset or liability (particularly given the ongoing macroeconomic conditions such as, but not limited to recent adverse
developments affecting regional banks and other financial institutions, and ongoing military conflicts around the world
and uncertainty with respect to fluctuating interest rates continue to fuel recessionary fears and create volatility in
Kennedy Wilson' s business results and operations). Recently, there has also been a lack of liquidity in the capital
markets as well as limited transactions which has had an impact on the inputs associated with fair values. Additionally,
there are inherent uncertainties in any fair value measurement technique, and changes in the underlying assumptions
used, including capitalization rates, discount rates, liquidity risks, and estimates of future cash flows could significantly
affect the fair value measurement amounts. All valuations of real estate involve subjective judgments. “ Same property ”
refers to stabilized consolidated and unconsolidated properties in which Kennedy Wilson has an ownership interest
during the entire span of both periods being compared. This analysis excludes properties that during the comparable
periods (i) were acquired, (ii) were sold, (iii) are either under development or undergoing lease up or major
repositioning as part of the Company’ s asset management strategy, (iv) were investments in which the Company holds a
minority ownership position, and (v) certain non- recurring income and expenses. The analysis only includes Office,
Multifamily and Hotel properties, where applicable. To derive an appropriate measure of operating performance across
the comparable periods, the Company removes the effects of foreign currency exchange rate movements by using the
reported period- end exchange rate to translate from local currency into the U. S. dollar, for both periods. Amounts are
calculated using Kennedy Wilson’ s ownership share in the Company’ s consolidated and unconsolidated properties.
Management evaluates the performance of the operating properties the Company owns and manages using a “ same
property ” analysis because the population of properties in this analysis is consistent from period to period, which allows
management and investors to analyze (i) the Company’ s ongoing business operations and (ii) the revenues and expenses
directly associated with owning and operating the Company’ s properties and the impact to operations from trends in
occupancy rates, rental rates and operating costs. Same property metrics are widely recognized measures in the real
estate industry, however, other publicly- traded real estate companies may not calculate and report same property
results in the same manner as the Company. Please also see “ Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations- Certain Non- GAAP Measures and Reconciliations ” for a reconciliation of * same
property ” results to the most comparable measure reported under GAAP. We use certain non- GAAP measures to
analyze our business, including Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income. We use these metrics for evaluating the
success of our company and believe that they enhance the understanding of our operating results. A reconciliation of net
income to Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income is presented below: Years Ended December 31, (Dollars in
millions) 20242023202220212020Net (loss) income $ (33.7) $ (281.4) $101. 9 $ 336.4 $ 107. 8 Non- GAAP adjustments:
Add back (less): Interest expense261. 1 259. 2 220. 8 192. 4 201. 9 Loss (gain) on early extinguishment of debtl. 7 1. 6 (27.
5) 45. 7 9. 3 Kennedy Wilson' s share of interest expense included in unconsolidated investments131. 0 99. 1 60. 2 40. 2 33.
0 Depreciation and amortization148. 3 157. 8 172. 9 166. 3 179. 6 Kennedy Wilson' s share of depreciation and
amortization included in unconsolidated investments4. 0 3. 2 3. 5 5. 3 6. 9 Provision for (benefit from) income taxes10. 2
(55. 3) 36. 2 126. 2 43. 6 Kennedy Wilson' s share of taxes included in unconsolidated investments0.4 0.12.7 —1. 1
Share- based compensation23. 6 34. 5 29. 0 28. 7 32. 3 EBITDA attributable to noncontrolling interests (1) (6. 9) (29. 0) (8.
2) (13. 3) (7. 5) Adjusted EBITDA (2) $539.7 $ 189.8 $591.5$ 927.9 $ 608. 0 (1) (2) See" Non- GAAP Measures and
Certain Definitions" for definitions and discussion of Adjusted EBITDA. Years Ended December 31, (Dollars in millions)
20242023202220212020Net (loss) income $ (33.7) $ (281.4) $101.9 $ 336.4 $ 107. 8 Non- GAAP adjustments: Add back
(less): Depreciation and amortization148. 3 157. 8 172. 9 166. 3 179. 6 Kennedy Wilson' s share of depreciation and
amortization included in unconsolidated investments4. 0 3. 2 3. 5 5. 3 6. 9 Share- based compensation23. 6 34. 5 29. 0 28.
7 32. 3 Net income attributable to the noncontrolling interests, before depreciation and amortization (1) (4. 4) (27. 4) (13.
5) (10. 5) (2. 5) Preferred dividends (43. 5) (38. 0) (28. 9) (17. 2) (17. 2) Adjusted Net Income (Loss) (2) $94.3 $ (151.3) $
264.9 $509.0 $306.9 (1) (2) See" Non- GAAP Measures and Certain Definitions' for definitions and discussion of
Adjusted Net Income. Years Ended December 31, 202420232022Consolidated PortfolioCo- Investment
PortfolioConsolidated PortfolioCo- Investment PortfolioConsolidated PortfolioCo- Investment PortfolioNet (loss) income
$(33.7)$6.5%(281.4) $ (252.8) $101.9 $ 178. 4 Less: Provision for (benefit from) income taxes10. 2 0. 4 (55. 3) 0. 2 36.
2 2.7 Less: Loss (income) from unconsolidated investments (6. S) — 252. 8 — (178. 4) — Less: (Gain) loss on sale of real
estate, net (1) (160. 1) (32. 6) (127. 6) — (103. 7) (4. 9) Add: Interest expense261. 1 131. 0 259. 2 99. 0 220. 8 60. 1 Less:
Loss (gain) on early extinguishment of debtl. 7— 1. 6 — (27. 5) — Less: Other (income) loss (4. 2) 25.4 5. 0 26. 6 (36. 1)
17. 9 Less: Sale of real estate (1) — (46. 7) — (19. 5) — (52. 0) Less: Interest income (31. 2) — (26. 1) — (11. 7) — Less:
Investment management and property services (100. 3) — (64. 1) — (46. 5) — Less: Carried interests — 49. 7 — 64. 3 —
21. 1 Add: Cost of real estate sold (1) — 43.1 — 13. 6 — 40. 7 Add: Compensation and related134. 8 — 139. 4 — 140. 3
— Add: Carried interests expense (16. 6) — (15. 1) — (4. 3) — Add: General and administrative 38. 8 —35.7 —37.2 —
Add: Depreciation 148. 3 3.9 157. 8 3.2 172. 9 3. 8 Less: Fair value adjustments — 9. 8 — 233. 7 — (110. 2) Less: NCI
adjustments (8. 1) — (7. 6) — (6. 9) — Net Operating Income $ 234.2 $190.5 $274.3 $168.3 $294.2 §$ 157. 6 (1) The
Company’ s joint ventures in its Co- Investment business segment predominantly acquire and hold and may ultimately
dispose of operating properties which are presented by the Company as net gain or loss on disposition under ASC Topic



606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ Topic 606 ) because the disposition is not considered an “ output of the
entity’ s ordinary activities. ” Certain joint ventures in the same business segment, however, dispose of non- operating
properties (such as land and condominiums) from time- to- time, and such sales are an “ output of the entity’ s ordinary
activities ” under Topic 606. Accordingly the sale of such real estate is presented by the Company on a gross basis (sale
of real estate and cost of real estate sold), and, therefore, the portion of the same that is not attributable to the Company’
s ownership share is excluded from Co- Investment NOI. Years Ended December 31, 20212020Consolidated PortfolioCo-
Investment PortfolioConsolidated PortfolioCo- Investment PortfolioNet income $ 336.4 $ 389.0 $ 107. 8 $ 81. 0 Add:
Provision for income taxes126. 2 — 43. 6 1. 0 Less: Income from unconsolidated investments (389. 0) — (81. 0) — Less:
(Gain) loss on sale of real estate, net (1) (412. 7) 3.1 (338. 0) 11. 5 Add: Interest expensel192. 4 40. 0 201. 9 33. 1 Add: Loss
on extinguishment of debt4S. 7 — 9.3 — Add: Other loss5. 0 17. 9 2. 3 13. 7 Less: Sale of real estate (1) — (39.5) — (11.
5) Less: Interest income (8. 6) — (3. 1) — Less: Investment management and property services (37. 4) — (33. 1) — Add:
Carried interests expense — (117. 9) — (2. 6) Add: Cost of real estate sold (1) — 36. 8 — 13. 3 Add: Compensation and
related162. 6 — 144. 2 — Add: Carried interests expense42. 0 — 0. 2 — Add: General and administrative 33. 3 — 34. 6
— Add: Depreciation 166. 3 5. 6 179. 6 6. 9 Less: Fair value adjustments — (210. 6) — (43. 9) Less: NCI adjustments (6.
4) — (6. 0) — Net Operating Income $ 255. 8 § 124. 4 $ 262. 3 $ 102. 5 December 31, 2024 ($ in millions) ConsolidatedCo-
InvestmentNon SegmentTotalCash $ 117.4$ — $ 100. 1 § 217. 5 Real estate4, 290. 4 — — 4, 290. 4 Unconsolidated
Investments — 2, 042. 4 — 2, 042. 4 Loan purchases and originations — 231. 1 — 231. 1 Accounts receivable and other
assets99. 7 — 80. 0 179. 7 Total Assets $ 4,507.5$2,273.5$180.1 $ 6, 961. 1 Accounts payable and accrued
expenses118. 7 — 421. 5 540. 2 Mortgage debt2, 597. 2 — — 2, 597. 2 KW unsecured debt — — 1, 877.9 1, 877. 9 KWE
Notes309. 8 — — 309. 8 Total Liabilities3, 025. 7— 2, 299. 4 §, 325. 1 Equity1, 481. 8 2, 273. 5 (2, 119. 3) 1, 636. 0 Total
liabilities and equity $ 4, 507.5 $ 2,273.5$ 180.1 $ 6, 961. 1 December 31, 2023 ($ in millions) ConsolidatedCo-
InvestmentNon SegmentTotalCash $ 184.2 § — $ 129. 5 § 313. 7 Real estate4, 837. 3 — — 4, 837. 3 Unconsolidated
Investments — 2, 069. 1 — 2, 069. 1 Loan purchases and originations — 247. 2 — 247. 2 Accounts receivable and other
assets146. 1 — 98. 7 244. 8 Total Assets $ 5,167.6 $ 2,316.3 $228.2 $ 7, 712. 1 Accounts payable and accrued
expenses154. 3 — 461. 4 615. 7 Mortgage debt2, 840. 9 — — 2, 840. 9 KW unsecured debt — — 1, 934. 3 1, 934. 3 KWE
Notes522. 8 — — 522. 8 Total Liabilities3, 518. 0 — 2, 395. 7 §, 913. 7 Equity1, 649. 6 2, 316. 3 (2, 167.5) 1, 798. 4 Total
liabilities and equity $ 5, 167. 6 $ 2,316.3 $ 228.2 § 7, 712. 1 Same property analysis The tables below are reconciliations
of non- GAAP measures included in the Company' s same property analysis to their most comparable GAAP measures.
Same Property- Revenue (6) * For the Year Ended December 31, 20242023 Total Revenue $ 531. 4 $ 562. 6 Less:
Investment management fees (98. 9) (61. 9) Less: Other (1. 4) (2. 2) Less: Loans (31. 2) (26. 1) Less: NCI adjustments (1)
(12. 3) (12. 8) Add: Unconsolidated investment adjustments (2) 193. 1 187. 5 Add: Above / below market rents (6) (1. 1)
(1. 8) Less: Reimbursement of recoverable operating expenses (31. 7) (33. 2) Less: Properties bought and sold (3) (29. 0)
(109. 0) Less: Other properties excluded (4) (36. 2) (36. 7) Other Reconciling Items (5) (6. 1) (4. 4) Same Property $ 476. 6
$ 462. 0 Same Property- Revenue (6) * For the Year Ended December 31, Same Property (Reported) 202420230Office-
Same Property $ 109. 5 $ 107. 1 Multifamily Market Rate Portfolio- Same Property300. 3 292. 0 Multifamily Affordable
Portfolio- Same Property66. 8 62. 9 Same Property $ 476. 6 $ 462. 0 (*) This is a Non- GAAP financial measure. Please
see our “ Common Definitions ” for a further explanation and discussion. (1) Represents rental revenue and hotel
revenue attributable to non- controlling interests. (2) Represents the Company’ s share of unconsolidated investment
rental revenues, as applicable, which are within the applicable same property population. (3) Represents properties
excluded from the same property population that were purchased or sold during the applicable period. (4) Represents
properties excluded from the same property population that were not stabilized during the applicable period, or retail or
industrial properties. (5) Represents other properties excluded from the same property population that were not
classified as a commercial or multifamily property within the Company’ s portfolio. Also includes immaterial
adjustments for foreign exchange rates, changes in ownership percentages, and certain non- recurring income and
expenses. (6) Excludes above / below market rents from the same property population, as they are representative of non-
cash purchase price accounting income. Same Property- NOI (Net Effective) (6) * For the Year Ended December 31,
20242023Net Income $ (33. 7) $ (281. 4) Less: Investment management fees (98. 9) (61. 9) Less: Other (1. 4) (2. 2) Less:
Loans (31. 2) (26. 1) Less: Total Income from unconsolidated investments (6. 5) 252. 8 Less: Gain on sale of real estate,
net (160. 1) (127. 6) Add: Compensation and related134. 8 139. 4 Add: Carried interests compensation (16. 6) (15. 1)
Add: General and administrative38. 8 35. 7 Add: Depreciation and amortization148. 3 157. 8 Add: Interest Expense261.
1 259. 2 Add: Gain (loss) on early extinguishment of debtl. 7 1. 6 Less: Other income (loss) (4. 2) 5. 0 Add: Provision for
income taxes10. 2 (55. 3) Less: NCI adjustments (1) (7. 5) (8. 0) Add: Unconsolidated investment adjustments (2) 134. 4
131. 0 Add: Straight- line and above / below market rents (6) (1. 1) (1. 8) Less: Properties bought and sold (3) (14. 0) (54.
8) Less: Other properties excluded (4) (13. 2) (20. 2) Other Reconciling Items (5) (1. 9) 0. 6 Same Property NOI (Net
Effective) * $ 339. 0 $ 328. 7 Same Property- NOI (Net Effective) (6) * For the Year Ended December 31, Same Property
(Reported) 202420230ffice- Same Property $ 94. 6 $ 92. 8 Multifamily Market Rate Portfolio- Same Property200. 7 194.
4 Multifamily Affordable Portfolio- Same Property43. 7 41. 5 Same Property NOI (Net Effective) * (Reported) $ 339.0 $
328. 7 (*) This is a Non- GAAP financial measure. Please see our “ Common Definitions ” for a further explanation and
discussion. (1) Represents rental revenue and operating expenses and hotel revenue and operating expenses attributable
to non- controlling interests. (2) Represents the Company’ s share of unconsolidated investment rental revenues and net
operating income, as applicable, which are within the applicable same property population. (6) Excludes above / below
market rents from the same property population, as they are representative of non- cash purchase price accounting
income. Critical Accounting Policies A critical accounting policy is one that involves an estimate or assumption that is



subjective and requires judgment on the part of management about the effect of a matter that is inherently uncertain
and is material to an entity’ s financial condition and results of operations. Estimates are prepared using management’ s
best judgment, after considering past and current economic conditions and expectations for the future. Changes in
estimates could affect our financial position and specific items in our results of operations that are used by stockholders,
potential investors, industry analysts and lenders in their evaluation of our performance. Of the significant accounting
policies discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, those presented below have been identified by us
as meeting the criteria to be considered critical accounting policies. Refer to Note 2 for more information on these
critical accounting policies. Kennedy Wilson records its investments in certain commingled funds it manages and
sponsors (the" Funds") that are investment companies under the Accounting Standards Codification (" ASC") Topic
946, Financial Services- Investment Companies, based upon the net assets that would be allocated to its interests in the
Funds assuming the Funds were to liquidate their investments at fair value as of the reporting date. Thus, the Funds
reflect their investments at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value reflected in
their earnings. Kennedy Wilson has retained the specialized accounting for the Funds as discussed in ASC Topic 323,
Investments- Equity Method and Joint Ventures in recording its equity in joint venture income from the Funds.
Additionally, Kennedy Wilson elected the fair value option for 72 investments in unconsolidated investment entities. Due
to the nature of these investments, Kennedy Wilson elected to record these investments at fair value in order to report
the value in the underlying investments in the results of our current operations. The use of different assumptions to fair
value these investments could have material impact on the consolidated statements of income. See Item 1. Business' Fair
Value Investments' for detail on fair value methods and range of inputs that are used as part of valuations. Carried
interests are allocated to the general partner, special limited partner or asset manager of Kennedy Wilson' s real estate
funds and fair value option unconsolidated investments based on the cumulative performance of the fund or underlying
investments and are subject to preferred return thresholds of the limited partners and participants. At the end of each
reporting period, Kennedy Wilson calculates the carried interests that would be due as if the fair value of the underlying
investments were realized as of such date, irrespective of whether such amounts have been realized. As the fair value of
underlying investments varies between reporting periods, it is necessary to make adjustments to amounts recorded as
carried interests to reflect either (a) positive performance resulting in an increase in the carried interests to the general
partner or asset manager or (b) negative performance that would cause the amount due to Kennedy Wilson to be less
than the amount previously recognized, resulting in a negative adjustment to carried interests to the general partner or
asset manager. To the extent that a fund or investment has a carried interests sharing program, a portion of carried
interests will be recorded to carried interests compensation. The Company has concluded that carried interests to the
Company from equity method investments, based on cumulative performance to- date, represent carried interests.
Consequently, in following the guidance set forth in ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers and Topic
323, Investments — Equity Method and Joint Ventures, these allocations are included as a component of the total income
from unconsolidated investments in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. ” Real Estate Acquisitions The
purchase price of acquired properties is recorded to land, buildings and building improvements and intangible lease
value (value of above- market and below- market leases, acquired in- place lease values, and tenant relationships, if any).
The ownership of the other interest holders in consolidated subsidiaries is reflected as noncontrolling interests. Real
estate is recorded based on cumulative costs incurred and allocated based on relative fair value. The valuations of real
estate are based on management estimates of the real estate assets using income and market approaches. The
indebtedness securing the real estate is valued, in part, based on third party valuations and management estimates also
using an income approach. The use of different assumptions to value the acquired properties and intangible assets and
assumed liabilities could affect the future revenues and expenses we recognize over the estimated remaining useful life or
lease term. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Item 7A.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk The information contained in Item 7. “ Management’ s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ” is incorporated by reference into Item 7A.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Index to Financial Statements
PageKennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc.: Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 63Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control over Financial Reporting65Financial Statements
Consolidated Balance Sheets 66Consolidated Statements of Operations 67Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive
(Loss) Income68Consolidated Statements of Equity 69Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 70Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements 71Financial Statement SchedulesSchedule IIT — Real Estate Investments and Accumulated
Depreciation109Schedule IV — Mortgage Loans on Real Estate113 To the Shareholders and Board of Directors Opinion
on the Consolidated Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kennedy-
Wilson Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) income, equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three- year
period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes and financial statement schedules III and IV (collectively, the
consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the years in the three- year period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with U. S. generally
accepted accounting principles. We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 28, 2025



expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting. Basis
for Opinion These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’ s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion. Critical Audit Matter The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current
period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the
audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements
and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit
matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not,
by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the
accounts or disclosures to which it relates. Evaluation of the fair value of certain unconsolidated investments and
commingled funds As discussed in Notes 2 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company elected to record
certain unconsolidated investments using the fair value option to more accurately reflect the timing of the value created
in the underlying investments and report those changes in current operations. Additionally, the Company records its
investments in its managed commingled funds (the Funds) based upon the net assets that would be allocated to its
interests in the Funds, assuming the Funds were to liquidate their investments at fair value as of the reporting date. As of
December 31, 2024, these investments had a fair value of $ 1, 884. 4 million. We identified the evaluation of the fair value
of certain unconsolidated investments and commingled funds as a critical audit matter. A high degree of subjectivity was
required in applying and evaluating results from procedures over the respective discounted cash flow models used to
calculate the fair value of the underlying real estate investments. Specifically, the respective cash flow models were
sensitive to changes in certain key assumptions, including discount, terminal capitalization, and overall capitalization
rates, which have a significant effect on the determination of fair value of these investments. The following are the
primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of certain internal controls over the Company’ s fair value process for unconsolidated investments and
commingled funds, including controls related to the development of the overall capitalization rate, discount rate and
terminal capitalization rate assumptions. For a selection of the Company’ s investments, we involved valuation
professionals with specialized skills and knowledge who assisted in comparing the discount rate and terminal
capitalization rate used by the Company to independently developed ranges using market information obtained from
third- party real estate publications or to rates observed in similar investments in the current period. / s / KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’ s auditor since 2002. Los Angeles, California February 28, 2025 To the Shareholders
and Board of Directors Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting We have audited Kennedy- Wilson
Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries' (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based
on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. We
also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) income, equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three- year
period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes and financial statement schedules III and IV (collectively, the
consolidated financial statements), and our report dated February 28, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements. The Company’ s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included
in the accompanying Management' s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. Definition and Limitations of



Internal Control Over Financial Reporting A company’ s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’ s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2)
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’ s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations,
internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. February 28, 2025
December 31, 20242023 AssetsCash and cash equivalents $ 217. 5 $ 313. 7 Accounts receivable, net (including $ 12. 4 and
$ 13. 8 of related party) 38. 7 57. 3 Real estate and acquired in place lease values (net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization of $ 949. 1 and $ 957. 8) 4, 290. 4 4, 837. 3 Unconsolidated investments (including $ 1, 884. 4 and $ 1, 927. 0
at fair value) 2, 042. 4 2, 069. 1 Other assets, net141. 0 187. 5 Loan purchases and originations, net231. 1 247. 2 Total
assets (1) $ 6,961.1 $ 7, 712. 1 LiabilitiesAccounts payable $ 10. 8 $ 17. 9 Accrued expenses and other liabilities529. 4
597. 8 Mortgage debt2, 597. 2 2, 840. 9 KW unsecured debtl, 877. 9 1, 934. 3 KWE unsecured bonds309. 8 522. 8 Total
liabilities (1) 5, 325. 1 5, 913. 7 EquitySeries A cumulative preferred stock, $ 0. 0001 par value, $ 1, 000 per share
liquidation preference, 1, 000, 000 shares authorized, 300, 000 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and
December 31, 2023 and Series B cumulative preferred Stock, $ 0. 0001 par value, $ 1, 000 per share liquidation
preference, 1, 000, 000 shares authorized and 300, 000 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and December 31,
2023 and Series C cumulative preferred Stock, $ 0. 0001 par value, $ 1, 000 per share liquidation preference, 1, 000, 000
shares authorized, 200, 000 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. 789. 7 789. 9 Common
Stock, $ 0. 0001 par value, 200, 000, 000 authorized, 137, 442, 778 and 138, 727, 521 shares issued outstanding as of
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively — — Additional paid- in capitall, 712. 8 1, 718. 6 Accumulated
deficit (493. 7) (349. 0) Accumulated other comprehensive loss (407. 6) (404. 4) Total Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc.
shareholders’ equityl, 601. 2 1, 755. 1 Noncontrolling interests34. 8 43. 3 Total equityl, 636. 0 1, 798. 4 Total liabilities
and equity $ 6,961.1 8 7, 712. 1 (1) The assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2024 include $ 169. 3 million (including
cash held by consolidated investments of $ 4. 3 million and real estate and acquired in place lease values, net of
accumulated depreciation and amortization of $ 128. 7 million) and $ 49. 6 million (including investment debt of $ 50. 0
million), respectively, from consolidated variable interest entities ("' VIEs''). The assets and liabilities as of December 31,
2023 include $ 154. 9 million (including cash held by consolidated investments of $ 3. 6 million and real estate and
acquired in place lease values, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $ 121. 8 million) and $ 101. 4 million
(including investment debt of $ 54. 9 million), respectively, from VIEs. These assets can only be used to settle obligations
of the consolidated VIEs, and the liabilities do not have recourse to the Company. See accompanying notes to
consolidated financial statements. Consolidated Statements of Operations (Dollars in millions, except per share data)
Year ended December 31, 202420232022RevenueRental $ 390. 6 $ 415. 3 $ 434. 9 Hotel9. 3 57. 1 46. 9 Investment
management fees (includes $ 49. 3, $ 51. 9, and $ 44. 8 of related party fees, respectively) 98. 9 61. 9 44. 8 Loans31. 2 26. 1
11. 7 Otherl. 4 2. 2 1. 7 Total revenueS31. 4 562. 6 540. 0 Income (loss) from unconsolidated investmentsPrincipal co-
investmentsS6. 2 (188. 5) 199. 5 Carried interests (49. 7) (64. 3) (21. 1) Total income (loss) from unconsolidated
investments6. 5 (252. 8) 178. 4 Gain on sale of real estate, net160. 1 127. 6 103. 7 ExpensesRental150. 0 152. 6 151. 2
Hotel7. 6 37. 9 29. S Compensation and related (including $ 23. 6, $ 34. S and $ 29. 0 of share- based compensation) 134. 8
139. 4 140. 3 Carried interests compensation (16. 6) (15. 1) (4. 3) General and administrative38. 8 35. 7 37. 2 Depreciation
and amortization148. 3 157. 8 172. 9 Total expenses462. 9 508. 3 526. 8 Interest expense (261. 1) (259. 2) (220. 8) (Loss)
gain on early extinguishment of debt (1. 7) (1. 6) 27. 5 Other income (loss) 4. 2 (5. 0) 36. 1 (Loss) income before (provision
for) benefit from income taxes (23. 5) (336. 7) 138. 1 (Provision for) benefit from income taxes (10. 2) 55. 3 (36. 2) Net
(loss) income (33. 7) (281. 4) 101. 9 Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests0. 7 (22. 4) (8. 2) Preferred
dividends (43. 5) (38. 0) (28. 9) Net (loss) income attributable to Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. common shareholders $
(76.5) $ (341. 8) $ 64. 8 Basic (loss) earnings per share (Loss) income per basic $ (0. 56) $ (2. 46) $ 0. 47 Weighted average
shares outstanding for basic137, 778, 812 138, 930, 517 136, 900, 875 Diluted (loss) earnings per share (Loss) income per
diluted $ (0. 56) $ (2. 46) $ 0. 47 Weighted average shares outstanding for diluted137, 778, 812 138, 930, 517 138, 567, 534
Dividends declared per common share $ 0. 60 $ 0. 96 $ 0. 96 Year ended December 31, 202420232022Net (loss) income $
(33.7) $ (281. 4) $ 101. 9 Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax: Unrealized foreign currency translation (loss)
gain (36. 5) 32. 1 (71. 7) Amounts reclassified out of AOCI3. S — (0. 8) Unrealized currency derivative contracts gain
(loss) 29. 5 (5. 5) 23. 4 Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps — — 5. 6 Total other comprehensive (loss) income (3. 5) 26.
6 (43. 5) Comprehensive (loss) income (37. 2) (254. 8) 58. 4 Comprehensive loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling
interests1. 0 (23. 3) (5. 2) Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. $ (36. 2) $ (278. 1)
$ 53. 2 (Dollars in millions, except share amounts) Preferred StockCommon StockAdditional Paid- in
CapitalAccumulated DeficitAccumulated Other Comprehensive LossNoncontrolling
InterestsSharesAmountSharesAmountTotalBalance, December 31, 2023800, 000 $ 789. 9 138,727,521 $ —$1,718.6 $
(349.0) $(404.4) $43.3 $ 1, 798. 4 Preferred stock costs — (0.2) —— — — — — (0. 2) Issuance of common stock, net



of issuance costs — — — — (0. 1) — — — (0. 1) Restricted stock grants (RSG) —— 412,148 —— — — — — Shares

retired due to RSG vesting — — (131, 116) — (1. 6) — — — (1. 6) Shares retired due to common stock repurchase
program — — (1, 565, 775) — (27. 7) 14. 4 — — (13. 3) At- the- market equity offering program costs — — —— (0. 1)
— ——(0. 1) Stock based compensation — — — — 23. 6 — — — 23. 6 Other comprehensive (loss) income: Unrealized
foreign currency translation loss, net of tax — — — — — — (30.9) (0. 3) (31. 2) Unrealized foreign currency derivative
contract gain, net of tax — — — — — — 29. 3 — 29. 3 Unrealized loss on interest rate swaps, net of tax — — — — —
— (1. 6) — (1. 6) Common stock dividends — — — — — (82. 6) — — (82. 6) Preferred stock dividends — — — — —
(43.5) — — (43.5) Netloss —— — — — (33. 0) — (0. 7) (33. 7) Contributions from noncontrolling interests — — — —
———20. 60. 6 Deconsolidation of noncontrolling interests —— — — — — — (1. 6) (1. 6) Distributions to
noncontrolling interests —— — — — — — (6. 5) (6. 5) Balance, December 31, 2024800, 000 $ 789. 7 137,442,778 $ — $

1,712.8 $(493.7) $ (407.6) $ 34.8 $ 1, 636. 0 Preferred StockCommon StockAdditional Paid- in CapitalRetained
Earnings (Accumulated Deficit) Accumulated Other Comprehensive LossNoncontrolling
InterestsSharesAmountSharesAmountTotalBalance, December 31, 2022600, 000 $ 592. 5 137,790,768 $ —$1,679.5$

122.1 8 (430.1) $46.4 $ 2, 010. 4 Preferred stock issuance, net of issuance costs200, 000 197. 4 — — — — — — 197. 4
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs — — 1, 690, 743 — 29. 8 — — — 29. 8 Restricted stock grants — —
961,045 —— — — — — Shares retired due to RSG vesting — — (781, 303) — (13. 4) — — — (13. 4) Shares retired due
to common stock repurchase program — — (666, 701) — (11. 8) 4. 3 — — (7. 5) Shares forfeited — — (267, 031) — —
— — — — Stock based compensation — — — — 34. 5 — — — 34. 5 Other comprehensive (loss) income: Unrealized
foreign currency translation gain, net of tax — — — — — — 31.2 0. 9 32. 1 Unrealized foreign currency derivative
contract loss, net of tax —— — — — — (5.5) — (5. 5) Common stock dividends — — — — — (133. 6) — — (133.6)
Preferred stock dividends — — — — — (38.0) — — (38. 0) Net income — — — — — (303.8) —22.4 (281. 4)
Contributions from noncontrolling interests —— — — — — — 1. 3 1. 3 Distributions to noncontrolling interests — —

————— (27.7) (27. 7) Balance, December 31, 2023800, 000 $ 789. 9 138, 727,521 $ —$ 1, 718. 6 $ (349. 0) $ (404. 4)
$43.381,798. 4 Year Ended December 31, 2022 Preferred StockCommon StockAdditional Paid- in CapitalRetained
EarningsAccumulated Other Comprehensive LossNoncontrolling InterestsSharesAmountSharesAmountTotalBalance,
December 31, 2021300, 000 $ 295. 2 137,955,479 8 —$1,679.6 $ 192.4 § (389. 6) $26.3 $ 1, 803. 9 Preferred stock

issuance, net of issuance costs300, 000 297.3 — — — — — — 297. 3 At- the- market equity offering program costs — —
——1(0.7) — —— (0. 7) Restricted stock grants — — 1,221,362 —— — — — — Shares retired due to RSG vesting
——(834,911) — (18. 6) — — — (18. 6) Shares retired due to common stock repurchase program — — (551, 162) — (9.
8) (2. 8) — — (12. 6) Stock based compensation — — — — 29. 0 — — — 29. 0 Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized foreign currency translation loss, net of tax —— — — — — (68.7) (3. 0) (71. 7) Unrealized foreign currency
derivative contract gain, net of tax — — — — — — 23.4 — 23. 4 Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps, net of tax — —
————4.8 —4. 8 Common stock dividends — — — — — (132. 3) — — (132. 3) Preferred stock dividends — — —
——(28.9) — —(28.9) Net income — — — — — 93.7 — 8.2 101. 9 Contributions from noncontrolling interests — —
————— 25. 7 25. 7 Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — — (10. 8) (10. 8) Balance, December

31, 2022600, 000 $ 592. 5 137,790,768 $ —$1,679.5$122.1 $ (430.1) $46.4 $ 2, 010. 4 Year ended December 31,
202420232022Cash flows from operating activities: Net (loss) income $ (33. 7) $ (281. 4) $ 101. 9 Adjustments to reconcile
net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities: Gain on sale of real estate, net (160. 1) (127. 6) (103. 7)
Depreciation and amortization148. 3 157. 8 172. 9 Above / below market and straight- line rent amortization (1. 6) (5. 5)
(8. 0) Uncollectible lease income3. 6 5. 4 8. 0 Provision for (benefit from) deferred income taxes (10. 4) (65.9) 18. 3
Amortization of loan fees9. 9 9.2 9. 1 Amortization of discount and accretion of premium and transactional foreign
exchange (7. 5) 2. 9 2. 6 Unrealized net loss (gain) on derivatives14. 8 16. 4 (45. 9) Loss (gain) on early extinguishment of
debtl. 7 1. 6 (27. 5) (Income) loss from unconsolidated investments (6. S) 252. 8 (178. 4) Provision for loan loss reserves11.
2 7.0 — Accretion of discount on loans (4. 1) (3. 5) — Share- based compensation expense23. 6 34. 5 29. 0 Deferred
compensation (7. 9) (3. 8) 7. 6 Operating distributions from unconsolidated investments60. 8 69. 2 78. 1 Change in assets
and liabilities: Accounts receivablell. 6 (23. 8) (13. 4) Other assets (4. 5) (1. 3) (9. 7) Accrued expenses and other
liabilitiesS. 9 4. 9 (8. 0) Net cash provided by operating activitiesSS. 1 48. 9 32. 9 Cash flows from investing activities:
Issuance of loans (40. 1) (150. 2) (50. 9) Proceeds from collection of loans49. 8 48. 9 34. 5 Net proceeds from sale of
consolidated real estate589. 5 383. 9 325. 9 Purchases of consolidated real estate (16. 6) — (408. 2) Capital expenditures to
real estate (131. 6) (217. 2) (160. 9) Investing distributions from unconsolidated investments86. 6 92. 4 157. 1
Contributions to unconsolidated investments (125. 0) (167. 4) (361. 3) Proceeds from settlement of derivative contractsl. 6
— 112. 6 Premiums paid for settlement of derivative contracts — (2. 1) (10. 4) Net cash provided by (used in) investing
activities414. 2 (11. 7) (361. 6) Cash flow from financing activities: Borrowings under line of credit / term loan170. 0 50. 0
528. 4 Repayment of line of credit / term loan (215. 2) (185. 0) (325. 0) Borrowings under mortgage debt360. 7 408. 9 401.
3 Repayment of mortgage debt (521. 1) (446. 4) (389. 6) Repayment of KWE Notes (181. 1) — (65. 8) Payment of loan fees
(13.9) (0. 7) (5. 0) Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs (0. 1) 29. 8 (0. 7) Repurchase of common stock (15. 0)
(20. 9) (31. 2) Preferred stock issuance, net of issuance costs (0. 2) 197. 4 297. 3 Common stock dividends paid (100. 2)
(136. 0) (134. 6) Preferred stock dividends paid (43. 5) (35. 5) (25. 9) Contributions from noncontrolling interests0. 6 1. 3
25. 8 Distributions to noncontrolling interests (6. 5) (27. 7) (10. 8) Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (565.
5) (164. 8) 264. 2 Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents — 2. 0 (21. 0) Net change in cash
and cash equivalents (96. 2) (125. 6) (85. 5) Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year313. 7 439. 3 524. 8 Cash and
cash equivalents, end of year $ 217. 5 $ 313. 7 § 439. 3 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued) Supplemental
cash flow information: Year ended December 31, (Dollars in millions) 202420232022Cash paid for: Interest (1) (2) $ 256.



1$252.08 214. 4 Income taxes9. 2 21. 8 19. 9 Cash received from consolidated and unconsolidated asset sales and loan
repayments, net600. 9 376. 1 369. 8 Cash received on interest rate hedges 26. 0 24. 0 0. 9 (1) $ 1. 1 million, $ 1. 4 million,
and $ 4. 0 million attributable to non- controlling interests for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022,
respectively. (2) Net of $ 4. 5 million, $ 5. 0 million, and $ 3. 3 million of capitalized interest for the years ended December
31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, we have $ 94. S million, $ 69. 6 million,
and $ 21. 4 million, respectively, of restricted cash, which is included in cash and cash equivalents, that primarily relates
to lender reserves associated with consolidated mortgages that we hold on properties and reserves held on loans in the
newly acquired Construction Loan Portfolio (as defined herein) on behalf of the borrowers under such loans. These
reserves typically relate to interest, tax, insurance and future capital expenditures at the properties and on our loan
investments. Supplemental disclosure of non- cash investing and financing activities: During the year ended December
31, 2024, the Company also sold a previously consolidated multifamily property into its Vintage Housing Holdings ("
VHH") platform, with the Company retaining an interest in the property through its investment in VHH. The
transaction was treated as a non- cash activity with the remaining share of real estate, mortgage loan and other balance
sheet items being removed from the consolidated balance sheet with an increase of $ 16. 5 million to unconsolidated
investments. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company sold a 49 % equity interest in two previously
wholly- owned market- rate multifamily properties into an existing joint venture platform managed by the Company
(see gain on sale of real estate in Note 3 for further description of the transaction) and retained a noncontrolling 51 %
interest in such properties, which was treated as a non- cash activity with the remaining share of real estate, mortgage
loan and other balance sheet items being removed from the consolidated balance sheet with an increase of $ 33. 4 million
to unconsolidated investments. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company also sold a previously wholly-
owned multifamily property into its VHH platform, with the Company retaining an interest in the property through its
investment in VHH. The transaction was treated as a non- cash activity with the remaining share of real estate, mortgage
loan and other balance sheet items being removed from the consolidated balance sheet with an increase of $ 16. 8 million
to unconsolidated investments. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the noncontrolling S1 % interest that the
Company retained as part of the sale of a 49 % ownership interest in a multifamily asset in the Western United States
(see gain on sale of real estate in Note 3 for further description of the transaction) was treated as a non- cash activity with
the remaining share of real estate, mortgage loan and other balance sheet items being removed from the consolidated
balance sheet resulting in an increase of $ 31. 9 million to unconsolidated investments. Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc.
and Subsidiaries December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 NOTE 1 — ORGANIZATION Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. (*
KWH, ” NYSE: KW), a Delaware corporation and its wholly owned and consolidated subsidiaries (collectively the"
Company" or'" Kennedy Wilson"), is a real estate investment company that invests in high growth markets across the
United States (" U. S."), the United Kingdom (" UK") and Ireland. With an objective of generating strong long- term
risk- adjusted returns for its shareholders and partners and drawing on over three decades of experience in identifying
opportunities and building value through various market cycles, in its markets, the Company focuses on (i) investing in
the rental housing sector (both market rate and affordable units) and industrial properties; and (ii) originating,
managing and servicing real estate loans (primarily senior construction loans secured by high quality multifamily and
student housing properties that are being developed by institutional sponsors throughout the United States). The
Company' s operations are defined by two business segments; its Consolidated Portfolio and Co- Investment Portfolio.
Investment activities in the Consolidated Portfolio primarily involve ownership of multifamily assets. The Co-
Investment Portfolio consists of (i) the co- investments in real estate and real estate- related assets, including loans
secured by real estate, that the Company has made through its commingled funds and joint ventures that it manages; (ii)
fees (including, without limitation, asset management fees, construction management fees, and / or acquisition and
disposition fees); and (iii) carried interests. NOTE 2 — BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES BASIS OF PRESENTATION — The consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of Kennedy Wilson and voting interest entities which it controls. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In addition, Kennedy Wilson evaluates its relationships with other
entities to identify whether they are variable interest entities (" VIE") as defined by Financial Accounting Standards
Board (" FASB') Accounting Standards Codification ("' ASC'') Subtopic 810, Consolidation, and to assess whether it is
the primary beneficiary of such entities. In determining whether Kennedy Wilson is the primary beneficiary of a VIE,
qualitative and quantitative factors are considered, including, but not limited to: the amount and characteristics of
Kennedy Wilson' s investment; the obligation or likelihood for Kennedy Wilson to provide financial support; Kennedy
Wilson' s ability to control or significantly influence key decisions for the VIE; and the similarity with and significance to
the business activities of Kennedy Wilson. The Company determines the appropriate accounting method with respect to
all investments that are not VIEs based on the control- based framework (controlled entities are consolidated) provided
by the consolidation guidance in ASC Subtopic 810. The Company accounts for joint ventures where it is deemed that
the Company does not have control through the equity method of accounting while joint ventures that the Company
controls are consolidated in Kennedy Wilson' s financial statements. USE OF ESTIMATES — The preparation of the
accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles ("
GAAP") requires management to make estimates and assumptions about future events. These estimates and the
underlying assumptions affect the amounts of assets and liabilities reported, disclosure about contingent assets and
liabilities, and reported amounts of revenues and expenses. Management evaluates its estimates and assumptions on an
ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors, including the current economic environment, which
management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Management adjusts such estimates and assumptions



when facts and circumstances dictate. As future events and their effects cannot be determined with precision, actual
results could differ significantly from these estimates. Changes in those estimates will be reflected in the financial
statements in future periods. REVENUE RECOGNITION — Revenue consists of rental and hotel income, management
fees, leasing and commission fees, loan interest income and sales of real estate. ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers, is a five- step model to recognize revenue from customer contracts. The model identifies the contract,
any separate performance obligations in the contract, determines the transaction price, allocates the transaction price
and recognizes revenue when the performance obligations are satisfied. Management has concluded that, with the
exception of carried interests, the nature of the Company' s revenue streams is such that the requirements are generally
satisfied at the time that the fee becomes receivable. Rental revenue from operating leases is generally recognized on a
straight- line basis over the terms of the leases in accordance with ASC Topic 842, Leases. Hotel income is earned when
rooms are occupied or goods and services have been delivered or rendered. Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements — (continued) December 31, 2024 2023 and 2022 Management fees are primarily
comprised of investment management fees. Investment management fees are earned from limited partners of funds, co-
investments, or separate accounts and are generally based on a fixed percentage of committed capital or net asset value.
The Company provides investment management on investments it also has an ownership interest in. Fees earned on
consolidated properties are eliminated in consolidation and fees on unconsolidated investments are eliminated for the
portion that relate to the Company' s ownership interest. Investment management fees include acquisition, arrangement
and disposition fees. Acquisition, arrangement and disposition fees are earned for identifying and closing investments on
behalf of investors and are based on a fixed percentage of the acquisition or disposition price, as applicable. Acquisition
and disposition fees are recognized upon the successful completion of an acquisition or disposition after all required
services have been performed. Loan income from investments in performing loans which Kennedy Wilson originates or
acquires are recognized at the stated interest rate plus any amortization of premiums / discounts or fees earned on the
loans. Loan income from investments in loans acquired at a discount are recognized using the effective interest method.
When a loan or loans are acquired with deteriorated credit quality primarily for the rewards of collateral ownership,
such loans are accounted for as loans until Kennedy Wilson is in possession of the collateral. However, accrual of income
is not recorded during the conversion period under ASC Subtopic 310- 30- 25, Receivables- Loans and Debt Securities
Acquired with Deteriorated Credit Quality. Income is recognized to the extent that cash is received from the loan. The
Company has evaluated its loan portfolio under ASC Subtopic 326, Financial Instruments- Credit Losses. for current
expected credit losses (" CECL") reserves. CECL reserves reflect the Company' s current estimate of potential credit
losses related to loans included in the Company' s consolidated balance sheets. Changes to the CECL reserve are
recognized through the Company' s consolidated statements of operations. While ASC Subtopic 326 does not require any
particular method for determining the CECL reserve, it does specify the reserve should be based on relevant information
about past events, including historical loss experience, current portfolio and market conditions. Sales of real estate are
recognized when title to the real property passes to the buyer and there is no continuing involvement in the real
property. Under ASC Subtopic 610- 20, Other Income- Gains and Losses from the Derecognition of Nonfinancial Assets,
the Company recognizes the entire gain attributed to contributions of real estate properties to unconsolidated entities.
Property services fees are earned from the Company' s auction sales and marketing business and are recorded in Other
section of revenues. In the case of auction and real estate sales commissions, the revenue is generally recognized when
escrow closes. In accordance with the guidelines established for Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an
Agent in ASC Topic 606, Kennedy Wilson records commission revenues and expenses on a gross basis. Of the criteria
listed in ASC Topic 606, Kennedy Wilson is the primary obligor in the transaction, does not have inventory risk,
performs all or part of the service and has wide latitude in establishing the price of services rendered and discretion in
selection of agents and determination of service specifications. REAL ESTATE ACQUISITIONS — The purchase price
of acquired properties is recorded to land, buildings and building improvements and intangible lease value (value of
above- market and below- market leases, acquired in- place lease values, and tenant relationships, if any). The
ownership of the other interest holders in consolidated subsidiaries is reflected as noncontrolling interests ("' NCI'"). Real
estate is recorded based on cumulative costs incurred and allocated based on relative fair value. Acquisition fees and
expenses associated with the acquisition of properties determined to be business combinations are expensed as incurred.
Acquisition fees and expenses associated with transactions determined to be asset acquisitions are capitalized as part of
the real estate acquired. The Company is involved in all stages of real estate ownership, including development. Once a
project is in development, consistent with ASC Topic, 360 Property Plant, and Equipment, costs including interest and
real estate taxes and associated costs directly related to the project under development, are capitalized. During the
predevelopment period of a probable project and the period in which a project is under construction, the Company
capitalizes all direct and indirect costs associated with planning, developing, and constructing the project. Once a project
is constructed and deemed substantially complete and ready for occupancy, carrying costs, such as real estate taxes,
interest and associated costs, are expensed as incurred. UNCONSOLIDATED INVESTMENTS — Kennedy Wilson has
a number of joint venture interests that were formed to acquire, manage, and / or sell real estate. Investments in
unconsolidated investments are accounted for under the equity method of accounting as Kennedy Wilson can exercise
significant influence, but does not have the ability to control the unconsolidated investment. An investment in an
unconsolidated investment is recorded at its initial investment and is increased or decreased by Kennedy Wilson’ s share
of income or loss, plus additional contributions and less distributions. A decline in the value of an unconsolidated
investment that is other than temporary is recognized when evidence indicates that such a decline has occurred in
accordance with ASC Topic 323, Investments- Equity Method and Joint Ventures. The Company records its investments



in certain commingled funds it manages and sponsors (the “ Funds ”) that are investment companies under the ASC
Topic 946, Financial Services- Investment Companies, based upon the net assets that would be allocated to its interests in
the Funds assuming the Funds were to liquidate their investments at fair value as of the reporting date. Thus, the Funds
reflect the Company' s investments at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value
reflected in their earnings. In addition, the Company elected the fair value option for 72 investments in unconsolidated
investment entities ("' FV Option" investments). These co- investments are structured as limited liability companies and
limited partnerships with one partner and function under a collaborative decision- making structure. The Company
owns a weighted average ownership of approximately 40 % of the equity investment in such co- investment investments.
The Company elected to record these co- investments at fair value in order to report the change in value in the
underlying investments in the results of its current operations consistent with its investments in certain commingled
funds, as described above. The Company has adopted an ownership model for carried interests representing allocations
to the Company from equity method investments, based on cumulative performance to- date. Consequently, in
accordance with the guidance set forth in ASC Topic 606 and ASC Topic 323, these allocations are included as a
component of the total income from unconsolidated investments in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations as “ carried interests . Carried interests are allocated to the Company under the Funds and such co-
investment investments based on the cumulative performance of the venture and are subject to preferred return
thresholds of the partners. In the case of the Funds, these carried interests represent an allocation relating to the
performance of investment management services, whereas they represent returns for the performance of the underlying
investments in the co- investment investments structures subject to collaborative decision- making. At the end of each
reporting period, the Company calculates the carried interest that would be due as if the fair value of the underlying
investments were realized as of such date, irrespective of whether such amounts have been realized. As the fair value of
underlying investments varies between reporting periods, it is necessary to make adjustments to amounts recorded as
carried interests to reflect either (a) positive performance resulting in an increase in the carried interests to the general
partner or asset manager or (b) negative performance that would cause the amount due to Kennedy Wilson to be less
than the amount previously recognized as income from unconsolidated investments, resulting in a negative adjustment to
carried interests to the general partner or asset manager. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has $ 27. 6
million and $ 77. 3 million, respectively, of accrued carried interests recorded to unconsolidated investments that are
subject to future adjustments based on the underlying performance of investments. During the year ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, the Company did not collect any carried interests. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the
Company collected $ 6. 8 million of carried interests. The amount of the Company’ s non- cash carried interest accruals
recorded from its Funds and its FV Option investments for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are as
follows: Years Ended December 31, (Dollars in millions) 202420232022Funds $ (38. 8) $ (39. 5) $ (18. 4) Co- investments
(10.9) (24.8) (2. 7) Total $ (49.7) $ (64. 3) $ (21. 1) Carried interests compensation is recognized in the same period that
the related carried interests are recognized and can be reversed during periods when there is a reversal of carried
interests that were previously recognized. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has $ 7. 1 million and $ 22. 8
million, respectively, of accrued carried interests compensation recorded to accrued expenses and other liabilities that
are subject to future adjustments based on the underlying performance of investments. During the year ended December
31, 2024 and 2023, the Company did not pay out any carried interests compensation. During the year ended December
31, 2022, the Company paid $ 1. 2 million to employees for carried interests that were realized during the period. FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS — Kennedy Wilson accounts for fair value measurements of financial assets and financial
liabilities and for fair value measurements of non- financial items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the
financial statements on a recurring basis under the provisions of ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement. ASC Topic
820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When estimating fair value in the absence of an
orderly transaction between market participants, valuations of real estate are based on management estimates of the real
estate assets using income and market approaches. The indebtedness securing the real estate and the investments in debt
securities are valued, in part, based on third party valuations and management estimates also using an income approach.
The use of different market assumptions or estimation methodologies may have a material impact on the estimated fair
value amounts. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — The estimated fair value of financial instruments is
determined using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. Considerable judgment, is
necessary, however, to interpret market data and develop the related estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates
presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized upon disposition of the financial
instruments. The use of different market assumptions or estimation methodologies may have a material impact on the
estimated fair value amounts. DISTRIBUTIONS FROM UNCONSOLIDATED INVESTMENTS — The Company
utilizes the nature of distributions approach and distributions are reported under operating cash flow unless the facts
and circumstances of a specific distribution clearly indicate that it is a return of capital (e. g., a liquidating dividend or
distribution of the proceeds from unconsolidated investments' sale of assets), in which case it is reported as an investing
activity. This enables Kennedy Wilson to look to the nature and source of the distribution received and classify it
appropriately between operating and investing activities on the statement of cash flows based upon the source.
FOREIGN CURRENCIES — The financial statements of Kennedy Wilson' s subsidiaries located outside the United
States are measured using the local currency as this is their functional currency. The assets and liabilities of these
subsidiaries are translated at the rates of exchange at the balance sheet date, and income and expenses are translated at
the average monthly rate. The foreign currencies include the euro and the British pound sterling. Cumulative



translation adjustments, to the extent not included in cumulative net income, are included in the consolidated statement
of equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Investment level debt is generally incurred in
local currencies. Fluctuations in foreign exchanges rates may have a significant impact on the results of the Company' s
operations. In order to manage the effect of these fluctuations, the Company enters into hedging transactions, in the
form of currency derivative contracts, that are designed to reduce its book equity exposure to foreign currencies. KWE
has also entered into currency derivative contracts to manage its exposure to euro to British pound currency
fluctuations. See Note 5 for a complete discussion on currency derivative contracts. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES — Kennedy Wilson has derivatives to reduce its exposure to foreign currencies. All
derivative instruments are recognized as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at their respective fair values. For
derivatives designated in hedging relationships, changes in fair value of cash flow hedges or net investment hedges are
recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income, to the extent the derivative is effective at offsetting the changes
in the item being hedged until the hedged item affects earnings. Fluctuations in foreign exchanges rates may have a
significant impact on the Company' s results of operations. In order to manage the potential exposure from adverse
changes in foreign exchange rates arising from the Company’ s net investments in foreign operations, the Company may
enter into currency derivative contracts to hedge all or portions of the net investments in the Company’ s non- U. S.
dollar denominated foreign operations. GOODWILL — Goodwill results from the difference between the purchase price
and the fair value of net assets acquired based upon the purchase method of accounting for business combinations. In
accordance with ASC Subtopic 350- 20, Accounting for Intangibles- Goodwill and Other, goodwill is reviewed for
impairment on an annual basis. The Company performs its annual review of impairment at year end and when a
triggering event occurs between annual year end reviews. As a result of the evaluation performed as described above,
Kennedy Wilson has determined that there was no impairment of goodwill during the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023 and 2022. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and all highly liquid
investments purchased with maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents are invested in institutions
insured by government agencies. Certain accounts contain balances in excess of the insured limits. Kennedy Wilson' s
operations and financial position are affected by fluctuations in currency exchange rates between the euro and British
pound sterling against the U. S. Dollar. As of December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022 we have $ 94. S million, $ 69. 6 million,
and $ 21. 4 million, respectively, of restricted cash, which is included in cash and cash equivalents on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets, that primarily relates to lender reserves associated with consolidated mortgages that we
hold on properties and reserves held on loans in the Company' s real estate credit business on behalf of the borrowers
under such loans. These reserves typically relate to interest, tax, insurance and future capital expenditures at the
properties and on our loan investments. LONG- LIVED ASSETS — Kennedy Wilson reviews its long- lived assets
(excluding goodwill) whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not
be recoverable in accordance with ASC Subtopic 360- 10, Property, Plant and Equipment. Recoverability of assets to be
held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash
flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated undiscounted future
cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized in gain on sale of real estate, net in the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of are presented separately in the balance
sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated. The
assets and liabilities of the assets to be disposed of are classified as held for sale and would be presented separately in the
appropriate asset and liability sections of the consolidated balance sheets. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE — Accounts
receivable are recorded at the contractual amount as determined by the underlying agreements and do not bear interest.
The Company recognizes revenue to the extent that amounts are probable that substantially all rental income will be
collected. CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK — Financial instruments that subject Kennedy Wilson to credit risk
consist primarily of accounts and notes receivable, cash equivalents and derivative instruments. Credit risk is generally
diversified due to the large number of entities composing Kennedy Wilson’ s customer base and their geographic
dispersion throughout the United States, the United Kingdom, Ireland and to a lesser extent Spain and Italy. Kennedy
Wilson performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and debtors. EARNINGS PER SHARE — Basic earnings
per share is computed based upon the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the
periods presented. Diluted earnings per share is computed based upon the weighted average number of shares of
common stock and potentially dilutive securities outstanding during the periods presented. The dilutive impact of
potentially dilutive securities includes convertible securities, and unvested stock which were outstanding during the
period. Unvested stock are calculated by the “ treasury stock ” method and the convertible securities under the" if
converted" method. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) — Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income
(loss) and other comprehensive income (loss). In the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, accumulated other
comprehensive income consists of foreign currency translation adjustments and unrealized gains (losses) on derivative
instruments. REPURCHASE OF EQUITY INSTRUMENTS — Upon the decision to retire repurchased equity
instruments, Kennedy Wilson records the retirement as a reduction to additional paid in capital for the amount that
shares were initially issued at with the excess paid recorded to retained earnings. SHARE- BASED PAYMENT
ARRANGEMENTS — Kennedy Wilson accounts for its share- based payment arrangements under the provisions of
ASC Subtopic 718- 10, Compensation- Stock Compensation. Compensation cost for employee service received in
exchange for an award of equity instruments is based on the grant- date fair value of the share- based award that is
ultimately settled in equity of Kennedy Wilson. The cost of employee services is recognized over the period during which
an employee provides service in exchange for the share- based payment award. Share- based payment arrangements



with only services conditions that vest ratably over the requisite service period are recognized on the straight- line basis
and performance awards that vest ratably are recognized on a tranche by tranche basis over the performance period.
INCOME TAXES — Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis and operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred
tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. In
accordance with accounting for uncertainty in ASC Subtopic 740- 10, Income Taxes, Kennedy Wilson recognizes the
effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax
positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50 % likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or
measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs. Kennedy Wilson records interest
related to unrecognized tax benefits in interest expense and penalties in general and administrative expenses on the
consolidated statements of operations. NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS — Noncontrolling interests are reported
within equity as a separate component of Kennedy Wilson' s equity in accordance with ASC Subtopic 810- 10. Revenues,
expenses, gains, losses, net income or loss, and other comprehensive income are reported in the consolidated statements
of operations at the consolidated amounts and net income and comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling
interests are separately stated. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS On November 27, 2023, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board ("' FASB") issued ASU 2023- 07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to
Reportable Segment Disclosures. This update enhances reportable segment disclosures by requiring a public entity to: (i)
disclose, on an annual and interim basis, significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief operating
decision maker (" CODM") and included within each reported measure of segment profit or loss, (ii) disclose, on an
annual and interim basis, an amount of other segment items by reportable segment and a description of its composition,
(iii) provide all annual disclosures about a reportable segment’ s profit or loss and assets currently required by Topic 280
in interim periods and (iv) disclose the title and position of the CODM and an explanation of how the CODM uses the
reported measure of segment profit or loss in assessing segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources.
This ASU also clarifies that, in addition to the measure that is most consistent with the measurement principles under
GAAP, a public entity is not precluded from reporting additional measures of a segment’ s profit or loss that are used by
the CODM in assessing segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources. This guidance is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024.
The Company adopted ASU 2023- 07 in the fourth quarter of 2024 and have updated its segment disclosures to comply
with the updated requirements. In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023- 09, Improvements to Income Tax
Disclosures. This ASU requires disaggregated information about a reporting entity’ s effective tax rate reconciliation as
well as information on income taxes paid and will be effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024.
The new requirements should be applied on a prospective basis with an option to apply them retrospectively. Early
adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact that ASU 2023- 09 will have on its consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures. In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024- 03, Income Statement — Reporting
Comprehensive Income — Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220- 40): Disaggregation of Income Statement
Expenses. This ASU requires public business entities to disclose additional information about specific expense categories
in the notes to financial statements at interim and annual reporting periods. This guidance is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027 with
early adoption permitted. These requirements should be applied on a prospective basis with an option to apply them
retrospectively. The Company is evaluating the impact that ASU 2024- 03 will have on our consolidated financial
statement disclosures. The FASB did not issue any other ASUs during the year ended December 31, 2024 that the
Company expects to be applicable and have a material impact on the Company' s financial statements.
RECLASSIFICATIONS — Certain balances included in prior year' s financial statements have been reclassified to
conform to the current year' s presentation. NOTE 3 — REAL ESTATE AND ACQUIRED IN PLACE LEASE VALUE
The following table summarizes the Company' s investment in consolidated real estate properties at December 31, 2024
and 2023: December 31, (Dollars in millions) 20242023Land $ 979. 6 $ 1, 328. 3 Buildings3, 548. 7 3, 679. 1 Building
improvements466. 9 511. 3 Acquired in- place lease values244. 3 276. 4 5, 239. 5§ §, 795. 1 Less accumulated depreciation
and amortization (949. 1) (957. 8) Real estate and acquired in place lease values, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization $ 4, 290. 4 $ 4, 837. 3 Real property, including land, buildings, and building improvements, are included in
real estate and are generally stated at cost. Buildings and building improvements are depreciated on the straight- line
method over their estimated lives not to exceed 40 years. Acquired in- place lease values are recorded at their estimated
fair value and amortized over their respective weighted- average lease term which was 7. 2 years at December 31, 2024.
Depreciation and amortization expense on buildings, building improvements and acquired in- place lease values for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $ 141. 4 million, $ 148. 9 million and $ 162. 7 million, respectively.
Consolidated Acquisitions The purchase of property is recorded to land, buildings, building improvements, and
intangible lease value (including the value of above- market and below- market leases, acquired in- place lease values,
and tenant relationships, if any) based on their respective estimated relative fair values. The purchase price generally
approximates the fair value of the properties as acquisitions are transacted with third- party willing sellers after arms-
length negotiations. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, Kennedy Wilson did not acquire any
consolidated properties. The Company initially acquired the first asset in its United Kingdom single family rental unit



platform while its partner was completing due diligence. This asset was subsequently sold into this new platform during
the year ended December 31, 2024 and is accounted for as an unconsolidated investment. Gains on Sale of Real Estate,
Net During the year ended December 31, 2024, Kennedy Wilson recognized gains on sale of real estate, net of $ 160. 1
million. These gains were primarily due to (i) the Company' s sale of the Shelbourne Hotel, which resulted in a gain of $
99. 1 million; (ii) the sale of a wholly- owned multifamily asset in Western United States for a gain of $ 56. 1 million; (iii)
the sale of a building in an office campus, which resulted in a gain of $ 21. 6 million; (iv) the deconsolidation of a
previously wholly- owned multifamily property as a result of our sale of 90 % of the ownership interest to a new partner
which resulted in a gain of $ 8. 1 million; and (v) the remainder of gain on sale of real estate, net relates to the sale of non-
core retail assets in the United Kingdom and Spain which resulted in loss on sale in addition to impairments referenced
below. During the year ended December 31, 2023, Kennedy Wilson recognized gains on sale of real estate, net of $ 127. 6
million. These gains were primarily due to (i) the Company' s sale of 49 % of its equity interest in two previously wholly-
owned market- rate multifamily properties into an existing joint venture platform managed by the Company and which
the Company retained a noncontrolling 51 % interest in such properties, which resulted in a gain on sale of real estate of
$ 79. S million; (ii) the sale of a Western United States property to VHH, pursuant to which the Company retains an
interest in the asset through its ownership interest in VHH, which resulted in a gain of $ 15. 1 million; (iii) the sale of a
consolidated multifamily property owned with a noncontrolling interest partner which resulted in a gain of $ 37. 6
million ($ 20. 1 million of which was at the Company' s share) and (iv) the remainder of gain on sale of real estate relates
to the sale of non- core retail and residential properties in the Western United States, United Kingdom, Ireland, and
Spain. During the year ended December 31, 2022, due to the sale and deconsolidation of multifamily asset in the Western
United States, the Company recognized a $ 56. 7 million gain on sale of real estate, net and generated $ 30. 2 million of
cash proceeds for the Company. The gain is due to the sale of the 49 % interest to the Company' s partner and the
recording of the Company' s retained 51 % interest in unconsolidated investments at the fair value established by the
transaction. Included in the net gains for the year ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 are impairment losses of $
22. 1 million, $ 28. 6 million and $ 13. 3 million, respectively, primarily relating to European non- core retail and office
assets. The Company leases its operating properties to customers under agreements that are classified as operating
leases. The total minimum lease payments provided for under the leases are recognized on a straight- line basis over the
lease term. The majority of the Company' s rental expenses, including common area maintenance, real estate taxes and
insurance, are recovered from the Company' s tenants. The Company records amounts reimbursed by customers in the
period that the applicable expenses are incurred, which is generally ratably throughout the term of the lease. The
reimbursements are recognized in rental income in the consolidated statements of operations as the Company is the
primary obligor with respect to purchasing and selecting goods and services from third- party vendors and bearing the
associated credit risk. The following table summarizes the minimum lease payments due from the Company' s tenants
on leases with lease periods greater than one year at December 31, 2024: (Dollars in millions) MinimumRental Revenues
(1) 2025 $ 118. 6 2026103. 7 202790. 7 202875. 8 202959. 5 Thereafter124. 8 Total $ 573. 1 (1) These amounts do not
reflect future rental revenues from the renewal or replacement of existing leases, rental increases that are not fixed and
exclude reimbursements of rental expenses. NOTE 4 — UNCONSOLIDATED INVESTMENTS Kennedy Wilson has a
number of joint venture interests including commingled funds and separate accounts, generally ranging from 5 % to 50
%, that were formed to acquire, manage, develop, service and / or sell real estate. Kennedy Wilson has significant
influence over these entities, but not control. Accordingly, these investments are accounted for under the equity method.
Joint Venture and Fund Holdings The following table details Kennedy Wilson' s investments in joint ventures by
investment type and geographic location as of December 31, 2024: (Dollars in millions)
MultifamilyCommercialHotelFundsResidential and OtherTotalWestern U. S. $856.0$ 74.1 $249.7$63.4$183.3$1,
426. 5 Ireland279. 2 125. 1 — 4. 9 — 409. 2 United Kingdom?7. 7 154. 2 — 28. 4 16. 4 206. 7 Total $ 1, 142.9 $ 353.4 $
249.7%$96.7$199.78$ 2, 042. 4 The following table details the Kennedy Wilson' s investments in joint ventures by
investment type and geographic location as of December 31, 2023: (Dollars in millions)
MultifamilyCommercialHotelFundsResidential and OtherTotalWestern U. S. $820.9$71.6 $253.0$96.2 $156.2 $ 1,
397. 9 Ireland313. 8 158. 7 — 5. 4 — 477. 9 United Kingdom — 139. 8 — 31.522. 0193.3 Total $ 1, 134. 7 $ 370. 1 $ 253.
0$133.1$178.2$ 2, 069. 1 During the year ended December 31, 2024, the change in unconsolidated investments
primarily relates to $ 125. 0 million of cash contributions to unconsolidated investments, $ 147. 4 million of distributions
from unconsolidated investments, $ 16. 5 million associated with the deconsolidations, $ 6. 4 million of gains from
unconsolidated investments (net of $ 6. 3 million of fair value losses), and a $ 29. 9 million decrease related to other items,
which primarily related to foreign exchange movements. As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, $ 1, 884. 4
million and $ 1, 927. 0 million, respectively, of unconsolidated investments were accounted for at fair value. See Note S
for more detail. Contributions to Joint Ventures During the year ended December 31, 2024, Kennedy Wilson contributed
$ 125. 0 million to joint ventures, primarily to capital calls with respect to the new European investments in industrial
and single family housing, and fund new acquisitions in the Company' s new United States based commingled fund and
multifamily properties in Western United States with separate account partners. Distributions from Joint Ventures The
following table details cash distributions by investment type and geographic location for the year ended December 31,
2024: MultifamilyCommercialFundsResidential and OtherTotal (Dollars in millions)
OperatinglnvestingOperatingInvestingOperatingInvestingOperatingInvestingOperatingInvestingWestern U. S. $34. 7 $§
74.4%$9.281.7$1.352.850.254.5545.4583.41Ireland9.8 —4.32.1 — ———14.1 2. 1 United Kingdom —
—0.10.2——1.20.91.31.1Total $44.5$74.4$13.654.051.352.851.455.48560.88$ 86. 6 Investing
distributions resulted primarily from sale of a multifamily property in Western United States, conversions of VHH



properties from development to operating, the redemption of an interest in a hedge fund investment and excess proceeds
from the refinancing of mortgage loans on properties. Operating distributions resulted from operating cash flow
generated by the joint venture investments that have been distributed to the Company. Income from Unconsolidated
Investments The following table presents income from unconsolidated investments recognized by Kennedy Wilson
during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022: Year Ended December 31, (Dollars in millions)
202420232022Income from unconsolidated investments- operating performance $ 29. 9 $ 40. 8 $ 80. 2 Income from
unconsolidated investments- realized gains from cost basis investments32. 6 — 4. 7 (Loss) income from unconsolidated
investments- unrealized and realized fair value (losses) gains (6. 3) (229. 3) 114. 6 Principal co- investments56. 2 (188. 5)
199. 5 Loss from unconsolidated investments- carried interests Funds (38. 8) (39. 5) (18. 4) Loss from unconsolidated
investments- carried interests co- investments (10. 9) (24. 8) (2. 7) Income (loss) from unconsolidated investments $ 6. 5 $
(252. 8) $ 178. 4 During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recognized an increase in rental and hotel
revenue compared to the same period in 2023, primarily as a result of the recapitalization of certain previously
consolidated multifamily properties that are now a part of our Co- Investment Portfolio and the opening of the Kona
Village Resort in July 2023. This increase in rental and hotel revenue was offset by: (i) costs associated with the ongoing
stabilization of the Kona Village Resort and development properties in Europe that are in the process of leasing up, as
these projects were under development in prior period and all costs were capitalized during construction (ii) higher
interest expense due to changes in the contractual interest rates of our indebtedness and higher debt balances due to the
increase in assets in Co- Investment Portfolio; and (iii) lower income from sales of residential units at our Kohanaiki
development in Hawaii as compared to the prior period. Realized Gains During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Company sold the majority of its interest in an unconsolidated investment that was not accounted for under the fair
value method of accounting and recognized a gain of $ 32. 6 million. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Company recorded fair value decreases with respect to: (i) lower fair values with respect to office properties in the
Western United States, Ireland and United Kingdom due to market assumptions of higher vacancy rates and lower
rental growth with respect to the same; and (ii) non- cash fair value losses on mortgage debt and interest rate hedges as
previous non- cash fair value gains unwind due to loans and hedges moving closer to maturity dates. These fair value
decreases were offset by (i) fair value increases with respect to our minority ownership interest in Zonda, a technology
based real estate residential housing advisory business, as a result of its recent completion of a merger transaction; (ii)
fair value increases associated with our investment in VHH due to increases in NOI at the underlying properties and
lower cost of capital associated with the business as interest rates have moved down; and (iii) fair value increase on a
recently completed multifamily development in the Western United States as operations ramp up. During the year ended
December 31, 2024, we recorded a $ 38. 8 million decrease in the accrual for carried interests in our Funds, primarily
related to the fair value decreases that the Company recorded with respect to certain office assets within the Company' s
United States commingled fund. There was also a $ 10. 9 million decrease in carried interests on certain separate
account platforms that hold multifamily assets in the Western United States. During the year ended December 31, 2023,
valuations pulled back primarily as a result of continued expansion of estimated capitalization rates and significant
reductions in transaction volumes and liquidity due to, increased borrowing rates as the Federal Reserve continued its
interest rate hikes and increased the federal funds rate by 100 basis points during 2023. As such, during the year ended
December 31, 2023 the Company recorded fair value decreases with respect to: (i) certain office properties in the
Western United States, Ireland and United Kingdom primarily due to expansion in estimated capitalization rates,
primarily as a result of increased interest rates, which also led to us recording a decrease of the accrued carried interests
with respect to funds that held these investments as discussed below; (ii) certain market rate multifamily properties in
the Western United States and Ireland primarily due to expansion in estimated capitalization rates; (iii) the write off of a
$ 5 million investment in a social impact real estate fund manager; and (iv) a decrease in the fair value of a building that
we hold a 10 % ownership interest in due to a national co- working office tenant no longer paying rent at such property.
These fair value decreases were offset by (i) a fair value increase of $ 51. 5 million with respect to our investment in VHH
(our affordable rate multifamily platform) due to gains on the conversion of the status of one of VHH’ s largest
properties from development to operating, gains associated with the conversion of the loan secured by such property
from a floating rate construction loan to a long- term fixed rate mortgage (the rate of which was set in 2019), the
resyndication of properties and (ii) fair value increases recognized by the Company on fixed rate mortgages due to
increases in market interest rates. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recorded a $ 39. 5 million
decrease in the accrual for carried interests relating to commingled funds that hold office assets and a $ 24. 8 million
reduction on carried interests associated with market rate multifamily separate account platforms in the Western United
States and Ireland. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the carrying value of the Company' s investment in VHH was $
333. 9 million and $ 285. 9 million, respectively. The total equity income recognized from the Company' s investment in
VHH was $ 47. 1 million, $ 63. 0 million and $ 119. 8 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. Distributions in the current period primarily relate to operating distributions and distributions associated
with the conversion of development properties to operating properties. During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Company received $ 27. 4 million of proceeds from VHH, including $ 10. 3 million from recurring monthly distributions,
$ 6. 8 million from paid developer fees at conversion from development properties to operating properties and $ 10. 3
million from sales and refinancings. As of December 31, 2024, Kennedy Wilson had unfulfilled capital commitments
totaling $ 284. 7 million to ten of its unconsolidated joint ventures, including $ 61. 1 million relating to four closed- end
funds managed by Kennedy Wilson, under the respective operating agreements. Summarized Financial Data The income
from VHH was a significant component of the Company' s operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2022.



Information for year ended December 31, 2023 is show for comparative purposes. Summarized financial information is
provided below: VHHDecember 31, (Dollars in millions) 20242023Cash and cash equivalents $ 148. 5 § 44. 0 Accounts
receivable28. 3 3. 7 Real estate2, 141. 3 2, 054. 9 Other38. 7 0. 3 Total assets $ 2, 356. 8 § 2, 102. 9 LiabilitiesAccounts
payable and accrued expenses $ 120. 1 $ 21. 1 Mortgage debtl, 523. 9 1, 417. 4 Total liabilities1, 644. 0 1, 438. 5
EquityKennedy Wilson- investment in unconsolidated investment332. 6285. 9Partners380. 2378. STotal equity712. 8664.
4Total liabilities and equity $ 2, 356. 8 $ 2, 102. 9 VHH (Dollars in millions) Year Ended December 31,
202420232022Rental income $ 174.9 $ 154. 6 $ 131. 0 Unrealized fair value gains36. 4 114. 4 270. 7 Rental expenses (61.
2) (52.1) (41. 0) Interest expense (62. 8) (52. 0) (45. 6) Other expense (4. 2) (8. 2) — Net income83. 1 156. 7 315. 1 Income
attributable to partner (36. 0) (93. 7) (195. 3) Income from unconsolidated investment $ 47.1 $ 63.0 $ 119. 8 NOTE 5 —
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND THE FAIR VALUE OPTION The following table presents fair value
measurements (including items that are required to be measured at fair value and items for which the fair value option
has been elected) as of December 31, 2024: (Dollars in millions) Level 1Level 2Level 3TotalUnconsolidated investments $
—$—951,884.4 51, 884. 4 Net currency derivative contracts — (1. 2) — (1. 2) Total $ —$ (1. 2) $ 1, 884.4 $ 1, 883. 2
The following table presents fair value measurements (including items that are required to be measured at fair value and
items for which the fair value option has been elected) as of December 31, 2023: (Dollars in millions) Level 1Level 2Level
3TotalUnconsolidated investments $ — $ — $ 1, 927.0 $ 1, 927. 0 Net currency derivative contracts — (23. 7) — (23. 7)
Total $ —$ (23.7) $1,927.0 $ 1, 903. 3 Unconsolidated Investments Kennedy Wilson elected to use the FV Option for 72
unconsolidated investments to more accurately reflect the timing of the value created in the underlying investments and
report those changes in current operations. Kennedy Wilson' s investment balance in the FV Option investments was § 1,
787. 7 million and $ 1, 793. 9 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, which are included in unconsolidated
investments in the accompanying balance sheets. Additionally, Kennedy Wilson records its investments in its managed
commingled funds (the" Funds') based upon the net assets that would be allocated to its interests in the Funds,
assuming the Funds were to liquidate their investments at fair value as of the reporting date. The Company’ s investment
balance in the Funds was $ 96. 7 million and $ 133. 1 million at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, which is
included in unconsolidated investments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. In estimating fair value of real
estate held by the Funds and the 72 FV Option investments, the Company considers significant unobservable inputs to
be the capitalization and discount rates. The following table summarizes the Company' s investments in unconsolidated
investments held at fair value by type: (Dollars in millions) December 31, 2024December 31, 2023FV Option $ 1, 787.7 $
1,793. 9 Funds96. 7 133. 1 Total §$ 1, 884. 4 $ 1, 927. 0 The following table presents changes in Level 3 investments,
investments in investment companies and investments in joint ventures that elected the fair value option, for the years
ended December 31: (Dollars in millions) 202420232022Beginning balance $ 1, 927. 0 $ 2, 093. 7 $ 1, 794. 8 Unrealized
and realized gains, including carried interests142. 2 111. 5 274. 4 Unrealized and realized losses (178. 1) (377.4) (114. 1)
Contributions105. 3 168. 8 348. 1 Distributions (97. 2) (143. 9) (188. 9) Foreign exchange (29. 8) 25. 0 (55. 8) Other15. 0
49. 3 35. 2 Ending balance $ 1, 884.4 $ 1, 927. 0 $ 2, 093. 7 The Other balance for the year ended December 31, 2024
relates to the non- cash transfer of one consolidated multifamily property into VHH. The Other balance for the year
ended December 31, 2023 primarily consists of non- cash contributions relating to two recapitalized multifamily
investments into a separate account platform and one multifamily property into VHH. The Other balance for the year
ended December 31, 2022 includes $ 31. 9 million related to the sale of a 49 % ownership interest in multifamily asset
located in the Western United States. As the increase in unconsolidated investments was due to a non- cash movement
the amounts are reflected in Other above. See notes to cash flow statement and Note 3 for further discussion regarding
the sale. The change in unrealized gains and losses on Level 3 investments during 2024 and 2023 for investments still
held as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were losses of $ 16. 7 million and losses of $ 178. 2 million, respectively. The
change in unrealized and realized gains and losses are included in principal co- investments within income from
unconsolidated investments on the accompanying consolidated statements of income. Unobservable Inputs for Real
Estate The Company accounts for a number of unconsolidated investments under fair value, the accuracy of estimating
fair value cannot be determined with precision and cannot be substantiated by comparison to quoted prices in active
markets and may not be realized in a current sale or immediate settlement of the asset or liability. Recently, there has
also been a lack of liquidity in the capital markets as well as limited transactions which has had impact on the inputs
associated with fair values. Additionally, there are inherent uncertainties in any fair value measurement technique, and
changes in the underlying assumptions used, including market- derived estimated capitalization rates, discount rates,
liquidity risks, and estimates of future cash flows could significantly affect the fair value measurement amounts. All
valuations of real estate involve subjective judgments. Ongoing macroeconomic conditions, such as, but not limited to,
elevated levels of inflation and interest rates, banks' ability and willingness to lend, recent adverse developments
affecting regional banks and other financial institutions and the ongoing military conflicts around the world, continue to
fuel recessionary fears and create volatility in our business results and operations. Any prolonged downturn in the
financial markets or a recession, either globally or locally in the United States or in other countries in which we conduct
business, could impact the fair value of investments held by the Company. As a result of the rapid development, fluidity
and uncertainty surrounding these situations, the Company expects that information with respect to fair value
measurement may change, potentially significantly, going forward and may not be indicative of the actual impact on our
business, operations, cash flows and financial condition for the year ended December 31, 2024 and future periods.
Discounted cash flow models estimate future cash flows from a buyer' s perspective (including terminal values) and
compute a present value using a market discount rate. The holding period in the analysis is typically ten years. This is
consistent with how market participants often estimate values in connection with buying real estate but these holding



periods can be shorter depending on the life of the structure an investment is held within. The cash flows include a
projection of the net sales proceeds at the end of the holding period, computed using a market reversionary capitalization
rate. For our investment in VHH the Company fair values its general partner (" GP") interests net cashflows utilizing a
levered discount rate. Under the direct capitalization approach, the Company applies a market derived estimated
capitalization rate to current and future income streams with appropriate adjustments for tenant vacancies or rent- free
periods. These estimated capitalization rates and future income streams are derived from comparable property and
leasing transactions and are considered to be key inputs in the valuation. Other factors that the Company takes into
account under both approaches may include transaction structuring efficiencies, tenancy details, planning, building and
environmental factors that might affect the property. The Company has an investment in a Zonda, a technology based
real estate business that offers residential construction data that is accounted for at fair value which is valued at the
Company' s share of the business using a multiple on trailing twelve months EBITDA. The table below describes the
range of inputs used as of December 31, 2024 for real estate assets: Estimated Rates Used ForCapitalization
RatesDiscount RatesMultifamily- AffordableIncome approach- discounted cash flow6. 30 % — 7. 20 % 8. 30 % — 9. 20
% Multifamily- Affordable GP interestincome approach- discounted cash flowN / A16. 00 % — 19. 50 % Multifamily-
Market RateIncome approach- direct capitalization4. 60 % — 6. 50 % N / AOfficeIncome approach- discounted cash
flowS. 20 % — 7. 50 % 7.30 % — 9. 30 % Income approach- direct capitalizationS. 30 % — 10. 30 % N /
Alndustriallncome approach- discounted cash flowS5. 00 % — 6. 30 % 6. 30 % — 7. 80 % Income approach- direct
capitalization4. 00 % — 8. 90 % N / AHotellncome approach- discounted cash flow6. 00 % 8. 30 % In valuing
indebtedness, Kennedy Wilson considers significant inputs to be the term of the debt, value of collateral, market loan- to-
value ratios, market interest rates and spreads, and credit quality of investment entities. The credit spreads used by
Kennedy Wilson to value floating rate indebtedness range from 2. 00 % to 3. 60 %, while the market rates used to value
fixed rate indebtedness range from 4. 10 % to 9. 30 %. There is no active secondary market for the Company' s
development projects and no readily available market value given the uncertainty of the amount and timing of future
cash flows. Accordingly, determination of fair value of its development projects requires judgment and extensive use of
estimates. Therefore, the Company typically uses investment cost as the estimated fair value until future cash flows
become more predictable. Additionally, the fair value of its development projects may differ significantly from the values
that would have been used had a ready market existed for such investments and may differ materially from the values
that the Company may ultimately realize. If the Company were required to liquidate an investment in a forced or
liquidation sale, it could realize significantly less than the value at which the Company has recorded it. In addition,
changes in the market environment and other events that may occur over the life of the investments may cause the gains
or losses ultimately realized on these investments to be different than the unrealized gains or losses reflected in the
currently assigned valuations. Currency Derivative Contracts Kennedy Wilson uses foreign currency derivative
contracts such as forward contracts and options to manage its foreign currency risk exposure against a portion of certain
non- U. S. dollar denominated currency net investments. Foreign currency options are valued using a variant of the
Black- Scholes model tailored for currency derivatives and the foreign currency forward contracts are valued based on
the difference between the contract rate and the forward rate at maturity of the underlying currency applied to the
notional value in the underlying currency discounted at a market rate for similar risks. Although the Company has
determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its currency derivative contracts fall within Level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy, the counterparty risk adjustments associated with the currency derivative contracts utilize Level 3
inputs. However, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, Kennedy Wilson assessed the significance of the impact of the
counterparty valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative positions and determined that the
counterparty valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation of its derivative. As a result, the Company
has determined that our derivative valuation in its entirety be classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Changes in
fair value are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) in the accompanying consolidated statements of
comprehensive income as the portion of the currency forward and option contracts used to hedge currency exposure of
its certain consolidated subsidiaries qualifies as a net investment hedge under ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging.
Changes in fair value on hedges associated with investments that are held at fair value are recorded through principal
co- investments within income from unconsolidated investments. The Company has elected to amortize the spot to
forward difference ("' forward points") to interest expense over the contractual life of the hedges. On hedges associated
with fair value investments the forward point amortization to interest expense is recorded as a component of principal
co- investments. The fair value of the currency derivative contracts held as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are reported
in other assets for hedge assets and included in accrued expenses and other liabilities for hedge liabilities on the
accompanying balance sheet. See Note 15 for a complete discussion on other comprehensive income including currency
forward and option contracts and foreign currency translations. The table below details the currency forward contracts
and currency option contracts Kennedy Wilson had as of December 31, 2024: (Dollars in millions) December 31,
2024Year Ended December 31, 2024Currency HedgedUnderlying CurrencyNotionalHedge AssetHedge LiabilityChange
in Unrealized Gains (Losses) Recognized Gains Interest ExpenseCash Received (Paid) OutstandingEURUSD € 155. 0 $

—$4.450.4$8.7$1.45 —EUR (1) GBP€40.0—0.6 (0.2) —— —EUR (1) 2) GBP€300.0 ——24.4 — — —
GBPUSD £375.04.91.13.70.6 0.5 — Total Outstanding4. 9 6.1 28.3 9.3 1. 9 — SettledEURUSD — — —2.72.14.
0 GBPUSD — —2.50.71.0(2.4) Total Settled ——2.53.43.11.6 Total $4.956.1530.8(3)$12.7$5.081.6 (1)

Hedge is held by KWE on its wholly- owned subsidiaries. (2) Relates to KWE' s Euro Medium Term Note. See discussion
in Note 10. (3) Excludes deferred tax expense of $ 1. 4 million. The gains and losses recognized through other
comprehensive income (loss) will remain in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) until the underlying



investments they were hedging are substantially liquidated by Kennedy Wilson. During the year ended December 31,
2024, the Company reclassified a loss of $ 8. 8 million from other comprehensive loss to gain on sale of real estate relating
to the sale of the Shelbourne hotel and $ 2. 1 million gain on an interest rate swap due to the repayment of the underlying
mortgage. The currency derivative contracts discussed above are offset by foreign currency translation of the Company'
s foreign net assets. For the year ended December 31, 2024, Kennedy Wilson had a gross foreign currency translation
losses on its net assets of $ 37. 1 million. As of December 31, 2024, the Company has hedged 95 % of the net asset
carrying value of its euro denominated investments and 83 % of the net asset carrying value of its GBP denominated
investments. See Note 15 for a complete discussion on other comprehensive income including currency derivative
contracts and foreign currency translations. Interest Rate Derivatives The Company has interest rate swaps and caps to
hedge its exposure to rising interest rates. Changes in the value of interest rate swaps and caps that are undesignated are
recorded to other income and had fair value gains of $ 10. 0 million and $ 5. 9 million for the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, respectively. Some of the Company' s unconsolidated investments have interest rate caps, which resulted
in a gain of $ 0. 4 million and a loss of $ S. 2 million recorded in principal co- investments for the years ended December
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable including
related party receivables, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities approximate fair value due to their
short- term maturities. The carrying value of loans (excluding related party loans as they are presumed not to be an
arm’ s length transaction) approximates fair value as the terms are similar to loans with similar characteristics available
in the market. Debt liabilities are accounted for at face value plus net unamortized debt premiums. Debt assumed in an
asset acquisition, or business combination, is recorded at fair value on the date of acquisition. The aggregate fair value as
of December 31, 2024 and 2023 for mortgages, KW unsecured debt, and KWE unsecured bonds were estimated to be
approximately $ 4. 5 billion and $ S. 0 billion, respectively, based on a comparison of the yield that would be required in
a current transaction, taking into consideration the risk of the underlying collateral and the Company' s credit risk to
the current yield of a similar security, compared to their aggregate carrying value of $ 4. 8 billion and $ 5. 6 billion as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The inputs used to value mortgages, KW unsecured debt, and KWE
unsecured bonds are based on observable inputs for similar assets and quoted prices in markets that are not active and
are therefore determined to be level 2 inputs. NOTE 6- LOANS The global debt platform consists of two groups: the
Company' s construction lending portfolio, which was established with the acquisition of the Construction Loan
Portfolio from Pacific Western Bank in the second quarter of 2023 (as detailed below) and the Company' s bridge loan
portfolio. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company and affiliates of Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited
(collectively," Fairfax'), its equity partner, acquired a $ 4. 1 billion construction loan portfolio from Pacific Western
Bank (the" Construction Loan Portfolio'). The Company’ s investment in the Construction Loan Portfolio was S % of
the purchase price and the future funding obligations. The $ 4. 1 billion represented the gross commitment amount for
the Construction Loan Portfolio, which has been reduced to $ 3. 7 billion as of December 31, 2023, due to loan
repayments. The Construction Loan Portfolio has a current outstanding balance of $ 2. 4 billion (Kennedy Wilson share
of $ 118. 9 million), not including the 4. 5 % discount on gross commitment amounts from the time of purchase. As of
December 31, 2024, the Company had unfulfilled capital commitments totaling $ 123. 4 million to our loan portfolio. The
Company had loan purchases and originations of $ 231. 1 million and $ 247. 2 million at December 31, 2024 and
December 31, 2023, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company had
loan income of $ 31. 2 million and $ 26. 1 million, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the
Company recorded a $ 11. 2 million and $ 7. 0 million of credit loss reserve through other (loss) income. See Note 2 for
more detail on CECL reserves. NOTE 7— OTHER ASSETS Other assets consist of the following: December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 20242023Straight line rent receivable $ 40. 5 $ 45. 8 Interest rate caps and swaps12. 9 29. 0
Goodwill23. 9 23. 9 Hedge assets4. 9 13. 3 Prepaid expenses14. 0 13. 1 Deferred taxes, net7. 0 10. 0 Leasing commissions,
net of accumulated amortization of $ 13. S and $ 13. 4 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively7. 9 9. 0 Right of use
asset, netl0. 1 8. 9 Furniture and equipment net of accumulated depreciation of $ 21. 7 and $ 30. 8 at December 31, 2024
and 2023, respectivelyS. 3 7. 0 Above- market leases, net of accumulated amortization of $ 38. S and $ 42. 4 at December
31, 2024 and 2023, respectivelyl. 4 2. 5 Other13. 1 25. 0 Other Assets $ 141. 0 $ 187. 5 Depreciation and amortization
expense related to the above depreciable assets were $ 6. 9 million, $ 8. 8 million, and $ 10. 2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company, as a lessee, has three office leases and two ground leases,
which qualify as operating leases, with remaining lease terms of two to 235 years. The payments associated with office
space leases have been discounted using the Company' s incremental borrowing rate which is based on collateralized
interest rates in the market and risk profile of the associated lease. For ground leases the rate implicit in the lease was
used to determine the right of use asset. The following table summarizes the fixed, future minimum rental payments,
excluding variable costs, which are discounted to calculate the right of use asset and related lease liability for its
operating leases in which we are the lessee: (Dollars in millions) MinimumRental Payments2025 $ 1. 0 20261. 3 20271. 3
20281. 3 20291. 3 Thereafter29. 1 Total undiscounted rental payments3S. 3 Less imputed interest (26. 7) Right of use
asset $ 8. 6 Rental expense was $ 1. 1 million, $ 0. 7 million, and $ 0. 6 million for the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023 and 2022, respectively, and is included in general and administrative expense on the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. NOTE 8§ — MORTGAGE DEBT The following table details mortgage debt secured by
Kennedy Wilson' s consolidated properties as of December 31, 2024 and 2023: (Dollars in millions) Carrying amount of
mortgage debt as of December 31, (1) Mortgage Debt by Product TypeRegion20242023Multifamily (1) Western U. S. $ 1,
664.9 % 1, 711. 0 Commercial (1) United Kingdom434. 3 509. 9 Commercial Western U. S. 209. 4 258. 2 Commercial (1)
Ireland303. 1 337. 8 CommercialSpain — 37. 7 Mortgage debt (excluding loan fees) (1) 2, 611. 7 2, 854. 6 Unamortized



loan fees (14. S) (13. 7) Total Mortgage Debt $ 2, 597.2 $ 2, 840. 9 (1) The mortgage debt payable balances include
unamortized debt discount. Debt discount represent the difference between the fair value of debt and the principal value
of debt assumed in various acquisitions and are amortized into interest expense over the remaining term of the related
debt in a manner that approximates the effective interest method. The net unamortized loan discount as of December 31,
2024 and 2023 was $ 1. 4 million and $ 1. 0 million, respectively. The mortgage debt had a weighted average interest rate
of 4. 84 % and 5. 10 % per annum as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, 70 % of
Kennedy Wilson' s property level debt was fixed rate, 27 % was floating rate with interest caps and 2 % was floating
rate without interest caps, compared to 65 % fixed rate, 35 % floating rate with interest caps and 0 % floating rate
without interest caps, as of December 31, 2023. Mortgage Debt Transactions and Maturities During the year ended
December 31, 2024, six existing mortgages were refinanced and one loan was deconsolidated. The aggregate maturities of
mortgage loans including amortization and effects of any extension options as of December 31, 2024 are as follows:
(Dollars in millions) Aggregate Maturities2025 (1) $ 141. 3 2026515. 0 2027341. 3 2028332. 9 2029304. 5 Thereafter978. 1
2, 613. 1 Unamortized debt discount (1. 4) Unamortized loan fees (14. 5) Total Mortgage Debt $ 2, 597. 2 (1) The
Company expects to repay the amounts maturing in the next twelve months with new mortgage loans, cash generated
from operations, existing cash balances, proceeds from dispositions of real estate investments, or as necessary, with
borrowings on the Company' s Third A & R Facility. NOTE 9 — KW UNSECURED DEBT The following table details
KW unsecured debt as of December 31, 2024 and 2023: December 31, (Dollars in millions) 20242023Credit Facility $ 98.
3 $ 150. 4 Senior Notes (1) 1, 802. 7 1, 803. 1 KW Unsecured Debtl, 901. 0 1, 953. 5 Unamortized loan fees (23. 1) (19. 2)
Total KW Unsecured Debt $ 1, 877.9 $ 1, 934. 3 (1) The senior notes balances include unamortized debt premiums. Debt
premiums represent the difference between the fair value of debt and the principal value of debt assumed in various
acquisitions and are amortized into interest expense over the remaining term of the related debt in a manner that
approximates the effective interest method. The unamortized debt premium as of December 31, 2024 and December 31,
2023 was $ 2. 7 million and $ 3. 1 million, respectively. Borrowings Under Credit Facilities On September 12, 2024, the
Kennedy- Wilson, Inc., a wholly- owned subsidiary of the Company (the'" Borrower''), the Company and certain of the
Company' s subsidiaries entered into that certain Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the'" Credit
Agreement", and the $ 550 million revolving line of credit thereunder, the" Third A & R Facility") with Bank of
America, N. A., as administrative agent, and the lenders and letter of credit issuers party thereto. Loans under the Third
A & R Facility bear interest at a rate equal to Daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("' SOFR") or Term SOFR plus
an applicable rate between 1. 75 % and 2. 75 %, depending on the consolidated leverage ratio as of the applicable
measurement date. The Third A & R Facility has a maturity date of September 12, 2027 and has two six- month
extension options. The Third A & R Facility has certain covenants as set forth in the Credit Agreement that, among
other things, limit the Company and certain of its subsidiaries’ ability to incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends or
make distributions to stockholders, repurchase capital stock or debt, make investments, sell assets or subsidiary stock,
create or permit liens, engage in transactions with affiliates, enter into sale / leaseback transactions, issue subsidiary
equity and enter into consolidations or mergers. The Credit Agreement require the Company to maintain (i) a maximum
consolidated leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of not greater than 65 %, measured as of the last day of
each fiscal quarter, (ii) 2a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of not less than 1. 60
to 1. 00, measured as of the last day of each fiscal quarter for the period of four full fiscal quarters then ended, (iii) a
minimum consolidated tangible net worth equal to or greater than the sum of $ 1, 844, 222, 000 plus an amount equal to
fifty percent (50 %) of net equity proceeds received by the Company after the date of the most recent financial
statements that are available as of September 12, 2024, measured as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, (iv) a
maximum recourse leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of not greater than an amount equal to
consolidated tangible net worth as of the measurement date multiplied by 1. 5, measured as of the last day of each fiscal
quarter, (v) a maximum secured recourse leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of not greater than an
amount equal to 3. 5 % of consolidated total asset value (as defined in the Credit Agreement) and $ 313, 054, 000, (vi) a
maximum adjusted secured leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of not greater than 55 %, measured as of
the last day of each fiscal quarter, and (vii) liquidity (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of at least $ 75. 0 million. As of
December 31, 2024, the Company was in compliance with all financial covenant calculations. The obligations of the
Borrower pursuant to the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the Company and certain wholly- owned subsidiaries of
the Company. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had $ 98. 3 million outstanding on the Third A & R Facility with $
451. 7 million available to be drawn. The average outstanding borrowings under credit facilities was $ 186. 8 million
during the year ended December 31, 2024. On February 11, 2021, Kennedy- Wilson, Inc., as issuer, issued $ 500. 0
million aggregate principal amount of 4. 750 % senior notes due 2029 (the “ 2029 notes ) and $ 500. 0 million aggregate
principal amount of 5. 000 % senior notes due 2031 (the “ 2031 notes ” and, together with the 2029 notes, the “ initial
notes ). On March 15, 2021, Kennedy- Wilson, Inc. issued an additional $ 100 million aggregate principal of the 2029
notes and an additional $ 100 million of the 2031 notes. These additional notes were issued as'" additional notes' under
the indentures pursuant to which Kennedy Wilson previously issued 2029 notes and the 2031 notes. On August 23, 2021,
Kennedy- Wilson, Inc. issued $ 600. 0 million aggregate principal amount of 4. 750 % senior notes due 2030 (the" 2030
notes' and, together with the 2029 notes and the 2031 notes, the" notes'). The notes are senior, unsecured obligations of
Kennedy Wilson and are guaranteed by Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. and certain subsidiaries of Kennedy Wilson.
The notes accrue interest at a rate of 4. 750 % (in the case of the 2029 notes), 4. 750 % (in the case of the 2030 notes) and
5. 000 % (in the case of the 2031 notes) per annum, payable semi- annually in arrears on March 1 and September 1 of
each year, beginning on September 1, 2021 for the 2029 notes and 2031 notes and March 1, 2022 for the 2030 notes. The



notes will mature on March 1, 2029 (in the case of the 2029 notes), February 1, 2030 (in case of 2030 notes) and March 1,
2031 (in the case of the 2031 notes), in each case unless earlier repurchased or redeemed. At any time prior to March 1,
2024 (in the case of the 2029 notes), September 1, 2024 (in the case of the 2030 notes) or March 1, 2026 (in the case of the
2031 notes), Kennedy Wilson had the right to (with respect to the 2029 Notes and 2030 Notes) and may redeem the 2031
Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100 % of their principal amount, plus an applicable “ make-
whole ” premium and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date. At any time and from time to time on
or after March 1, 2024 (in the case of the 2029 notes), September 1, 2024 (in the case of the 2030 notes) or March 1, 2026
(in the case of the 2031 notes), Kennedy Wilson may redeem the notes of the applicable series, in whole or in part, at
specified redemption prices set forth in the indenture governing the notes of the applicable series, plus accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date. In addition, prior to March 1, 2024 (for 2029 notes and 2031 notes) and
September 1, 2024 (for 2030 notes), Kennedy Wilson may redeem up to 40 % of the notes of either series from the
proceeds of certain equity offerings. No sinking fund will be provided for the notes. Upon the occurrence of certain
change of control or termination of trading events, holders of the notes may require Kennedy Wilson to repurchase their
notes for cash equal to 101 % of the principal amount of the notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if
any, to, but excluding, the applicable repurchase date. The indentures governing the notes contain various restrictive
covenants, including, among others, limitations on the Company' s ability and the ability of certain of the Company' s
subsidiaries to incur or guarantee additional indebtedness, make restricted payments, pay dividends or make any other
distributions from restricted subsidiaries, redeem or repurchase capital stock, sell assets or subsidiary stocks, engage in
transactions with affiliates, create or permit liens, enter into sale / leaseback transactions, and enter into consolidations
or mergers. The indentures governing the notes limit the ability of Kennedy Wilson and its restricted subsidiaries to
incur additional indebtedness if, on the date of such incurrence and after giving effect to the new indebtedness, the
maximum balance sheet leverage ratio (as defined in the indenture) is greater than 1. 50 to 1. 00, subject to certain
exceptions. As of December 31, 2024, the maximum balance sheet leverage ratio was 1. 28 to 1. 00. See Note 18 for the
guarantor and non- guarantor financial statements. As of December 31, 2024, the Company was in compliance with all
financial covenants. NOTE 10 — KWE UNSECURED BONDS The following table details the KWE unsecured bonds as
of December 31, 2024 and 2023: December 31, (Dollars in millions) 20242023KWE Euro Medium Term Note
Programme (1) $ 310. 0 $ 523. 3 Unamortized loan fees (0. 2) (0. 5) Total KWE Unsecured Bonds $ 309. 8 $ 522. 8 (1) The
KWE unsecured bonds balances include unamortized debt discounts. Debt discounts represent the difference between
the fair value of debt at issuance and the principal value of debt and are amortized into interest expense over the
remaining term of the related debt in a manner that approximates the effective interest method. The net unamortized
loan discount as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $ 0. 5 million and $ 1. 0 million, respectively. KWE issued senior
unsecured notes for an aggregate principal amount of (€ 550 million) (the'" KWE Notes'). The KWE Notes were issued
at a discount with an annual fixed coupon of 3. 25 %, and mature in November 2025. KWE invested proceeds from the
KWE Notes to fund equity investments in euro denominated assets and has designated the KWE Notes as a net
investment hedge under ASC Topic 815. Subsequent fluctuations in foreign currency rates that impact the carrying
value of the KWE Notes are recorded to accumulated other comprehensive income. During the year ended December 31,
2024, Kennedy Wilson recognized a gain of $ 24. 4 million in accumulated other comprehensive income due to the
weakening of the euro against the GBP during the period. On December 18, 2024, KWE completed a redemption of € 175
million in aggregate nominal amount of its KWE Notes at a price of 100. 4 % of the principal amount redeemed plus
accrued interest. During the year ended December 31, 2022, KWE launched a cash tender offer for up to € 150. 0 million
in aggregate nominal amount of the KWE Notes and accepted all of the € 75. 0 million (approximately $ 80. 3 million,
based on December 31, 2022 rates) in aggregate nominal amount of KWE Notes validly tendered pursuant to the tender
offer for a purchase price equal to 82 % of the nominal amount of the KWE Notes, which resulted in a gain on
extinguishment of debt of $ 13. 9 million. The Company intends to repay the KWE Notes through a combination of cash
on hand, proceeds from asset sales and its unsecured credit facility. The trust deed that governs the bonds contain
various restrictive covenants for KWE, including, among others, limitations on KWE’ s and its material subsidiaries’
ability to provide certain negative pledges. The trust deed limits the ability of KWE and its subsidiaries to incur
additional indebtedness if, on the date of such incurrence and after giving effect to the incurrence of the new
indebtedness, (1) KWE’ s consolidated net indebtedness (as defined in the trust deed) would exceed 60 % of KWE’ s total
assets (as calculated pursuant to the terms of the trust deed); and (2) KWE’ s consolidated secured indebtedness (as
defined in the trust deed) would exceed 50 % of KWE?’ s total assets (as calculated pursuant to the terms of the trust
deed). The trust deed also requires KWE, as of each reporting date, to maintain an interest coverage ratio (as defined in
the trust deed) of at least 1. 50 to 1. 00 and have unencumbered assets of no less than 125 % of its unsecured indebtedness
(as defined in the trust deed). As of December 31, 2024, KWE was in compliance with these financial covenants. NOTE
11 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS Related party revenue is fees and other income received from investments
in which the Company has an ownership interest, excluding amounts eliminated in consolidation discussed below.
Kennedy Wilson earned related party fees of $ 49. 3 million, $ 61. 9 million and $ 45. 2 million for the periods ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company provides investment and property management and
other property related services on properties in which it also has an ownership interest. Fees earned on consolidated
properties are eliminated in consolidation and fees on unconsolidated investments are eliminated for the portion that
relate to the Company' s ownership interest. During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 fees of $ 0. 9
million, $ 0. 3 million and $ 0. 4 million, respectively, were eliminated in consolidation. NOTE 12 — INCOME TAXES
The table below represents a geographical breakdown of book (loss) income before the provision for (benefit from)



income taxes: Year ended December 31, (Dollars in millions) 202420232022Domestic $ (40.3) $ (238.8) $ 88. 5
Foreign16. 8 (97. 9) 49. 6 Total $ (23.5) $ (336.7) $ 138. 1 The U. S. and foreign components of provision for income
taxes consisted of the following components. However, it is not reflective of the cash tax results of the Company. Year
ended December 31, (Dollars in millions) 202420232022FederalCurrent § — $ — $ — Deferred (11. 8) (66. 0) 3. 6 (11. 8)
(66. 0) 3. 6 StateCurrentS. 6 0. 7 0. 3 Deferred (1. 1) 0. 8 11.34.5 1.5 11. 6 ForeignCurrent15. 0 9. 9 17. 6 Deferred2. 5 (0.
7)3.417.509.2 21. 0 Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $ 10. 2 $ (55. 3) $ 36. 2 A reconciliation of the statutory
federal income tax rate of 21 % with Kennedy Wilson’ s effective income tax rate is as follows: Year ended December 31,
(Dollars in millions) 202420232022Tax computed at the statutory rate $ (4. 9) $ (70. 7) $ 29. 0 Domestic permanent
differences, primarily disallowed executive compensation6. 8 8. 7 7. 8 Foreign permanent differences, primarily non-
deductible depreciation, amortization and interest expenses in the United Kingdom1. 0 1. 9 1. 7 Effect of foreign
operations, net of foreign tax creditS. 6 11. 2 (8. 8) Noncontrolling interests0. 2 (5. 1) (1. 1) State income taxes, net of
federal benefit (1. 1) (7. 8) 2. 8 Other2. 6 6. S 4. 8 Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $ 10. 2 $ (55. 3) $ 36. 2
Cumulative tax effects of temporary differences are shown below at December 31, 2024 and 2023: Year ended December
31, (Dollars in millions) 20242023Deferred tax assets: Foreign currency translation $ 1. 2 § 4. 8 Net operating loss
carryforward and credits135. 3 178. 0 Depreciation and amortization90. 8 69. 4 Investment basis difference101. 3 89. 6
Stock option expensel. 7 1. 7 Hedging transactions17. 0 15. 5 Lease liability0. 1 0. 1 Capitalized interest0. 2 — Accrued
reserves6. 4 7. 9 Total deferred tax assets354. 0 367. 0 Valuation allowance (277. 5) (283. 3) Net deferred tax assets76. 5
83. 7 Deferred tax liabilities: Investment basis and reserve differences288. 7 304. 1 Prepaid expenses and otherS. 5 3. 7
Capitalized interest — 0. 1 Total deferred tax liabilities294. 2 307. 9 Deferred tax liability, net $ (217. 7) $ (224. 2) During
the year ended December 31, 2019, the United Kingdom enacted a Finance Act, which introduced a new capital gain tax
for non- UK resident investors who dispose of UK real estate. The new capital gain tax law became effective on April 6,
2019. Beginning on this date, non- UK resident investors are subject to UK tax on gains arising from the direct and
indirect dispositions of UK real estate held for investment purposes. Transitional provisions allowed for rebasing of UK
real estate values to fair market value as of April 5, 2019 ("' UK Basis Step- Up''). Accordingly, only gains arising from
property value increases after April S, 2019 are subject to tax. The step- up led to a higher tax basis relative to the
carrying value of the UK real estate, thus resulting in a UK deferred tax asset of $ 107. 0 million. The realizability of this
deferred tax asset is dependent on future disposition of real estate at a fair market value in excess of appraised value as
of April 5, 2019. Given uncertainties surrounding Brexit and its potential impact on future real estate values, the
Company concluded that the U. K. deferred tax asset did not meet the more likely than not threshold of being realizable.
Therefore, a full valuation allowance was recorded against the UK deferred tax asset. As the economic environment in
the UK real estate market is still uncertain and highly depended on numerous general economic factors, including but
not limited to rising interest rates, foreign currency fluctuations, inflation, etc, the Company has maintained a full
valuation allowance against its UK Basis Step- Up deferred tax asset. During fiscal year 2024, the valuation allowance on
the UK Basis Step- Up increased to $ 167. 0 million, primarily due to current year depreciation expense. During March
2018, Kennedy Wilson elected to treat KWE as a partnership for U. S. tax purposes retroactive to December 29, 2017.
Due to unrealized foreign exchange losses not yet deductible for tax purposes and the consideration paid to acquire the
non- controlling interests in KWE exceeding the book carrying value of the non- controlling interests in KWE, the
Company’ s tax basis in KWE exceeded its book carrying value at December 29, 2017, and every period thereafter. Prior
to the election to treat KWE as a partnership, KWE was taxed as a controlled foreign corporation. As a controlled
foreign corporation, the Company was precluded from recognizing a deferred tax asset for its tax basis in excess of book
carrying value for its investment in KWE as the excess tax basis from the investment was not expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future. However, as a result of the conversion of KWE to a partnership for U. S. tax purposes, the Company
was required to record a deferred tax asset for its investment in KWE. As of December 31, 2018, the Company recorded
a $ 98. 3 million deferred tax asset related to its excess tax basis over book carrying value for its investment in KWE. As
a significant portion of the excess tax basis would only reverse upon a strengthening of foreign currencies or upon a
disposition of KWE, the Company determined that a valuation allowance of $ 98. 3 million was required for the tax basis
that was in excess of the Company’ s carrying value for its investment in KWE as it did not meet the more likely than not
recognition threshold. During the years ended December 31, 2023, the Company' s excess tax basis over book basis in
KWE decreased due to unrealized foreign currency gains that has no tax basis. During the year ended December 31,
2024, the Company' s excess tax basis over book basis in KWE increased, primarily due to higher tax gains on sales of
real estate. As of December 31, 2024, Kennedy Wilson’ s excess tax basis in KWE and the related valuation allowance
were $ 89. 1 million and $ 76. 6 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, Kennedy Wilson had California and other
state net operating losses of $ 99. 6 million and $ 10. 1 million, respectively. California net operating losses begin to
expire in 2034. As of December 31, 2024, Kennedy Wilson had $ 156. 5 million of foreign net operating loss
carryforwards, which have no expiration date. The Company has foreign tax credit carryforwards of $ 87. 6 million, of
which $ 6. 3 million begin to expire in 2027. The Company' s valuation allowance on deferred tax assets decreased by §$ 5.
8 million in 2024 and increased by $ 17. 4 million in 2023. The decrease in the valuation allowance during 2024 primarily
relates to a partial release of the valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset associated with our excess tax basis in
KWE investment relating to assets intended for sale in the foreseeable future. The increase in the 2023 valuation
allowance principally relates to additional valuation allowance recorded on the Company' s UK Basis Step- Up deferred
tax asset as a result of depreciation. In June 2021, the Company received a notification of a general tax inquiry being
conducted by the Spanish tax authorities for several of its Spanish entities for tax years 2016 and 2017. As a result of the
Spanish tax inquiry, management has reassessed the Company’ s prior Spanish tax filing positions and the need to



accrue additional taxes. Based on this reassessment, the Company believes that no additional Spanish tax accruals are
required. Kennedy Wilson’ s federal and state income tax returns remain open to examination for the years 2021
through 2023 and 2020 through 2023, respectively. However, due to the existence of prior year loss carryovers, the IRS
may examine any tax years for which the carryovers are used to offset future taxable income. Our foreign subsidiaries’
tax returns remain open to examination for the years 2020 through 2023. The Spanish loss carryovers may be subject to
tax examination for a period of 10 years from the period in which such losses were generated. NOTE 13 —
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES CAPITAL COMMITMENTS — As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the
Company has unfunded capital commitments of $ 284. 7 million and $ 187. 7 million to its joint ventures under the
respective operating agreements. It also has commitments of $ 123. 4 million and $ 87. 7 million as of December 31, 2024
and 2023 to its global loan platform. The Company may be called upon to contribute additional capital to joint ventures
in satisfaction of the Company' s capital commitment obligations. LITIGATION — Kennedy Wilson is currently a
defendant in certain routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. It is the opinion of management and
legal counsel that the outcome of these actions will not have a material effect on the financial statements taken as a
whole. NOTE 14 — STOCK COMPENSATION AND OTHER RELATED PLANS The Company maintains a
shareholder- approved equity participation plan (the “ Second Amended and Restated Plan ) under which shares of
common stock are reserved for issuance pursuant to grants of restricted stock and other awards to officers, employees,
non- employee directors and consultants. The Second Amended and Restated Plan also allows for share recycling on net
settled restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, performance unit awards and performance share awards.
Certain senior employees of the Company (" Senior Employees'') participate in the Second Amended and Restated Plan.
During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the compensation committee of the board of directors
approved the total grant of 4. 8 million shares of performance- based restricted stock units, 3. 4 million shares of
performance- based restricted stock units and 2. 8 million shares of performance- based restricted stock units of
Company common stock, respectively, subject to vesting based on the Company’ s total shareholder return (the “ TSR
restricted awards ), performance- based restricted shares of Company common stock or performance- based restricted
stock units covering Company common stock subject to vesting based on the Company’ s return on equity (the “ ROE
awards ”) (for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022), performance- based restricted stock units of Company
common stock subject to vesting based on the Company' s return on invested assets (the'" ROIA awards") (for the year
ended December 31, 2024) and time- based restricted shares of Company common stock or time- based restricted stock
units covering Company common stock (the “ time- based awards ) (collectively, the “ awards ), under the Second
Amended and Restated Plan. Up to 100 % of the TSR awards will be eligible to vest based on the Company' s total
shareholder return relative to the MSCI World Real Estate GICS Level 1 Index (or replacement thereof) during a three-
year performance period (subject to continued employment through the vesting date), with the actual number of shares
subject to such TSR awards that vest and cease to be subject to restrictions with respect to the performance period
determined by multiplying (i) the total number of shares subject to the TSR award by (ii) the applicable vesting
percentage (which is determined based on the level of the Company' s relative total shareholder return attained during
the performance period). Up to one- third of the ROE awards and / or ROIA awards (as applicable) will be eligible to
vest with respect to each Company fiscal year of the performance period (each, a “ performance year ) to the extent that
the Company satisfies the return on equity goals for such performance year (subject to continued employment through
the vesting date). One- third of the time- based awards will vest on each of the first three anniversaries of the grant date,
subject to continued employment through the vesting date. Stock- based compensation expense is based on the fair
values on the date of grant for the ROE and ROIA awards and time- based awards. Certain ROE and ROIA awards and
time- based awards were granted with a three- year sale restriction period upon vesting. Due to the lack of marketability
of these shares with the three- year sale restriction period upon vesting, a 12. S % discount was applied to the grant price
of these shares when computing stock compensation expense. The fair value of the TSR awards are estimated using a
Monte Carlo simulation. As of December 31, 2024, there was $ 27. 5 million of unrecognized compensation cost for the
Second Amended and Restated Plan related to unvested shares which will vest over the next three years. Upon vesting,
the restricted stock granted to employees discussed directly above is net share- settled to cover the withholding tax.
Shares that vested during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were net- share settled such that the
Company withheld shares with values equivalent to the employees’ minimum statutory obligations for the applicable
income and other employment taxes, and remitted the cash to the appropriate taxing authorities. The total shares
withheld during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were 131, 116 shares, 781, 303 shares, and 834, 911
shares respectively, and were valued based on the Company’ s closing stock price on the respective vesting dates. During
the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, total payments for the employees’ tax obligations to the taxing
authorities were $ 1. 6 million, $ 13. 4 million, and $ 18. 6 million respectively. These figures are reflected as a financing
activity on the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows. During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023
and 2022, Kennedy Wilson recognized $ 23. 6 million, $ 34. 5 million, and $ 29. 0 million, respectively, of compensation
expense related to the vesting of restricted common stock and is included in compensation and related expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of income. The following table sets forth activity under the Amended and
Restated Plan, the First Amended and Restated Plan, and the Second Amended and Restated Plan for the Company' s
fiscal years ending December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022: SharesNonvested at December 31, 20221, 700, S58 Granted961,
045 Vested (781, 303) Forfeited (267, 031) Nonvested at December 31, 20231, 613, 269 Granted412, 148 Vested (131, 116)
Forfeited — Nonvested at December 31, 20241, 894, 301 Non- NEO Deferred Compensation Program and Carried
Interests Sharing Program The Company maintains a deferred compensation program for certain employees of the



Company (the “ Deferred Compensation Program ). The named executive officers of the Company are not participants
of the Deferred Compensation Program. The compensation committee of the Company’ s board of directors approves an
amount annually to be allocated to certain employees of the Company in the United States and in Europe. The amount
allocated to each employee vests ratably over a three- year vesting period, subject to continued employment with the
Company. Prior to 2022, half of the allocated amount was tied specifically to the performance and value of the Company’
s common stock at the time of each vesting (“ Bonus Units ). Beginning in 2022, the entire amount allocated to each
employee consisted of Bonus Units. Under the Deferred Compensation Program, at the time of each vesting, the
employees receive an amount equal to either the dividend yield of the Company’ s common stock or the actual amount of
dividends paid on the Company common stock (in the case of Bonus Units) during the immediately preceding year on the
amount that is subject to such vesting. During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 the Company
recognized compensation expense of $ 6. 4 million, $ 8. 2 million and $ 9. 2 million, respectively, under the Deferred
Compensation Program. The Company also maintains a carried interests sharing program for certain employees of the
Company (the “ Carried Interests Sharing Program ”). On January 29, 2025, compensation committee of the Company'
s board of directors recently approved, reserved and authorized increasing the pool available for the Company
employees from thirty- five percent to fifty percent (50 %) issue of any carried interests earned by certain commingled
funds and separate account investments to be allocated to certain employees of the Company (including the Company' s
executive officers). Sixty percent of the award to each employee vests ratably over four years and the remaining forty
percent vests upon the consummation of a liquidity event of the investment whereby the Company actually receives cash
carried interests from its partner. The full carried interests earned by the Company will be recorded to income from
unconsolidated investments and the amount allocated to employees is recorded as carried interests expense. During the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 the Company recognized reversals of $ 16. 6 million, $ 15. 1 million and $
4. 3 million, respectively, of carried interests compensation to employees. NOTE 15 — EQUITY On June 16, 2023, the
Company announced the issuance of its $ 200 million perpetual preferred stock to Fairfax. Under the terms of the
agreement, Fairfax purchased $ 200 million in cumulative perpetual preferred stock carrying a 6. 00 % annual dividend
rate and 7- year warrants for approximately 12. 3 million common shares with an initial exercise price of $ 16. 21 per
share. On March 8, 2022, the Company announced the issuance of its $ 300 million cumulative perpetual preferred
stock, in addition to approximately 13 million of its warrants to affiliates of Fairfax. Under the terms of the agreements,
Fairfax purchased $ 300 million in cumulative perpetual preferred stock carrying a 4. 7S % annual dividend rate and
approximately 13 million 7- year warrants, which are initially convertible to the same number of common shares with
and an initial exercise price of $ 23. 00 per share. Both perpetual preferred stock issuances are treated as permanent
equity. At- the- Market Equity Offering Program In May 2022, the Company established an at- the- market equity
offering program (the “ ATM Program ) pursuant to which it may issue and sell shares of the Company’ s common
stock having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $ 200. 0 million in amounts as the Company may determine from
time to time. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company issued 1, 690, 743 shares for $ 29. 8 million, net of
issuance costs, under its ATM Program. During 2024 and 2022 there were no shares issued through the ATM Program.
Common Stock Repurchase Program On March 20, 2018, the Company announced that its board of directors
authorized a $ 250. 0 million stock repurchase program. Repurchases under the program may be made in the open
market, in privately negotiated transactions, through the net settlement of the Company’ s restricted stock grants or
otherwise, with the amount and timing of repurchases dependent on market conditions and subject to the Company’ s
discretion. On November 4, 2020, the Company' s board of directors authorized an expansion of its existing $ 250 million
share repurchase plan to $ 500 million. During the year ended December 31, 2024, Kennedy Wilson repurchased and
retired 1, 565, 775 shares for $ 13. 3 million. During the year ended December 31, 2023, Kennedy Wilson repurchased
and retired 666, 701 shares for $ 7. S million under the previous stock repurchase program. Generally, upon vesting, the
restricted stock units granted to employees is net share- settled such that the Company will withhold shares with value
equivalent to the employees’ minimum statutory obligation for the applicable income and other employment taxes, and
remit the cash to the appropriate taxing authorities. See Note 14 for more detail. Dividend Distributions Kennedy Wilson
declared and paid the following cash dividends on its common stock: (Dollars in millions) Year Ended December 31,
2024Year Ended December 31, 2023DeclaredPaidDeclaredPaidPreferred Stock $ 43.5 $43.5 $ 38. 0 §$ 35. 5 Common
Stock (1) 82. 6 100. 2 133. 6 136. 0 (1) The difference between declared and paid is the amount accrued on the
consolidated balance sheets. Taxability of Dividends Earnings and profits, which determine the taxability of distributions
to stockholders, may differ from income reported for financial reporting purposes due to the differences for federal
income tax purposes in the treatment of revenue recognition, compensation expense, derivative investments and the basis
of depreciable assets and estimated useful lives used to compute depreciation. The Company' s dividends related to its
common stock will be classified for U. S. federal income tax purposes as follows: Record DatePayment DateDistributions
Per ShareOrdinary DividendsReturn of Capitall2 /29 /20231 /4/2024 $ 0.2400 $ 0. 2400 $ — 3 /27 /20244 / 4 / 20240.
2400 0.2400 — 6 /28 /20247 /5/20240. 1200 0. 1200 — 9 /30 /202410 / 3 / 20240. 1200 0. 1200 — Totals $ 0. 7200 $ 0.
7200 $ — Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) The following table summarizes the changes in each
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss (" AOCI"), net of taxes: (Dollars in millions) Foreign Currency
TranslationForeign Currency Derivative ContractsInterest Rate SwapsTotal Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
(1) Balance at December 31,2023 $ (125.7) $ 76.5 $ 3. 2 $ (46. 0) Unrealized (losses) gains, arising during the period (37.
1) 30. 9 — (6. 2) Taxes on unrealized losses (gains), arising during the period0. 6 (1. 4) — (0. 8) Amounts reclassified out
of AOCI during the period, gross9. 5 (0. 8) (2. 1) 6. 6 Amounts reclassified out of AOCI during the period, taxes (4.2) 0. 6
0.5 (3. 1) Noncontrolling interest0. 3 — — 0. 3 Balance at December 31,2024 $ (156. 6) $ 105.8 $1. 6 $ (49. 2) (1)



Excludes $ 358. 4 million of inception to date accumulated other comprehensive losses associated with noncontrolling
interest holders of KWE that the Company was required to record as part of the KWE Transaction in October 2017. The
local currencies for the Company' s interests in foreign operations include the euro and the British pound sterling. The
related amounts on our balance sheets are translated into U. S. dollars at the exchange rates at the respective financial
statement date, while amounts on our statements of income are translated at the average exchange rates during the
respective period. Unrealized gains on foreign currency translation is a result of the strengthening of the euro and
British pound sterling against the U. S. dollar during the year ended December 31, 2024. In order to manage currency
fluctuations, Kennedy Wilson entered into currency derivative contracts to manage its exposure to currency fluctuations
between its functional currency (U. S. dollar) and the functional currency (Euro and GBP) of certain of its wholly- owned
and consolidated subsidiaries. See Note S for a more detailed discussion of Kennedy Wilson' s currency derivative
contracts. NOTE 16 — EARNINGS PER SHARE Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income (loss)
attributable to Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. common stockholders by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is computed after adjusting the numerator and denominator of the basic
earnings per share computation for the effects of all potentially dilutive common shares. The dilutive effect of non-
vested stock issued under share - based compensation plans is computed using the treasury stock method. The dilutive
effect of the cumulative preferred stock is computed using the if - converted method. The following is a summary of the
elements used in calculating basic and diluted income per share for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:
Year ended December 31, (Dollars in millions, except share amounts and per share data) 202420232022Net (loss) income
attributable to Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. common shareholders $ (76. 5) $ (341. 8) $ 64. 8 Weighted- average
shares outstanding for basic137, 778, 812138, 930, 517136, 900, 875 (Loss) income per share- basic $ (0. 56) $ (2. 46) $ 0.
47 Weighted average shares outstanding for diluted137, 778, 812 138, 930, 517 138, 567, 534 (Loss) income per share-
diluted $ (0. 56) $ (2. 46) $ 0. 47 There was a total of 40, 726, 571, 42, 977, 012 and 26, 958, 511 during the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, potentially dilutive securities were not included in the diluted weighted
average shares as they were anti- dilutive. Potentially anti- dilutive securities include preferred stock and unvested
restricted stock grants. NOTE 17 — SEGMENT INFORMATION Segments The Company' s operations are defined by
two business segments: its Consolidated investment portfolio (the'" Consolidated Portfolio') and its Co- Investment
Portfolio: « Consolidated Portfolio consists of the investments that the Company has made in real estate and real estate-
related assets and consolidates on its balance sheet. The Company typically wholly- owns the assets in its Consolidated
Portfolio. * Co- Investment Portfolio consists of the co- investments that the Company has made in real estate and real
estate- related assets, including loans secured by real estate, through the commingled funds and joint ventures that it
manages. The Company typically owns a 5 % to 50 % ownership interest in the assets in its Co- Investment Portfolio. It
also includes the fees (including, without limitation, asset management fees, construction management fees, and / or
acquisition and disposition fees) that the Company earns on its fee bearing capital as well as the potential for carried
interests. In addition to the Company' s two primary business segments the Company' s has among other things,
corporate overhead and unsecured corporate debt and preferred stock that is not allocated to either of its segments. The
chief operating decision makers who have been identified for the purposes of the reportable segments listed above are the
Chief Executive Officer, President and Chief Financial Officer collectively the (" CODM"). They are regularly provided
operating results of the Company' s reportable segments. These operating results include key operating metrics which
inform the CODM' s decisions regarding allocation of resources and assessment of the Company' s overall operational
performance. The key operating metric that the CODM utilize to evaluate the segments is earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization, which is further adjusted to add back non- cash share based compensation (" Adjusted
EBITDA"). The Company has included a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income attributable to Kennedy-
Wilson Holdings, Inc. common shareholders in the tables below. No single third- party client accounted for 10 % or
more of the Company' s revenue during any period presented in these financial statements. Consolidated Portfolio is a
permanent capital vehicle focused on maximizing property cash flow. These assets are primarily wholly- owned and tend
to have longer hold periods and the Company targets investments with accretive asset management opportunities. The
Company typically focuses on multifamily and office assets in the Western United States and office assets in the United
Kingdom and Ireland within this segment. Co- Investment Portfolio consists of the co- investments in real estate and real
estate- related assets, including loans secured by real estate, that the Company has made through the commingled funds
and joint ventures that it manages. The Company utilizes different platforms in the Co- Investment Portfolio segment
depending on the asset and risk return profiles. In addition, the Company manages real estate assets and loans for the
Company' s equity partner. In the Company' s capacity as manager it earns fees (including, without limitation, asset
management fees, construction management fees, and / or acquisition and disposition fees) and carried interests. The
following tables summarize the income and expense activity by segment for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and
2022 and total assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. (1) Includes fees eliminated in consolidation between
Consolidated and Co- Investments segments and noncontrolling interests ("' NCI'") items such as net (income) loss to
noncontrolling interests and EBITDA adjustments associated with NCI Year Ended December 31, 2022 (Dollars in
millions) ConsolidatedCo- InvestmentsTotalSegment RevenueRental $ 434. 9 § — § 434. 9 Hotel46. 9 — 46. 9 Investment
management fees — 44. 8 44. 8 Loans — 11. 7 11. 7 Total segment revenue481. 8 56. S 538. 3 Income from
unconsolidated investmentsPrincipal co- investments — 199. 5 199. S Carried interests — (21. 1) (21. 1) Company' s
share of Interest, Depreciation, and Taxes included in income from unconsolidated investments (1) — 66. 4 66. 4 Income
from unconsolidated investments — 244. 8 244. 8 Gain on sale of real estate, net103. 7— 103. 7 Segment
ExpensesRental151. 2 — 151. 2 Hotel29. 5 — 29. 5 Compensation and related41. 5 44. 6 86. 1 Carried interests



compensation — (4. 3) (4. 3) General and administrativel4. 7 14. 8 29. 5 Other (income) loss (20. 8) — (20. 8) Other
segment items (1) 8. 6 (0. 4) 8. 2 Total segment expenses224. 7 54. 7 279. 4 Segment Adjusted EBITDA $ 360. 8 $ 246. 6 $
607. 4 Reconciliation of Segment Adjusted EBITDA to Net Income attributable to Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc.
Common ShareholdersOther revenuel. 7 Compensation and related, corporate (54. 2) General and administrative,
corporate (7. 7) Depreciation and amortization (172. 9) Interest expense (220. 8) Gain on early extinguishment of debt27.
5 Other incomel5. 3 Provision for income taxes (36. 2) Company' s share of Interest, Depreciation, and Taxes included in
income from unconsolidated investments (66. 4) EBITDA adjustments to NCIS8. 2 Net income101. 9 Net income
attributable to noncontrolling interests (8. 2) Preferred dividends (28. 9) Net income attributable to Kennedy- Wilson
Holdings, Inc. common shareholders $ 64. 8 The table below reconciles segment revenue to total revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022: Year Ended December 31, (Dollars in millions) 202420232022Segment
revenue $ 530. 0 $ 560. 4 $ 538. 3 Other revenuel. 4 2. 2 1. 7 Total consolidated revenue $ 531. 4 $ 562. 6 $ 540. 0
December 31, (Dollars in millions) 20242023 AssetsConsolidated $ 4, 591. 6 $ 5, 196. 3 Co- investment2, 273. 5 2, 316. 3
Corporate96. 0 199. S Total assets $ 6,961. 1 $ 7, 712. 1 December 31, (Dollars in millions) 202420232022Expenditures
for long lived assetsInvestments $ (148. 2) $ (217. 2) $ (569. 1) Geographic Information The revenue shown in the table
below is allocated based upon the region in which services are performed. Year Ended December 31, (Dollars in millions)
202420232022United States $ 368. 0 $ 334. 1 $ 317. S Europel63. 4 228. 5 222. S Total revenue $ 531. 4 $ 562. 6 $ 540. 0
NOTE 18 — GUARANTOR AND NON- GUARANTOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS The following consolidating
financial information and condensed consolidating financial information includes: (1) Condensed consolidating balance
sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively; consolidating statements of income for the years ended December
31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively; of (a) Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. on an unconsolidated basis as the parent
(and guarantor), (b) Kennedy- Wilson, Inc., as the subsidiary issuer, (c) the guarantor subsidiaries, (d) the non-
guarantor subsidiaries and (e) Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. on a consolidated basis; and (2) Elimination entries
necessary to consolidate Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc., as the parent guarantor, with Kennedy- Wilson, Inc. and its
guarantor and non- guarantor subsidiaries Kennedy Wilson owns 100 % of all of the guarantor subsidiaries, and, as a
result, in accordance with Rule 3- 10 (d) of Regulation S- X promulgated by the SEC, no separate financial statements
are required for these subsidiaries as of December 31, 2024 or 2023 and for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 or
2022. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETAS OF DECEMBER 31, 2024 (Dollars in millions)
ParentKennedy- Wilson, Inc. Guarantor Subsidiaries Non- guarantor SubsidiariesEliminationConsolidated
TotalAssetsCash and cash equivalents $ —$36.7 $103.4 $ 77.4 § — §$ 217. S Accounts receivable, net — — 22. 2 16. 5
— 38. 7 Real estate and acquired in place lease values, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, net — — 1,
394.7 2, 895.7—4, 290. 4 Unconsolidated investments — 14. 2 679. 6 1, 348. 6 — 2, 042. 4 Investments in and advances
to consolidated subsidiaries1, 628. 8 3, 726. 8 2, 339. 9 — (7, 695. 5) — Other assets, net — 44. 8 50. 9 45. 3 — 141. 0 Loan
purchases and originations, net — 0. 4 201. 7 29. 0 — 231. 1 Total assets $ 1, 628. 8 $ 3,822.9 $4,792.4$4,412.5$ (7,
695.5) $ 6, 961. 1 LiabilitiesAccounts payable — 1. 0 2. 5 7. 3 — 10. 8 Accrued expenses and other liabilities27. 6 315. 2

96. 6 90. 0 — 529. 4 Mortgage debt — — 966. 5 1, 630. 7— 2, 597. 2 KW unsecured debt — 1, 877.9 — — —1, 877. 9
KWE unsecured bonds — — — 309. 8 — 309. 8 Total liabilities27. 6 2, 194. 1 1, 065. 6 2, 037. 8 — 5, 325. 1
EquityKennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. shareholders' equityl, 601. 2 1, 628. 8 3, 726. 8 2, 339. 9 (7, 695. 5) 1, 601. 2
Noncontrolling interests — — — 34. 8 — 34. 8 Total equityl, 601. 2 1, 628. 8 3, 726. 8 2, 374. 7 (7, 695. 5) 1, 636. 0 Total

liabilities and equity $ 1, 628. 8 $3,822.9%4,792.4%$4,412.5% (7, 695.5) $ 6,961. 1 CONDENSED
CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETAS OF DECEMBER 31, 2023 (Dollars in millions) ParentKennedy- Wilson, Inc.
Guarantor Subsidiaries Non- guarantor SubsidiariesEliminationConsolidated TotalAssetsCash and cash equivalents $
—$73.3$99.4%141.0 %8 — $ 313. 7 Accounts receivable, net — 0. 9 22. 0 34. 4 — 57. 3 Real estate and acquired in
place lease values, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, net — — 1, 522. 3 3, 315. 0 — 4, 837.3
Unconsolidated investments — 14. 6 652. 0 1, 402. 5 — 2, 069. 1 Investments in and advances to consolidated
subsidiaries1, 800. 4 3, 938. 2 2, 511. 6 — (8, 250. 2) — Other assets, net — 59. 4 51. 6 76. 5 — 187. S Loan purchases and
originations, net — 0. 7 214. 8 31. 7 — 247. 2 Total assets $ 1, 800.4 $4,087.1$5,073.7$5,001.1 $ (8,250.2) $ 7, 712.
1 LiabilitiesAccounts payable $ —$0.5$6.0$11.4$ —$ 17. 9 Accrued expenses and other liabilities4S. 3 351. 9 91. 5
109.1 —597. 8 Mortgage debt — — 1, 038. 0 1, 802. 9 — 2, 840. 9 KW unsecured debt —1,934.3 — — —1,934. 3
KWE unsecured bonds — — — 522. 8§ — 522. 8 Total liabilities45. 3 2, 286. 7 1, 135. 5 2, 446. 2 — 5,913. 7
EquityKennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. shareholders' equityl, 755.1 1, 800. 4 3, 938. 2 2, 511. 6 (8, 250. 2) 1, 755. 1
Noncontrolling interests — — — 43. 3 — 43. 3 Total equity1, 755. 1 1, 800. 4 3, 938. 2 2, 554. 9 (8, 250. 2) 1, 798. 4 Total
liabilities and equity $ 1, 800.4 $4,087.1$5,073.7$5,001.18 (8,250.2)$7,712. 1 CONDENSED
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONSFOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 (Dollars in
millions) ParentKennedy- Wilson, Inc. Guarantor Subsidiaries Non- guarantor SubsidiariesEliminationConsolidated
TotalTotal revenue $ — $ 0.1 $270.6 $260. 7$ — $ 531. 4 Total income (loss) from unconsolidated investments — 0. 7
8.3 (2. 5) — 6. 5 Gain on sale of real estate, net — 0. 8 86. 0 73. 3 — 160. 1 Total expenses23. 6 84. 7 163. 8 190. 8 — 462.
9 (Loss) income from consolidated subsidiaries (10. 6) 152. 1 13. 1 — (154. 6) — Interest expense — (100. 6) (45. 6) (114.
9) — (261. 1) Loss on early extinguishment of debt — — (0. 4) (1. 3) — (1. 7) Other income (loss) 0.5 13.7 (13.1) 3.1 —
4. 2 (Loss) income before provision for income taxes (33. 7) (17. 9) 155. 1 27. 6 (154. 6) (23. 5) (Provision for) benefit from
income taxes — 7. 3 (3. 0) (14. 5) — (10. 2) Net (loss) income (33. 7) (10. 6) 152. 1 13. 1 (154. 6) (33. 7) Net loss attributable
to the noncontrolling interests — — — 0. 7— 0. 7 Preferred dividends (43. 5) — — — — (43. 5) Net (loss) income
attributable to Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. common shareholders $ (77.2) $ (10.6) $ 152.1 $ 13.8 $ (154. 6) $ (76. 5)
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONSFOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023



(Dollars in millions) ParentKennedy- Wilson, Inc. Guarantor SubsidiariesNon- guarantor
SubsidiariesEliminationConsolidated TotalTotal revenues $ —$ 0.2 $239.6 $ 322. 8 $ — $ 562. 6 Loss from
unconsolidated investments — — (110. 5) (142. 3) — (252. 8) Gain on sale of real estate, net — — 98. 8 28. 8 — 127. 6
Total expenses35. 1 82. 1 158. 5 232. 6 — 508. 3 Loss from consolidated subsidiaries (246. 7) (131. 5) (147.5) — 525.7 —
Interest expense — (97. 2) (45. 0) (117. 0) (259. 2) (Loss) gain on early extinguishment of debt — — (2. 0) 0. 4 — (1. 6)
Other income (loss) 0. 4 (0. 9) (6. 4) 1. 9 (5. 0) Loss before provision for income taxes (281. 4) (311. 5) (131. 5) (138. 0) 525.
7 (336. 7) Benefit from (provision for) income taxes — 64. 8 — (9. 5) — 55. 3 Net loss (281. 4) (246. 7) (131. 5) (147. 5) 525.
7 (281. 4) Net income attributable to the noncontrolling interests — — — (22. 4) — (22. 4) Preferred dividends (38. 0) —
— — —(38. 0) Net loss attributable to Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. common shareholders $ (319. 4) $ (246.7) $ (131.
5)$ (169.9) $525.7 $ (341. 8) CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONSFOR THE YEAR
ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 (Dollars in millions) ParentKennedy- Wilson, Inc. Guarantor Subsidiaries (1) Non-
guarantor SubsidiariesEliminationConsolidated TotalTotal revenue $ — $ 0.2 $225.1 $314. 7 $ — $ 540. 0 Income
from unconsolidated investments — 1. 1 12. 0 165. 3 178. 4 Gain on sale of real estate, net — — 68. 1 35. 6 — 103. 7 Total
expenses29. 0 92. 7 172. § 232. 6 — 526. 8 Income from consolidated subsidiaries130. 8 314. 4 230. 7 — (675. 9) —
Interest expense — (92. 6) (41. 8) (86. 4) — (220. 8) Loss (gain) on early extinguishment of debt — — (1. 6) 29. 1 — 27. 5
Other income (loss) 0. 1 15. 6 (1. 3) 21. 7— 36. 1 Income before provision for income taxes101. 9 146. 0 318. 7 247. 4 (675.
9) 138. 1 Provision for income taxes — (15. 2) (4. 3) (16. 7) — (36. 2) Net income 101. 9 130. 8 314. 4 230. 7 (675. 9) 101. 9
Net income attributable to the noncontrolling interests — — — (8. 2) — (8. 2) Preferred dividends (28. 9) — — — — (28.
9) Net income attributable to Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. common shareholders $ 73. 0 $ 130. 8 $ 314.4 $222.5 §
(675.9) $ 64. 8 NOTE 19— SUBSEQUENT EVENTS Subsequent to December 31, 2024, the Company has drawn an
additional $ 95. 0 million on its revolving line of credit. The Company has $ 356. 0 million still available to draw on its
revolving line of credit. Schedule III — Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation (Dollars in millions) Initial CostCosts
Capitalized Subsequent to AcquisitionGross Balance at December 31, 2024 (1)
DescriptionRegionEncumbrancesLandBuilding & ImprovementsimprovementsLandBuilding & Improvements Total (2)
Accumulated DepreciationDepreciable Life in YearsDate of ConstructionDate Acquired (3) CommercialOfficeSouthern
California $35.0$11.25$18.5$34.8511.5$54.3$65.8 8% (13. 1) 39 years1955 /1981 / 19822013Commercial
portfolioUnited Kingdom — 16.6 3.9 5. 8 1. 3 16. 1 17. 4 (4. 3) 39 yearsVarious2014Commercial portfolioUnited
Kingdom — 34. 3 208. 2 10. 3 19. 5 158. 0 177. 5 (49. 2) 39 yearsVarious2014Officelreland51. 6 8. 2 102. 6 — 6. 2 78. 0 84.
2 (20. 5) 39 years20032014Retaillreland46. 7 52. 8 49. 7 21. 0 39. 8 57. 0 96. 8 (12. 6) 39 years1966 /
20052014O0fficelreland51. 0 20. 4 73. 8 5. 6 15. 5 61. 6 77. 1 (17. 8) 39 years19802014OfficeUnited Kingdom175. 6 85. 3
232.027.676.7 211. 3 288. 0 (73. 0) 39 years20032014RetailUnited Kingdom — 6. 2 109. 5 8. 2 4. 7 90. 9 95. 6 (24. 4) 39
years20102014OfficeSouthern California33. 1 31. 8 60. 6 27. 7 31. 8 88. 3 120. 1 (26. 3) 39 years198220150fficeSouthern
California28. 3 11. 6 36. 5 5. 8 11. 6 42. 2 53. 8 (12. 5) 39 years196820150fficeSouthern California35s. 0 20. 7 47. 9 26. 4 20.
754.274.9 (15. 4) 39 years19822015Commercial portfolioUnited Kingdom — 49. 4 101. 4 3.2 20.5 37.558. 0 (9. 4) 39
yearsVarious20150ffice portfolioUnited Kingdom — 19. 0 41. 2 18. 9 20. 7 43. 6 64. 3 (8. 0) 39 yearsVarious20150ffice
portfolioltaly — 24.8 70.1 1.1 28. 1 72. 7 100. 8 (18. 0) 39 yearsVarious20150ffice portfolio United Kingdom 60. 7 32. 1
70.411.027.7 71. 8 99. 5 (16. 1) 39 yearsVarious2016Officelreland 36. 2 4.2 64. 0 2. 7 3. 8 60. 2 64. 0 (13. 2) 39
years200920160fficePacific Northwest18. 0 21. 4 74. 2 2.4 21. 4 76. 6 98. 0 (14. 7) 39 years1999 /
200120170Officelreland15.3 4.9 18.5 7.8 4. 2 24. 0 28. 2 (3. 9) 39 years18412017Officelreland51.4 11.0 — —9. 7 51. 4
61.1 (3. 6) 39 years1840/200020170fficeNorthern California60. 0 23. 557.3 11. 6 23. 5 68. 8 92. 3 (9. 9) 39
years200020190fficeUnited Kingdom108. 6 71. 2 177. 9 — 64. 1 160. 4 224. 5 (14. 0) 39 years201920210fficeUnited
Kingdom39. 7 25. 3 54. 8 4. 6 23. 4 55. 3 78. 7 (3. 0) 39 years2001 / 20072021OfficeUnited Kingdom49. 8 25. 5 74. 1 6. 6 23.
875.499. 2 (5. 3) 39 years200420220Officelreland50. 9 0. 5 3. 4 48. 8 0. 5 57. 8 58. 3 (3. 5) 39 yearsVarious2015
Multifamily366- unit assetMountain West77. 8 9.1 36.3 16.19.1 52. 4 61. 5 (24. 3) 39 years200020121, 008- unit
assetNorthern Californial7s. 0 62. 3 152. 5 34. 3 62. 3 186. 7 249. 0 (63. 7) 39 years19882015204- unit assetMountain
West32.52.017.65.11.922.724.6 (7.5) 39 years19992016168- unit assetMountain West10.9 1.8 13.15.01.8 18. 0
19. 8 (6. 2) 39 years19922016 386- unit assetSouthern California66. 0 — 81. 4 10. 7 — 92. 1 92. 1 (24. 8) 39
years20022016310- unit assetSouthern California76.7 0. 6 — 0.1 — 118. 8 118. 8 (1. 4) 39 years20242018300- unit
assetMountain West39. 0 4. 8 29.2 7.3 4. 8 36. 6 41. 4 (9. 6) 39 years19952017210- unit assetPacific Northwest44. 5 11. 0
46.72.411.049.160.1 (9.9) 39 years20072017172- unit assetMountain West58. 0 0. 2 — 0. 2 3. 4 72. 8 76. 2 (0. 9) 39
years20242018343- unit assetPacific Northwest84. 0 26. 8 107. 4 2. 1 26. 8 109. 5 136. 3 (20. 5) 39 years20162017179- unit
assetPacific Northwest25.511.947.4 2.6 11.9 50. 0 61. 9 (9. 8) 39 years2013201788- unit assetMountain West8. 6 2. 6
10.42.22.612.7 15. 3 (3. 3) 39 years19882018492- unit assetMountain West59. 1 15.8 63.2 9. 8 15. 8 73. 0 88. 8 (17. 2)
39 years1985201866- unit assetMountain West8.0 0.8 — 0.2 0.7 9.3 10. 0 (1. 1) 39 years2021201889- unit
assetMountain West17.7 2.1 —0.1 2.0 21. 523. 5 (1. 3) 39 years20242018188- unit assetMountain West13.3 4.9 19. 7
9.84.929.434.3(8.1) 39 years19852018120- unit assetMountain West32.3 5.7 — 0.9 1.9 38. 5 40. 4 (4. 4) 39
years20212018277- unit assetMountain West62.2 4. 0 — 6. 8 2. 7 55. 3 58. 0 (10. 2) 39 years2021201910- unit
assetMountain West — — — — — 2.32.3(0.2) 39 years20212019260- unit assetMountain West51. 4 13. 4 53. 6 3.9 13.
457.671.0 (6.9) 39 years20142020280- unit assetMountain West39. 6 13.3 53.2 0.4 13.353.6 66.9 (5. 1) 39
years2019202130- unit assetMountain West — — — — — 13. 6 13. 6 (0. 2) 39 years20242021344- unit assetMountain
West39.2 13.052.16.213.058. 3 71. 3 (6. 5) 39 years19852021240- unit assetMountain West43. 0 4. 6 — — 14. 4 48. 4
62. 8 (1. 5) 39 years20242021240- unit assetMountain West45.1 11.144.31.511.146.357.4 (4.4) 39
years20202021160- unit assetMountain West13. 8 4.5 18. 0 0. 4 4. 5 18. 7 23. 2 (1. 8) 39 years1990 / 19982021332- unit



assetMountain West76. 2 26. 7 106. 9 4. 2 26. 7 111. 0 137. 7 (10. 2) 39 years20022021383- unit assetPacific Northwest119.
538.3153.010.138.3163.1201. 4 (15. 1) 39 years2002 / 20082021164- unit assetPacific Northwest43. 0 14. 8 59.1 0. 7
14. 8 59. 8 74. 6 (5. 0) 39 years20202021528- unit assetMountain West101. 1 31. 1 124.4 8. 531. 1 132. 9 164. 0 (11. 8) 39
years1989 / 19902021350- unit assetMountain West64. 9 33. 2 132. 6 6. 5 33. 2 139. 2 172. 4 (10. 7) 39 years19852022404-
unit assetMountain West61. 6 29. 6 118. 3 3.2 29. 6 121. 5 151. 1 (8. 9) 39 years19962022356- unit assetMountain West40.
920.883.15.520.888.7109. 5 (6.9) 39 years1995 / 20082022260- unit assetMountain West34. 4 15.7 62. 6 2.2 15. 6
64. 8 80. 4 (4. 3) 39 years20132022 DevelopmentOfficelreland —1.20.90.91.10.92.0 —N /AN /

A2020MultifamilySouthern California — 6.0 —5.16.85.111.9 — N /AN / A2015Multifamilylreland ——9.6 — —
14. 0 14. 0 (0. 7) 39 years19802022MultifamilySouthern California — 0.4 — —0.4 — 0.4 — N/ AN/ A20243
LotsHawaii — 16. 5 — —16.5 — 16. 5 — N / AN / A2020LandHawaii — 0.7 — — 0.7 — 0. 7— N / A19122010Grand

Total $2,611.7%$1,073.28$3,447.1$466.9$979.6$4,015.6$ 4,995.2 $ (716. 1) (1) The tax basis of all the
properties in aggregate totaled $ 4, 047. 3 million. (2) Excludes acquired in place lease values. (3) For assets that were
consolidated the date acquired represents when the asset was presented as real estate not when initially acquired by
Kennedy Wilson. Changes in real estate for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 were as follows: For the
year ended December 31, (Dollars in millions) 202420232022Balance at the beginning of period $ 5,518.7 $5,775.3 $ 5,
567. 3 Additions during the period: Other acquisitions16. 6 — 167. 6 Improvements119. 7 218. 6 604. 2 Foreign currency
(73. 8) 90. 9 (226. 0) Deductions during the period: Cost of real estate sold (586. 0) (566. 1) (337. 8) Balance at close of
period $ 4,995.2 $ 5,518.7 $ 5, 775. 3 Changes in accumulated depreciation for the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023 and 2022 were as follows: For the year ended December 31, (Dollars in millions) 202420232022Balance at the
beginning of period $ 702. 1 $ 619. 6 $ 564. 0 Additions during the period: Depreciation expensel32. 5136. 5 133. 8
Deductions during the period: Dispositions (106. 0) (66. 5) (50. 8) Foreign currency (12. 5) 12. 5 (27. 4) Balance at close of
period $ 716.1$ 702.1 $ 619. 6 See accompanying report of independent registered public accounting firm. Type of
Loan (dollars in millions) Description / LocationInterest Rates (1) Maturity Date (2) Payment Terms (3) Principal
AmountCarrying Amount (4) Construction LoansConstruction Loans less than 3 % of the carrying amount of total
loansConstruction LoansMultifamily / DiversifiedS 2. 75 %- 4. 00 % 2025-2030L/ 0O $ 87. 9 §$ 83. 5 Construction
LoansStudent Housing / DiversifiedS 3. 25 %- 3. 95 % 2025- 20291/ O10. 210. 0Construction LoansHotel / DiversifiedsS 3.
71 %- 4. 41 % 2026- 20271/ O9. 89. 6Construction LoansOther / DiversifiedS 3. 25 %- 5. 50 % 2025- 20271/ O7. 37.
3Construction LoansIndustrial / DiversifiedS 3. 50 % 20261 / O3. 13. 0Total Construction Loans $ 118. 3 $ 113. 4 Bridge
LoansBridge Loans greater than 3 % of the carrying amount of total loansBridge LoanRetail / Southern CaliforniaS 6.
46 % 20251/ 0 $7.18$ 7. 1 Bridge LoanOffice / Northern California6. 00 % 20251/ O8. 88. 8Bridge LoanRetail /
Southern California3. 50 % 20251 / O14. 414. 4Bridge LoanMultifamily / Mountain West4. 75 % 20281/ O7. 77. 7Bridge
LoanOffice / Southern CaliforniaS 5. 60 % 20271 / O8. 18. 1Bridge LoanOffice / Northern California3. 50 % 20281 / O11.
811. 8Bridge LoanOffice / Northern CaliforniaS 5. 75 % 20271/ O7. 37. 3Bridge Loans less than 3 % of the carrying
amount of total loansBridge LoansOffice / Diversified3. 50 %- 7. 40 % 2026- 20331/ O13. 013. 0Bridge LoansMultifamily
/ Diversified6. 00 %- 10. 00 % 2026- 20291/ O7. 37. 3Bridge LoansHotel / DiversifiedS 6. 30 %- 8. 36 % 2026- 20281 /
023. 323. 3Bridge LoansMultifamily Industrial / DiversifiedS S. 85 % 2027- 20281 / O4. 64. 6Bridge LoansRetail, Office
and Other / DiversifiedS 3. 25 %- 7. 01 % 2025- 20271/ O13. 113. 1Total Bridge Loans $ 126. 5 $ 126. 5 Other
LoansOther Loans greater than 3 % of the carrying amount of total loansOther LoanRetail / Mountain West6. 00 %
20271/0$ 8.0 $ 8. 0 Other Loans less than 3 % of the carrying amount of total loansOther LoansDiversified / Southern
CaliforniaS 2. 50 % 2027P, 10. 4 0. 4 Total Other Loans $ 8. 4 $ 8. 4 Total Loans $ 253. 2 $ 248. 3 CECL Reserve — (17.
2) Total Loans, net $ 253. 2 § 231. 1 (1) The Company' s variable rate loans are based off Term SOFR and expressed as
spread over the Term SOFR rate. (2) Maturity date assumes all extension options are exercised, if applicable 3) I/ O =
interest only until final maturity unless otherwise noted. P, I = amortizing loan with principal and interest payments (4)
Represents the Company' s share of loans in its debt business. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
the loan portfolio activity was as follows: ($ in millions) Amortized CostAllowance for Credit LossesCarrying
ValueBalance at December 31, 2022 $ 149. 4 $ — $ 149. 4 Originations and fundings43. 8 — 43. 8 Construction loan
portfolio acquisition115. 6 — 115. 6 Construction loan portfolio acquisition discount (9. 2) — (9. 2) Proceeds from sales
and repayments (48. 9) — (48. 9) Accretion of loan discount and other amortization, net3. S — 3. 5 Provision for credit
losses — (7. 0) (7. 0) Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 254. 2 $ (7. 0) $ 247. 2 Originations and fundings47. 8§ — 47. 8
Proceeds from sales and repayments (49. 8) — (49. 8) Accretion of loan discount and other amortization, net4. 1 — 4. 1
Foreclosure (3. 9) — (3. 9) Deferred loan fees (3. 2) — (3. 2) Other (0. 9) — (0. 9) Provision for credit losses — (10. 2) (10.
2) Balance at December 31, 2024 $ 248. 3 $ (17. 2) $ 231. 1 Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on
Accounting and Financial Disclosure Item 9A. Controls and procedures Disclosure controls and procedures and changes
in internal control over financial reporting during the latest quarter Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’ s rules and forms. Disclosure controls
include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed under
the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including principal executive and financial
officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. There are inherent limitations to the
effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the possibility of human error and the
circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and
procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives. Our management carried out an
evaluation, under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the



design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2024. Based upon that evaluation,
our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2024. Management’ s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, is responsible
for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and
15d- 15 (e) of the Exchange Act. Our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting based on criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded
that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024. KPMG LLP, the independent
registered public accounting firm that audited the Company' s 2024 consolidated financial statements included in this
annual report on Form 10- K, has issued a report on the Company' s internal control over financial reporting, which is
included in this report. Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting There were no changes during our last
fiscal quarter that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting. Item 9B. Other Information During the three months ended December 31, 2024, no director or officer of the
Company adopted or terminated a “ Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement ” or “ non- Rule 10bS- 1 trading arrangement, ”
as each term is defined in Item 408 (a) of Regulation S- K. Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that
Prevent Inspections PART III Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance The information called
for by this item is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement for our 2025 annual meeting, to be filed
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year. Item 11. Executive Compensation Item 12. Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters Item 13. Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
Our independent registered public accounting firm is KPMG LLP, Los Angeles, CA, Auditor Firm ID: 185 PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules (a) The following documents are filed as part of this annual report:
(1) Financial Statements. See the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements, which appears on page 62
of the annual report. The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, the Consolidated Financial
Statements and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements,
which appear beginning on page 63 of this report, are incorporated by reference into this Item 15. (2) Financial
Statement Schedules. Schedule IIT and IV is listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements, which appear
beginning on page 112 of this report, are incorporated by reference into this Item 15. All other Financial Statement
Schedules have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is either not applicable or is
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or the notes thereto. (3) Exhibits. See Item 15 (b) below. (b) Exhibits.
The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index set forth below on page 121 are filed as part of, or are incorporated by reference
into, this annual report on Form 10- K. Item 16. Form 10- K Summary EXHIBIT INDEX ExhibitNo.
DescriptionLocation3. 1Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. Filed as Exhibit 3. 1 to Registrant’ s
Current Report on Form 8- K (File No.: 001- 33824) filed June 19, 2014. 3. 2Third Amended and Restated Bylaws. Filed
as Exhibit 3. 1 to Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K (001- 33824) filed February 21, 2023. 3. 3Certificate of
Designations Establishing the 5. 75 % Series A Cumulative Perpetual Convertible Preferred Stock. Filed as Exhibit 3. 3
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BowenDirectorFebruary 28, 2025 /S / WADE BURTONWade BurtonDirectorFebruary 28, 2025 /S / MICHAEL



EISNER Micheal Eisner Director February 28, 2025 /S / CATHY HENDRICKSON Cathy Hendrickson Director
February 28, 2025 /S / JEFF MEYERSJeff MeyersDirectorFebruary 28,2025 /S / DAVID A. MINELLA David A.
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1 KENNEDY- WILSON HOLDINGS, INC. INSIDER TRADING POLICY EXECUTIVE SUMMARY The following
executive summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the
Insider Trading Policy (the “ Policy ”) and applicable state and federal laws. The Policy, which you are required to read,
generally restricts the use and dissemination by “ insiders ” of “ inside information ” of Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc.,
or its affiliates or subsidiaries (collectively, the “ Company ”) or other entities the Company has a relationship with. If
you have questions regarding the Policy, please contact Justin Enbody or In Ku Lee (collectively, the “ Senior Advisors
”). Q: What is “ Inside Information ”? A: Inside Information is information that is both material and nonpublic.
Information is material if a typical investor would likely consider it to be significant in arriving at a decision to buy, sell
or hold the stock of a company or would view its disclosure as significantly altering the “ total mix ” of available
information to such investor. For example, information that is likely to move the stock price should be considered
material. Information should be considered nonpublic when it has not been made available and disseminated to
members of the investing public generally. Q: Who are “ Insiders ”? A: Insiders include: (a) all individuals who are
employed by or provide services to the Company or recently ceased having a relationship with the Company and who
receive or are exposed to Inside Information; (b) family members and those who share a household with persons subject
to the Policy; and (c) IRAs, trusts and other entities controlled by persons subject to the Policy. Q: What types of actions
are restricted by the Policy? A: Examples of restrictions include the following: * Officers, directors and beneficial owners
of more than 10 % of the Company’ s equity class who purchase and sell, or sell and purchase, Company securities
within a 6 month period generally must disgorge all profits from such transactions. * An Insider may trade in the
securities of the Company or any other company about which the Insider has gained Inside Information only after two
full business days have elapsed following the disclosure of all such Inside Information to the public through a general
release to news outlets.  Insiders are generally prohibited from discussing Inside Information about the Company or a
business partner of the Company: (a) with any persons outside the Company except where authorized by a Senior
Adyvisor; or (b) to a third party that trades on the basis of such Inside Information. * Insiders are prohibited from
engaging in speculative transactions involving the securities of the Company (such as trying to profit in short- term
movements, either increases or decreases, of the stock price). * Insiders are prohibited from trading during “ blackout ”
periods imposed by the Company, which will be communicated to Insiders by the Senior Advisors. * Directors, officers
and executive officers and other members of senior management (collectively, “ Classified Insiders ”) may not trade in
the Company’ s securities: (a) without obtaining the prior written authorization of a Senior Advisor; or (b) during the
period commencing on the 10th day before the end of each fiscal quarter and concluding on the 2nd business day after
the date of a public announcement of the Company’ s earnings following such fiscal quarter. IF YOU KNOW OR HAVE
REASON TO BELIEVE THAT THE POLICY HAS BEEN OR IS ABOUT TO BE VIOLATED, YOU MUST REPORT
THIS INFORMATION IMMEDIATELY TO A SENIOR ADVISOR. This policy supersedes all previous insider trading
policies of Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries. I. Introduction and Purpose of Policy It is the policy of
Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. (the “ Company ) and its subsidiaries to maintain proper procedures to ensure
compliance with applicable securities laws and other ethical standards. In the ordinary course of business you may learn,
be exposed to or have access to confidential and highly sensitive information regarding the Company, including its
subsidiaries and affiliates, and other companies or businesses with which the Company, including its subsidiaries and
affiliates, may have or may develop a relationship. Such information may not be adequately disclosed to the general
public at the time you become aware of it, but nonetheless may be considered “ material ” to an investor’ s decision
about whether to purchase or sell the Company’ s stock, or the stock of any of the Company’ s publicly traded
subsidiaries, (collectively, “ Inside Information ”). It may be difficult to determine whether particular information is
material or not but the discussion under “ Forms of Inside Information > contained in Section III below should provide
guidance, and if you have any question you should consult with a Senior Advisor (as discussed below). Although you may
be entrusted with this information due to your relationship with the Company, the Inside Information is considered and
will be regarded as the property of the Company, or its subsidiaries, as applicable. Consequently, pursuant to this Policy
as well as various federal and state laws, you may not use Inside Information by purchasing or selling securities yourself
or through an agent nor may you pass the information on to others to enable them to profit through trading. This Policy
was developed to provide you with an overview of certain aspects of insider trading. It also was developed generally to
advise you of your legal responsibilities in handling Inside Information and the severe repercussions that may be
imposed for any misuse of such information. All individuals subject to this Policy are expected to read, abide by and
retain this Policy. Justin Enbody, the Company’ s Chief Financial Officer, In Ku Lee, the Company’ s Executive Vice
President and General Counsel, and such other persons as may be appointed by the Company’ s Audit Committee, from
time to time (collectively, the “ Senior Advisors ), shall be designated to perform the specific duties described in this
Policy and to answer any questions about this Policy. II. Individuals and Entities Subject to Policy This Policy applies to
all individuals, including but not limited to the Company’ s officers and directors, executive officers and other
management personnel, full- time and part- time employees, temporary employees, consultants, independent contractors,
outside advisors and other temporary insiders (including, without limitation, investment bankers, analysts, accountants
and attorneys), who provide services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries and who receive or are exposed to Inside
Information. This Policy also applies to family members and those who share a household with someone otherwise



subject to this Policy, as well as independent retirement accounts (or “ IRAs ”), trusts and other entities controlled by
those subject to this Policy. In addition, individuals who have recently departed from the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or otherwise terminated a relationship with the Company or any of its subsidiaries will be expected to
comply with the terms of this Policy for the period of time during which such individuals are in possession of Inside
Information until its public release and absorption by the securities market. All of the above- described individuals who
are subject to this Policy are referred to herein as “ Insiders. ” IIl. Insider Trading Laws Securities Covered The types
of securities that may be involved in insider trading include, without limitation, common and preferred stock, bonds and
other debt securities if and when issued by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, as well as puts, calls, straddles,
options and derivative instruments with respect to such securities. The insider trading laws and this Policy cover not
only the Company’ s securities but also the securities (and derivatives thereof) of the Company’ s subsidiaries and
affiliates as well as any other company if you learn something (other than general industry knowledge) during the course
of your relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries that is material nonpublic information with respect to such
other company. By way of example, learning that the Company’ s subsidiary for whom you work may be entering into a
contract with a particular company and then trading in the stock of either the Company, the subsidiary for whom you
work, or such other company on the basis of such knowledge could be a violation of federal and state laws (as well as this
Policy), if information concerning such proposed contract is not known to the general public. Even trading in the stock
of a customer or supplier on the basis of nonpublic information overheard or learned may be a violation. As noted above,
Inside Information is information that is both material and nonpublic. In general, information is considered material if
typical investors would likely consider it to be significant in arriving at a decision to buy, sell or hold the stock of a
company or would view its disclosure as significantly altering the “ total mix ” of information available to such investors.
Information also is material if it would likely cause a change in the price of a company’ s securities if such information
became public. Information pertaining to possible future events, such as the potential development of a particular
business combination, may be considered material. For any material information to be considered Inside Information,
the information also must be nonpublic. Information should be considered nonpublic when it has not been made
available to members of the investing public. It is important to note that even after information is disclosed to the general
public or the market, such information still may be considered nonpublic until it has been widely disseminated (such as
through a press release or filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission) and the market has had sufficient time
to absorb and respond to such information. For this reason, immediate trading is prohibited, as explained in Section IV.
below. Examples of information that may be considered Inside Information include: ¢ Financial information such as
revenues, expenses, earnings, and earnings guidance; * Information about a transaction that may affect the financial
condition or performance of a company, including pending or proposed mergers, acquisitions, tender offers, joint
ventures or other business combinations, bankruptcies or receiverships; * Asset acquisitions or dispositions; ©
Information pertaining to new products or customer or supplier arrangements, such as entering into a significant
contract or the gain or loss of a substantial customer; « Management changes and changes in control; « Changes in
previously announced earnings or changes in auditors or the ability to rely on a previously issued auditor’ s report; ¢
Financial liquidity problems; ¢ Actual or threatened major litigation or resolution of such litigation; « Marketing
campaign information and data (e. g., early delegate registration and enrollment data); and « Major events regarding a
company’ s securities, including the declaration of a stock split, change in dividend policy, repurchase plans, changes in
stockholders’ rights or the public or private sale of additional securities. Other types of information may be considered
Inside Information at any particular time, depending on the circumstances. Types of Insider Trading Transactions
Insider trading can include stock purchases, which may result in a profit based on positive information about a
company, and stock sales, which may help avoid losses based on negative information about a company. Note that the
mere fact you are aware of Inside Information when you trade in a company’ s stock may subject you to liability,
regardless of whether you decided to trade because of such Inside Information or whether you profited by such trade
transaction. Federal and State Regulations Rule 10b- 5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “
Exchange Act ”), has been determined by the courts to prohibit an insider from trading in the securities of a company on
the basis of Inside Information about such company in breach of a duty of trust or confidence owed to such company, the
stockholders of such company or any other person who is the source of Inside Information. In addition, Rule 14e- 3 of the
Exchange Act prohibits the trading of the securities of a company which is the target of a tender offer by any person or
entity, other than the offeror in such tender offer, who is in possession of material nonpublic information relating to the
tender offer, whether such information is acquired directly or indirectly from the offeror or the company. The federal
securities laws’ insider trading restrictions apply not only to insiders who trade on the basis of Inside Information, but
also to those who receive tips regarding Inside Information. In unlawful tipping cases, liability extends to (i) an Insider
who discloses or tips Inside Information to third parties (a “ tipper ) whether or not the insider personally trades and
(ii) a third party, including a relative, business associate or friend (a “ tippee ), who has received Inside Information
from insiders or from other tippees and trades on the basis of such Inside Information. Liability for an insider’ s direct
violation or tipping violation under the federal securities laws or for failure to reasonably supervise and impose
preventative measures against such violations also may be imposed on individuals and entities that “ control ” the
insider, for example, certain of the Company’ s managing officers and supervisors. Further prohibitions against insider
trading or breaching corporate confidences may exist under the statutes and common law of various states or other
jurisdictions. Finally, officers, directors and beneficial owners of more than 10 percent of a company’ s equity class also
must conduct their transactions in securities in a manner designed to comply with the “ short- swing ” trading rules of
Section 16 of the Exchange Act. The practical effect of these provisions is that officers, directors and beneficial owners of



more than 10 percent of Company securities who purchase and sell, or sell and purchase, Company securities, including,
potentially, the securities of a publicly traded subsidiary, within a six- month period must disgorge all profits whether or
not they had any nonpublic information at the time of the transactions. Laws and prohibitions against insider trading
apply at all times, regardless of whether the Company or any subsidiary of the Company is officially observing a
scheduled or special ¢ blackout ” period. IV. Specific Policies and Restrictions The following policies and restrictions
apply to all Insiders. If you violate any of these rules, you may be subject to disciplinary action (including termination of
your employment for cause). Although the following policies and restrictions are intended to assist you in complying with
the securities laws, it is your individual responsibility to comply with the laws against insider trading and exercise
appropriate judgment in connection with any trade of stock. It is important to recognize that while acquisitions of stock
that are not made in the public market, including 401 (k) purchases (if and when the Company or any subsidiary has a
401 (k) program in effect that deals with Company or subsidiary stock) and stock option exercises, are not covered by
this Policy, the sale of any shares of stock of the Company or any subsidiary acquired in any such transaction is subject
to the terms of this Policy. Trading Prior to Public Disclosure of Inside Information No purchases or sales of the
Company’ s stock or the securities of any subsidiary, affiliate or other company should be made if the Insider is in
possession of material nonpublic information or if such transaction would violate a federal or state law or regulatory
agency rule or order. AN INSIDER MAY TRADE IN THE COMPANY’ S SECURITIES OR THE SECURITIES OF A
SUBSIDIARY, AFFILIATE OR OTHER COMPANY ABOUT WHICH THE INSIDER HAS GAINED INSIDE
INFORMATION ONLY AFTER TWO FULL BUSINESS DAYS HAVE ELAPSED FOLLOWING DISCLOSURE OF
ALL SUCH INSIDE INFORMATION TO THE PUBLIC THROUGH A GENERAL RELEASE TO NEWS OUTLETS.
This rule is intended to provide the securities markets with sufficient opportunity to absorb and evaluate such Inside
Information. For purposes of clarity, in the event that the Company or any of its subsidiaries, affiliates or business
partners discloses Inside Information through a general release to news outlets and such release is issued prior to the
opening of trading on the morning of a particular business day, the day the release is issued shall be deemed the first
business day for purposes of this policy. Discussion of Company Information Other than ordinary course discussions
with the Senior Advisors or others directed by the Senior Advisors in accordance with fulfilling their duties, Insiders
shall not discuss information about the Company, any subsidiary, affiliate or business partner with the press, analysts or
other persons outside of the Company. INSIDERS ARE PROHIBITED FROM PARTICIPATING IN ANY MANNER
IN INTERNET OR OTHER ON- LINE BULLETIN BOARDS OR CHAT ROOMS OR SOCIAL NETWORKING
SITES ON MATTERS CONCERNING THE COMPANY, ITS SUBSIDIARIES OR AFFILIATES OR RELATED
TOPICS UNLESS A SENIOR ADVISOR AUTHORIZES SUCH PARTICIPATION. Announcements of information
regarding the Company, its subsidiaries, affiliates and business partners may only be made by persons specifically
authorized by the Company to make such announcements. Laws and regulations govern the nature and timing of such
announcements to outsiders or the public and unauthorized disclosure could result in substantial liability for you, the
Company, its management and other persons. Inquiries by any third party about such information should be directed to
a Senior Advisor immediately. Prohibition of Hedging Insiders are prohibited from purchasing or selling, or making any
offer to purchase or offer to sell, derivative securities relating to securities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
whether or not issued by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, such as exchange traded options to purchase or sell
securities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (so called “ puts ” and “ calls ”) or financial instruments that are
designed to hedge or offset any decrease in the market value of securities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
(including but not limited to prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds). INSIDERS
MAY NOT ENGAGE IN A SHORT SALE OR ANY EQUIVALENT TRANSACTION INVOLVING THE
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY, ITS SUBSIDIARIES OR AFFILIATES OR THE STOCK OF ANY OF THE
COMPANY’ S BUSINESS PARTNERS. A short sale involves selling shares that you do not own at a specified price with
the expectation that the price will go down so you can buy the shares at a lower price before you have to deliver them.
Exceptions for Blind Trusts and Pre- Arranged Trading Programs. Rule 10b5- 1 (c) of the Exchange Act provides an
affirmative defense against insider trading liability under federal securities laws for a transaction done pursuant to a
blind trust ” or pursuant to a written plan, or a binding contract or instruction, entered into in good faith during a
blackout ” period or at a time when an Insider is not aware of material nonpublic information (even though the
transaction in question may occur at a time such Insider is aware of material nonpublic information). The Company may
permit transactions pursuant to a blind trust or a pre- arranged trading program that complies with Rule 10b5- 1 to
take place during periods in which the individual entering into the transaction may have material nonpublic information
or during “ blackout ” periods. Insiders wishing to enter into a blind trust arrangement as a Rule 10b5- 1 (pre-
arranged) trading program must notify a Senior Advisor of such intention. The Senior Advisor will review the proposed
arrangements to ensure that they comply with this Policy. Purchases of Shares on Margin; Pledging the Company’ s
Securities Generally, securities that are held in a margin account may be sold by the broker without the customer’ s
consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call. Similarly, securities pledged (or hypothecated) as collateral for a loan
may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan. Insiders are prohibited by this Policy from holding
securities of the Company in a margin account or pledging (or hypothecating) such securities as collateral for a loan.
Pledges existing as of November 4, 2015 are grandfathered under this Policy on the terms specifically approved by the
Board of Directors. Any deviation from this Policy with respect to pledges of the Company’ s securities require the prior
approval of the Audit Committee of the Company’ s Board of Directors. Trading During Blackout Periods The
Company may, at any time, impose a “ blackout ” period, during which period trading by a specified group of Insiders
or all Insiders would be considered inappropriate. A Senior Advisor will communicate the imposition or extension of



such a blackout period to all affected parties. Insiders subject to a special “ blackout ” period may not disclose the fact
that trading has been suspended to anyone, including other employees (who may themselves not be subject to the
blackout), family members (other than those subject to this Policy), friends or brokers. The imposition of a special
blackout period shall be treated as material nonpublic information. Special Limitations on Classified Insiders Standing
Blackout Periods. Directors, officers and executive officers and other members of senior management (collectively, «
Classified Insiders ) may not trade in the Company’ s securities during standing “ blackout ” periods commencing on
the tenth (10th) day before the end of each fiscal quarter and concluding at the end of the second business day after the
date of a public announcement of the Company’ s earnings following such fiscal quarter. Trading may occur outside any
such “ blackout ” period unless prohibited under this Policy or the securities laws due to possession of Inside
Information or other restriction. Pre- Clearance of All Trades. Prior to making any trade in the stock of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or affiliates (even during an open trading period), Classified Insiders must first obtain the written
authorization of a Senior Advisor. In addition, such advance approval must be obtained before buying or selling
securities in any company that the Classified Insiders know has established or is in the process of establishing a
significant business relationship with the Company or any of the Company’ s subsidiaries or affiliates, whether as a
customer, supplier, affiliate or otherwise. In authorizing a trade, and in addition to reviewing the substance of the
proposed trade, the Senior Advisor may consider whether it will be possible for both the individual and the Company or
its subsidiary, as applicable, to comply with any applicable public reporting requirements. A Senior Advisor should be
contacted at least two business days before you intend to engage in any purchase or sale of such stock. V. Other
Prohibitions Inside Information is strictly confidential and its dissemination to outsiders is prohibited, other than when
authorized by a Senior Advisor. In the absence of such authorization, disclosure through written, oral or electronic
means to friends, family members, business contacts or other persons or entities would be considered prohibited
dissemination. This Policy prohibits any unauthorized communication of Inside Information to others even when there is
no intent or expectation that anyone will profit or otherwise benefit from the Inside Information. Even the appearance of
improper conduct must be avoided to preserve the Company’ s reputation for adhering to high ethical standards of
conduct. Accordingly, conduct that merely suggests the possibility of insider trading may be deemed by the Company in
its sole discretion to be a violation of this Policy. VI. Consequences of Insider Trading Individuals who trade on material
nonpublic information or tip information to others can be subject to an array of civil and criminal penalties and
regulatory sanctions. Violations are taken seriously by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the federal agency
responsible for enforcing the law in this area) as well as the Department of Justice, the U. S. Attorney’ s Office and state
Attorneys General. Potential repercussions include: * Criminal fines for individuals, regardless of whether a sizable
profit or any profit at all was made, and potential incarceration;  Disgorgement of profits gained or losses avoided and
interest thereon (in unlawful tipping situations, tippees may be subject to disgorgement and disgorgement of both the
tipper’ s and tippees’ profits may be obtained from the tipper); ¢ Civil penalties of up to three times the profit gained or
loss avoided (additional civil penalties are available against registered securities professionals if such professionals
willfully aid and abet securities law violations); * Injunctions against future violations or cease and desist proceedings; ®
Temporary or permanent bars from serving as a director or officer of a publicly traded company; * Bars or suspensions
from practicing before the Securities and Exchange Commission for certain professionals; and ¢ Civil liability in private
lawsuits. Penalties can be imposed even on an individual who is not a director or executive officer. In addition, separate
sanctions may be imposed if a person or entity is charged with related offenses, such as mail or wire fraud or violations
of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO) or the Money Laundering Control Act. A company
that knew or recklessly disregarded the fact that an employee was likely to engage in illegal trading and failed to take
appropriate steps to prevent such illegal trading, is subject to civil and criminal penalties. In addition to the potentially
severe criminal and civil penalties for the violation of insider trading laws, violation of this Policy may result in the
imposition of sanctions by the Company or any of its subsidiaries. Sanctions could include immediate dismissal or
termination for cause from the Company or any of its subsidiaries, as applicable. A conviction or finding of liability for
insider trading also sometimes results in individuals being banned from employment in the securities or financial
industries or other employment, and even an allegation of insider trading may result in harm to professional and
personal reputation. A transaction that may be necessary or seem justifiable for independent reasons (including a need
to raise money for a personal financial emergency) is neither an exception to this Policy nor a safeguard against
prosecution for violation of insider trading laws. Instead, you are directed to follow the procedures described under *
Assistance, Enforcement of the Policy and Reporting Violations ” in Section VII of this Policy. VII. Assistance,
Enforcement of the Policy and Reporting of Violations There are many “ gray areas ” in the insider trading laws and you
should not try to make your own judgments about what constitutes illegal conduct or conduct violative of this Policy. If
you have any questions concerning this Policy, your responsibilities or the responsibilities of others under this Policy or
specific transactions, please contact a Senior Advisor. In any event, err on the side of caution. IF YOU KNOW OR
HAVE REASON TO BELIEVE THAT THIS POLICY HAS BEEN OR IS ABOUT TO BE VIOLATED, YOU MUST
REPORT THIS INFORMATION IMMEDIATELY TO A SENIOR ADVISOR. Exceptions may be made to this Policy
in limited circumstances when the person requesting exception represents that he or she does not possess material
nonpublic information, an emergency, hardship or other special personal circumstance warrants the exception and the
exception is legally permissible and does not contravene the purposes of this Policy. Any exception requires the prior
written approval of a Senior Advisor (or with respect to exceptions for a Senior Advisor, an executive officer of the
Company). It should be understood that exceptions will rarely be made to this Policy and are entirely within the
discretion of the Senior Advisors. The Company, including its subsidiaries, and the Senior Advisors shall not be liable in



any fashion for failing to provide any requested exception. Modifications of this Policy may only be made upon the
approval of the Company’ s Board of Directors. CERTIFICATION I, (name), have received and read a copy of the
Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. Insider Trading Policy dated, 20. I hereby agree to comply with the specific
requirements of the Policy in all respects during my employment or other service relationship with Kennedy- Wilson
Holdings, Inc. or its subsidiaries or affiliates. I understand that my failure to comply in all respects with the Policy is a
basis for termination for cause of my employment or other service relationship with Kennedy- Wilson Holdings, Inc. or
its subsidiaries or affiliates. (Signature) (Print Name) (Date)



